

Republic of Cyprus

acting through the Ministry of Finance

Euro Medium Term Note Programme

Arranger

Société Générale Corporate & Investment Banking

Dealers

Deutsche Bank

Société Générale Corporate & Investment Banking

IMPORTANT NOTICES

Under the Euro Medium Term Note Programme (the "**Programme**"), the Republic of Cyprus acting through the Ministry of Finance (the "**Republic**", "**Cyprus**" or the "**Issuer**") may from time to time issue Notes (the "**Notes**"). Notes may be denominated in the Specified Currencies referred to herein, as specified in a supplement to this Offering Circular (a "**Pricing Supplement**") which will contain the terms of, and pricing details for, each issue of Notes. Notes may be subject to redemption in whole or in part, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Notes may be either interest bearing at fixed or variable rates or non-interest bearing and may be repayable at par, at a specified amount above or below par or at an amount determined by reference to a formula, in each case with terms as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement. Notes will be issued in one or more series (each a "Series"). Each Series shall be all in bearer form or all in registered form and may be issued in one or more tranches (each a "Tranche") on different issue dates and on terms otherwise identical (except in relation to interest commencement dates and matters related thereto).

The Notes will be issued on a continuing basis to or through one or more of Deutsche Bank Aktiengesellschaft and Société Générale and other dealers appointed in respect of the Programme or a particular Tranche (each a "**Dealer**" and together the "**Dealers**").

Application may be made (a) to the Financial Conduct Authority under Part VI of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 ("FSMA") (the "FCA") for Notes issued under the Programme to be admitted to the official list of the FCA and to the London Stock Exchange plc (the "London Stock Exchange") for such Notes to be admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange's UK Regulated Market. References in this Offering Circular to Notes being "listed" (and all related references) shall, unless the context requires otherwise, mean that such Notes have been admitted to the relevant Official List and have been admitted to trading on the relevant UK Regulated Market. The UK Regulated Market of the London Stock Exchange is a UK regulated market for the purposes of Regulation (EU) No. 600/2014 on markets in financial instruments as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (as amended by the European Union (Withdrawal Agreement) Act 2020 as amended, varied, superseded or substituted from time to time, the "EUWA") ("UK MiFIR").

For the purposes of such applications, the Republic is an exempt issuer pursuant to Article 1(2) of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the "**UK Prospectus Regulation**"). Accordingly, this Offering Circular has not been reviewed or approved by the FCA as competent authority under the UK Prospectus Regulation and this Offering Circular does not constitute a base prospectus pursuant to the UK Prospectus Regulation.

Notes may be listed on any other stock exchange or market and unlisted Notes may be issued pursuant to the Programme. The relevant Pricing Supplement in respect of the issue of any Notes will specify whether or not such Notes will be listed on the relevant Official List and admitted to trading on the UK Regulated Market (or any other stock exchange or market).

The Republic's long-term foreign currency debt has been rated BBB (low) (positive) by DBRS Ratings GmbH, BBB- (stable) by Fitch Ratings Ireland Limited, Ba1 (stable) by Moody's Deutschland GmbH and BBB- (positive) by S&P Global Ratings Europe Limited.

The Republic accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Offering Circular. The Republic having made all reasonable enquiries confirms that this Offering Circular contains all information with respect to the Republic, the Programme and Notes to be issued under the Programme which is material in the context of the issue and offering of Notes, there are no untrue statements of material fact contained in this Offering Circular in relation to the Republic, there is no omission to state a material fact which is necessary in order to make the statements made in this Offering Circular in relation to the Republic or the Programme or the Notes in the light of the circumstances under which they were made not misleading, the opinions and intentions expressed in this Offering Circular with regard to the Republic are honestly held, have been reached after considering all relevant circumstances and are based on reasonable assumptions and all reasonable enquiries have been made by the Republic to ascertain such facts and to verify the accuracy of all such information and statements.

To the fullest extent permitted by law, none of the Dealers or the Arranger accept any responsibility for the contents of this Offering Circular or for any other statement, made or purported to be made by the Arranger

or a Dealer or on its behalf in connection with the Republic or the issue and offering of the Notes. The Arranger and each Dealer accordingly disclaims all and any liability whether arising in tort or contract or otherwise (save as referred to above) which it might otherwise have in respect of this Offering Circular or any such statement. This Offering Circular is not intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation and should not be considered as a recommendation by any of the Republic, the Arranger or the Dealers that any recipient of this Offering Circular should purchase the Notes. Each potential purchaser of Notes should determine for itself the relevance of the information contained in this Offering Circular and its purchase of Notes should be based upon such investigation as it deems necessary. None of the Dealers or the Arranger undertakes to review the financial condition or affairs of the Republic during the life of the arrangements contemplated by this Offering Circular nor to advise any investor or potential investor in the Notes of any information coming to the attention of any of the Dealers or the Arranger.

None of the Arranger or the Dealers or any of their respective affiliates shall be responsible for any act or omission of the Issuer or any other person in connection with the Programme and/or the issue and offering of Notes thereunder.

This Offering Circular does not constitute an offer of, or an invitation by or on behalf of the Republic or the Dealers to subscribe for or purchase, any of the Notes. The distribution of this Offering Circular and the offering of Notes in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law and/or regulation. Persons into whose possession this Offering Circular comes are required by the Republic and the Dealers to inform themselves about and to observe any such restrictions. For a description of certain further restrictions on offers and sales of Notes and distribution of this Offering Circular, see "Subscription and Sale".

No person has been authorised to give any information or to make any representation other than those contained in this Offering Circular in connection with the issue or sale of Notes and, if given or made, such information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorised by or on behalf of the Republic or the Dealers.

Neither the delivery of this Offering Circular nor any sale made in connection herewith shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the Republic since the date hereof or the date upon which this Offering Circular has been most recently amended or supplemented or that there has been no adverse change in the financial position of the Republic since the date hereof or the date upon which this Offering Circular has been most recently amended or supplemented or that any other information supplied in connection with the Programme is correct as of any time subsequent to the date on which it is supplied or, if different, the date indicated in the document containing the same.

THE NOTES HAVE NOT BEEN APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED BY THE U.S. SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, ANY STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION IN THE UNITED STATES OR ANY OTHER U.S. REGULATORY AUTHORITY NOR HAS ANY OF THE FOREGOING AUTHORITIES PASSED UPON OR ENDORSED THE MERITS OF THE OFFERING OF NOTES OR THE ACCURACY OR THE ADEQUACY OF THIS OFFERING CIRCULAR. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENCE IN THE UNITED STATES.

THE NOTES HAVE NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE REGISTERED UNDER THE U.S. SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "SECURITIES ACT") OR WITH ANY SECURITIES REGULATORY AUTHORITY OF ANY STATE OR OTHER JURISDICTION OF THE UNITED STATES, AND THE NOTES MAY INCLUDE BEARER NOTES THAT ARE SUBJECT TO U.S. TAX LAW REQUIREMENTS. SUBJECT TO CERTAIN EXCEPTIONS, THE NOTES MAY NOT BE OFFERED OR SOLD OR. IN THE CASE OF BEARER NOTES, DELIVERED WITHIN THE UNITED STATES. THIS OFFERING CIRCULAR HAS BEEN PREPARED BY THE REPUBLIC FOR USE IN CONNECTION WITH THE OFFER AND SALE OF THE NOTES OUTSIDE THE UNITED STATES IN RELIANCE ON REGULATION S UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT AND, IN THE CASE OF REGISTERED NOTES, WITHIN THE UNITED STATES TO "QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYERS" IN RELIANCE ON RULE 144A UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT ("RULE 144A"). PROSPECTIVE PURCHASERS ARE HEREBY NOTIFIED THAT SELLERS OF THE NOTES MAY BE RELYING ON THE EXEMPTION FROM THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 5 OF THE SECURITIES ACT PROVIDED BY RULE 144A. FOR A DESCRIPTION OF THESE AND CERTAIN FURTHER RESTRICTIONS ON OFFERS, SALES AND TRANSFERS OF THE NOTES AND DISTRIBUTION OF THIS OFFERING CIRCULAR, SEE "SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE" AND "TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS".

NEITHER ANY SUCH FACT NOR THE FACT THAT AN EXEMPTION OR EXCEPTION IS AVAILABLE FOR A SECURITY OR A TRANSACTION MEANS THAT THE SECRETARY OF STATE HAS PASSED IN ANY WAY UPON THE MERITS OR QUALIFICATIONS OF, OR RECOMMENDED OR GIVEN APPROVAL TO, ANY PERSONS, SECURITY OR TRANSACTION. IT IS UNLAWFUL TO MAKE, OR CAUSE TO BE MADE, TO ANY PROSPECTIVE PURCHASER, CUSTOMER OR CLIENT ANY REPRESENTATION INCONSISTENT WITH THE PROVISIONS OF THIS PARAGRAPH.

Amounts payable under the Notes may be calculated by reference to the Euro Interbank Offered Rate which is provided by the European Money Markets Institute ("EMMI"). As at the date of this Offering Circular, EMMI appears on the register of administrators and benchmarks established and maintained by the European Securities and Markets Authority ("ESMA") pursuant to Article 36 of the Benchmark Regulation (Regulation (EU) 2016/1011) (the "BMR").

Certain monetary amounts included in this document have been subject to rounding adjustments; accordingly, figures shown for the same category presented in different tables may vary slightly and figures shown as totals in certain tables may not be an arithmetical aggregation of the figures preceding them.

Unless otherwise specified or the context requires, references herein to "dollars", "U.S. dollars", "U.S.\$" and "\$" are to United States dollars, references to "€ and "Euro" are to the lawful currency of member states of the European Union that have adopted the single currency introduced in accordance with the Treaty establishing the European Community as amended, references to "£" and "Sterling" are to Pounds Sterling and references to "Yen" and "¥" are to Japanese Yen.

In connection with the issue of any Tranche (as defined in "Overview of the Programme and the Notes"), the Dealer or Dealers (if any) named as the stabilisation manager(s) (the "**Stabilisation Manager(s)**") (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilisation Manager(s)) in the applicable Pricing Supplement may overallot Notes or effect transactions with a view to supporting the market price of the Notes at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail. However, stabilisation may not necessarily occur. Any stabilisation action may begin on or after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the terms of the offer of the relevant Tranche is made and, if begun, may cease at any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of 30 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche and 60 days after the date of the allotment of the relevant Tranche. Any stabilisation action or over-allotment must be conducted by the Stabilisation Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of a Stabilisation Manager) in accordance with all applicable laws and rules.

This Offering Circular includes forward-looking statements. All statements other than statements of historical fact included in this Offering Circular regarding, among other things, Republic of Cyprus' economy, fiscal condition, politics, debt or prospects may constitute forward-looking statements. In addition, forward-looking statements generally can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such as "may", "will", "expect", "project", "predict", "aim", "intend", "estimate", "anticipate", "believe", "continue", "could", "should", "would" or similar expressions or the negative thereof or other variations thereof or comparable terminology or discussions of strategy, plans or intentions, involve a number of risks and uncertainties. Although the Issuer believes that expectations reflected in its forward-looking statements are reasonable as at the date of this Offering Circular, there can be no assurance that such expectations will prove to have been correct. The Issuer undertakes no obligation to update the forward-looking statements contained in this Offering Circular or any other forward-looking statement it may make. Forward-looking statements involve inherent risks and uncertainties.

Modification and Amendment – Collective Action Clause

The Conditions contain provisions regarding amendments, modifications and waivers, commonly referred to as collective action clauses. Such clauses permit defined majorities to bind all relevant Noteholders, which would include holders of the relevant Notes who did not vote and who voted in a manner contrary to the majority. The terms of any one Series of Notes and/or multiple Series of Notes may be amended, modified or waived without the consent of the holders of all Notes or of all affected Series of Notes.

The relevant provisions also permit, in relation to reserved matters, multiple Series of Notes to be aggregated for voting purposes (provided that each such Series also contains the collective action clauses in the terms and conditions of the relevant Notes).

The Republic expects that all Series of Notes issued under the Programme will include such collective action clauses, thereby giving the Republic the ability to request modifications or actions in respect of reserved matters across multiple Series of Notes.

This means that a defined majority of the holders of such Series of Notes (when taken in the aggregate only, in some circumstances and/or individually) would be able to bind all holders of Notes in all the relevant aggregated Series. Any modification or action proposed by the Republic may, at the option of the Republic, be made in respect of some Series of Notes only and, for the avoidance of doubt, the provisions may be used for different groups of two or more Series of Notes simultaneously.

At the time of any proposed modification or action, the Republic will be obliged, *inter alia*, to specify which method or methods of aggregation will be used by the Republic. There is a risk therefore that the terms and conditions of a Series of Notes may be amended, modified or waived in relation to a Reserved Matter (as defined in the Conditions) in certain circumstances whereby the Noteholders voting in favour of an amendment, modification or waiver may be Noteholders of a different Series of Notes and, as such, without a minimum percentage of the Noteholders of the relevant Series (such as the Notes) having voted in favour of such amendment, modification or waiver. In addition, there is a risk that the provisions allowing for aggregation across multiple Series of Notes may make the Notes less attractive to purchasers in the secondary market on the occurrence of an Event of Default or in a distressed situation. Further, any such amendment, modification or waiver in relation to any Notes may adversely affect their trading price.

In the future, the Republic may issue Debt Securities (as defined in Condition 11) which contain collective action clauses in the same form as the collective action clauses in the Conditions. If this occurs, then this could mean that any Series of Notes issued under the Programme would be capable of aggregation with any such future Debt Securities.

MIFID II PRODUCT GOVERNANCE / TARGET MARKET

The Pricing Supplement in respect of any Notes may include a legend entitled "MiFID II Product Governance" which will outline the target market assessment in respect of the Notes and which channels for distribution of the Notes are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a "distributor") should take into consideration the target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended or superseded, "MiFID II") is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.

A determination will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the MiFID Product Governance rules under EU Delegated Directive 2017/593 (the "MiFID Product Governance Rules"), any Dealer subscribing for any Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such Notes, but otherwise neither the Arranger nor the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates will be a manufacturer for the purpose of the MIFID Product Governance Rules.

UK MIFIR PRODUCT GOVERNANCE / TARGET MARKET

The Pricing Supplement in respect of any Notes may include a legend entitled "UK MiFIR Product Governance" which will outline the target market assessment in respect of the Notes and which channels for distribution of the Notes are appropriate. Any distributor should take into consideration the target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to the FCA Handbook Product Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook (the "UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules") is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.

A determination will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules, any Dealer subscribing for any Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such Notes, but otherwise neither the Arranger nor the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates will be a manufacturer for the purpose of the UK MIFIR Product Governance Rules.

10218360267-v8 - V - 70-41025765

CONTENTS

	Page
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE	2
OVERVIEW OF THE PROGRAMME AND THE NOTES	3
TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES	7
FORM OF THE NOTES	40
USE OF PROCEEDS	45
ENFORCEMENT OF CIVIL LIABILITIES AND COURT JUDGMENTS	46
REPUBLIC OF CYPRUS	48
THE ECONOMY	50
EXTERNAL POSITION	53
BANKING AND FINANCIAL SYSTEM	60
FINANCIAL SECTOR DEVELOPMENTS, MONETARY POLICY AND INTEREST RATE REGIME.	63
TAXATION	64
CLEARING AND SETTLEMENT	
TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS	
SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE	73
GENERAL INFORMATION	76
INDEX OF DEFINED TERMS	78

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

This Offering Circular should be read and construed in conjunction with each relevant Pricing Supplement and each supplement to the Offering Circular circulated by the Republic from time to time in accordance with the Dealer Agreement referred to below, which shall be deemed to be incorporated in, and to form part of, this Offering Circular and which shall be deemed to modify or supersede the contents of this Offering Circular to the extent that a statement contained in any such document is inconsistent with such contents.

The Republic will, at the specified offices of the Paying or Transfer Agents, provide, without charge, to each person to whom a copy of this Offering Circular has been delivered, upon the oral or written request of any such person, a copy of any or all of the documents incorporated herein by reference. Written or telephone requests for such documents should be directed to the specified office of any Paying or Transfer Agent.

10218360267-v8 - 2 - 70-41025765

OVERVIEW OF THE PROGRAMME AND THE NOTES

The following does not purport to be complete and is a summary of, and is qualified in its entirety by, the remainder of this Offering Circular and, in relation to the terms and conditions of any particular Tranche of Notes, the applicable Pricing Supplement. Words and expressions defined or used in "Form of the Notes" and "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" shall have the same meaning in this Summary:

Republic of Cyprus acting through the Ministry of Finance. **Issuer**

Société Générale. Arranger

Dealers Deutsche Bank Aktiengesellschaft and Société Générale.

Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch. **Fiscal Agent**

Registrar Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas.

Currencies U.S. dollars, Euro, Sterling, Swiss Francs, Yen or such other currency as

may be agreed between the Republic and the relevant Dealer(s), in all

cases subject to applicable laws and regulations.

Form of Notes Notes of each Tranche of each Series to be issued in bearer form ("Bearer

Notes" comprising a "Bearer Series") will initially be represented by interests in a temporary global Note or by a permanent global Note, in either case in bearer form (a "Temporary Global Note" and a "Global Note", respectively), without interest coupons. If the relevant Temporary Global Note or Global Note, as the case may be, are stated in the applicable Pricing Supplement to be issued in new global note ("NGN") form, the Temporary Global Note or Global Note, as the case may be, will be delivered on or prior to the original issue date of the relevant Tranche to a common safekeeper (the "Common Safekeeper") for Euroclear Bank SA/NV ("Euroclear") and Clearstream Banking, S.A. ("Clearstream,

Luxembourg").

Temporary Global Notes and Global Notes which are not issued in NGN form ("Classic Global Notes" or "CGNs") will be deposited on the issue date of the relevant Tranche with a common depositary on behalf of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg (the "Common Depositary"). Interests in a Temporary Global Note will be exchangeable, in whole or in part, for interests in a Global Note or for definitive Bearer Notes (as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement) on or after the date 40 days after the later of the commencement of the offering and the relevant issue date (the "Exchange Date") and, if so specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, only upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership. Individual definitive Bearer Notes will only be available in exchange for interests in a Global Note in certain limited circumstances as described herein.

Notes of each Tranche of each Series to be issued in registered form ("Registered Notes" comprising a "Registered Series") and which are sold in an "offshore transaction" within the meaning of Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), will initially be represented by interests in a definitive global unrestricted Registered Note (each an "Unrestricted Global Certificate"), without interest coupons.

Notes of each Tranche of each Registered Series sold to a qualified institutional buyer within the meaning of Rule 144A under the Securities Act, as referred to in, and subject to the transfer restrictions described in "Subscription and Sale" and "Transfer Restrictions", will initially be represented by a definitive global restricted Registered Note (each a

- 3 -10218360267-v8 70-41025765 "Restricted Global Certificate" and together with any Unrestricted Global Certificates the "Global Certificates"), without interest coupons.

If the relevant Global Certificate is held under the New Safekeeping Structure ("NSS"), it will be delivered to a Common Safekeeper for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and, if the relevant Global Certificate is not held under the NSS, will either (a) be deposited with a common nominee for, and registered in the name of a common nominee of, Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear on its issue date or (b) be deposited with a custodian for, and registered in the name of a nominee of, The Depository Trust Company ("DTC") or other relevant clearing system on its issue date.

Beneficial interests in the relevant Global Certificate will accordingly be shown on, and transfers thereof will be effected only through records maintained by, Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or by DTC and its direct and indirect participants (including Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg). See "Clearing and Settlement". Individual definitive Registered Notes will only be available in certain limited circumstances as described herein.

Maturities

Subject to compliance with all relevant laws and directives, such minimum and/or maximum maturity as may be allowed or required from time to time by the relevant central bank (or equivalent body (however called)) or any laws or regulations applicable to the relevant currency or currencies.

Issue Price

Notes may be issued on a fully-paid or partly paid basis and at par or at a discount to or premium over par.

Method of Issue

The Notes will be issued on a syndicated or non-syndicated basis. The Notes will be issued in Series having one or more issue dates and on terms otherwise identical (or identical other than in respect of the first payment of interest), the Notes of each Series being intended to be interchangeable with all other Notes of that Series. Each Series may be issued in Tranches on the same or different issue dates. The specific terms of each Tranche (which will be supplemented, where necessary, with supplemental terms and conditions and, save in respect of the issue date, issue price, first payment of interest and principal amount of the Tranche, will be identical to the terms of other Tranches of the same Series) will be set out in a Pricing Supplement to this Offering Circular.

Interest Rate

The Notes may be issued on a fixed rate, variable rate or zero coupon basis.

Fixed Rate Notes

Fixed rate interest will be payable in arrear on the date or dates as agreed between the Republic and the relevant Dealer(s) in each year (as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement).

Interest will be calculated on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of 12 months of 30 days each and, in the case of an incomplete month, the actual number of days elapsed or, in the case of Euro, on an "Actual/ Actual-ICMA" basis, as more fully set out in "Terms and Conditions of the Notes – Interest" (unless otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement).

Variable Rate Notes

Variable Rate Notes will bear interest set separately for each Series by reference to LIBID, LIMEAN, EURIBOR or such other benchmark as may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, as adjusted for any

10218360267-v8 - 4 - 70-41025765

applicable margin. Variable Rate Notes may have a maximum interest rate, a minimum interest rate or both.

Interest on Variable Rate Notes will be payable on the last day of each Interest Period and will be calculated on the basis of the actual number of days in the Interest Period concerned divided by 360 or 365/366 in the case of Notes denominated in Sterling or, in the case of Euro, on the basis of the actual number of days elapsed divided by 365 (or, if any of the days elapsed fall in a leap year, the sum of:

- (i) the number of those days falling in a leap year divided by 366; and
- (ii) the number of those days falling in a non-leap year divided by 365) (in each case unless otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement).

Interest Periods for Variable Rate Notes

Such period(s) as the Republic and the relevant Dealer(s) may agree, as indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Zero Coupon Notes

Zero Coupon Notes do not bear interest but will ordinarily be issued at a discount to their principal amount. The amount payable on early redemption of a Zero Coupon Note will be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Withholding Tax

All payments of principal and interest in respect of the Notes will be made free and clear of withholding for or on account of any taxes imposed by or within the Republic, subject to certain customary exceptions.

Denominations

Definitive Bearer Notes and definitive Registered Notes will be in such denominations as may be agreed between the Republic and the relevant Dealer(s) and specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, subject to applicable laws and regulations. However, unless permitted by then current laws, regulations and directives, Registered Notes resold pursuant to Rule 144A shall be in denominations of U.S.\$250,000 (or its equivalent rounded upwards as agreed between the Republic and the relevant Dealer(s)) and higher integral multiples of U.S.\$1,000.

Optional Redemption

The Pricing Supplement issued in respect of each issue of Notes will state whether such Notes may be redeemed prior to their stated maturity at the option of the Republic and/or the holders of the Notes and, if so, the terms applicable to such redemption including whether partial redemption is permissible.

Listing

Application may be made to list Notes issued under the Programme on the Official List and to admit them to trading on the London Stock Exchange or as otherwise specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement. As specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, a Series of Notes may be unlisted.

Rating

The Republic's long-term foreign currency debt has been rated BBB (low) (positive) by DBRS Ratings GmbH, BBB- (stable) by Fitch Ratings Ireland Limited, Ba1 (stable) by Moody's Deutschland GmbH and BBB- (positive) by S&P Global Ratings Europe Limited.

Status of Notes

Subject to "Terms and Conditions of the Notes – Negative Pledge", the Notes will constitute direct, unconditional and unsecured obligations of the Issuer and the full faith and credit of the Republic of Cyprus will be pledged for the due and punctual payment of all amounts payable in respect of the Notes and Coupons and for the performance of all other obligations of the Issuer pursuant to the Notes and Coupons. The Notes and Coupons of each Series shall at all times rank at least pari passu, without any preference among themselves, with all other unsecured

10218360267-v8 - 5 - 70-41025765

indebtedness of the Issuer, from time to time outstanding. The Issuer shall have no obligation to effect equal or rateable payment(s) at any time with respect to any such other indebtedness and, in particular, shall have no obligation to pay other indebtedness at the same time or as a condition of paying sums due on the Notes and vice versa.

Negative Pledge

There will be a negative pledge in respect of any security securing any External Indebtedness of the Issuer, all as more fully set out and subject to the exceptions contained in "Terms and Conditions of the Notes – Negative Pledge".

Cross Default

There will be a cross default in respect of indebtedness of the Republic and the Ministry of Finance, all as more fully set out in "Terms and Conditions of the Notes – Events of Default".

Governing Law

English.

Selling Restrictions

There are restrictions on the sale of Notes and the distribution of offering material in various jurisdictions. See "Subscription and Sale".

Transfer Restrictions

There are restrictions on the transfer of Notes sold pursuant to Regulation S under the Securities Act prior to the expiration of the relevant distribution compliance period and on the transfer of Notes sold pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities Act. See "Transfer Restrictions".

Clearing Systems

Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or DTC, and/or such other clearing system or systems as may be agreed between the Republic and the relevant Dealer(s) and specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

Pricing Supplement

The issue price, issue date, maturity date, principal amount, interest rate (if any) applicable to any Notes and any other relevant provisions of such Notes will be agreed between the Republic and the relevant Dealer(s) at the time of agreement to issue such Notes and will be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

"Green", "Social" or "Sustainable" Bonds

The Republic may issue Notes labelled as "Green", "Social" or "Sustainable". Any framework relating to any such Notes will be published by the Republic and specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

Collective Action Clause

The Notes contain a Collective Action Clause (CAC) in Condition 11 (*Meetings of Noteholders and Modification*).

If the Republic issues future Debt Securities (as defined in Condition 11) which contain collective action clauses in substantially the same form as the collective action clauses outlined in Conditions 11A or 11B, the Notes would be capable of aggregation for voting purposes with any such future Debt Securities, thereby allowing 'cross-series' modifications to the terms and conditions of all affected series of Notes (even, in some circumstances, where majorities in certain Series did not vote in favour of the modifications being voted on).

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES

The following is the text of the terms and conditions which, subject to completion and amendment and as supplemented or varied in accordance with the provisions of the applicable Pricing Supplement, will apply to the Notes referred to in such Pricing Supplement:

The Notes are issued pursuant to an amended and restated Fiscal Agency Agreement (as amended or supplemented or restated from time to time, the "Fiscal Agency Agreement") dated 16 December 2021 and made between the Republic of Cyprus acting through the Ministry of Finance (the "Issuer"), Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch as fiscal agent, transfer agent and calculation agent, Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, New York City office as registrar, transfer agent and exchange agent and the other agents named in it and with the benefit of a Deed of Covenant (as amended or supplemented or restated from time to time, the "Deed of Covenant"), dated 16 December 2021 and executed by the Issuer. The fiscal agent, the paying agents, the calculation agent, the registrar, the exchange agent and the transfer agents for the time being are referred to below respectively as the "Fiscal Agent", the "Paying Agents" (which expression shall include the Fiscal Agent), the "Calculation Agent", the "Registrar", the "Exchange Agent" and the "Transfer Agents" and together as the "Agents". The Noteholders (as defined in Condition 1(c)) and the holders of the Coupons (if any) (the "Couponholders") and, where applicable in the case of interest-bearing Notes in bearer form, talons for further Coupons (the "Talons") are deemed to have notice of all of the provisions of the relevant Pricing Supplement (as defined in Condition 1(e)) and of those applicable to them of the Fiscal Agency Agreement.

Copies of the Fiscal Agency Agreement and/or the Deed of Covenant are available for inspection at the specified offices of each of the Paying Agents, the Registrar and the Transfer Agents.

1. Form, Denomination, Title, Specified Currency and Pricing Supplement

(a) Form

Each Series (as defined in Condition 1(c)) of Notes of which the Note to which these Conditions are attached forms part (in these Conditions, the "Notes") is issued either in bearer form ("Bearer Notes") or in registered form ("Registered Notes"), and Notes comprising each such Series will be issued in each case in the Principal Amount of an Authorised Denomination (as defined in Condition 1(b)). These Conditions must be read accordingly. The Authorised Denomination of this Note is specified on it.

A registered certificate will be issued to each holder of Registered Note(s) in respect of its registered holding or holdings (each a "Certificate"). Each Certificate will be numbered serially with an identifying number which will be recorded in the register (the "Register") which the Issuer shall procure to be kept by the Registrar.

Bearer Notes which bear interest are issued with Coupons and, where appropriate, Talons attached.

Registered Notes may not be exchanged for Bearer Notes and Bearer Notes may not be exchanged for Registered Notes.

(b) Denomination

"Authorised Denomination" means (in relation to each Note) the denomination or denominations specified on such Note. Bearer Notes of one Authorised Denomination may not be exchanged for Bearer Notes of another Authorised Denomination (if any).

(c) Title

Title to the Bearer Notes, the Coupons relating thereto and, where applicable, the Talons relating thereto shall pass by delivery. Title to the Registered Notes shall pass by registration in the Register. Except as ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction or as required by law, the holder of any Note, Coupon or Talon shall be deemed to be and may be treated as the absolute owner of such Note, Coupon or Talon, as the case may be, for the purpose of receiving payment thereof or on account thereof and for all other purposes,

10218360267-v8 - 7 - 70-41025765

whether or not such Note, Coupon or Talon shall be overdue and notwithstanding any notice of ownership, theft or loss thereof or any writing thereon made by anyone.

In these Conditions, "Noteholder" and, in relation to a Note, Coupon or Talon, "holder", means the bearer of any Bearer Note, Coupon or Talon or the person in whose name a Registered Note is registered (as the case may be), "person" means any individual, company, corporation, firm, partnership, joint venture, association, unincorporated organisation, trust or any other juridical entity, including, without limitation, any state or agency of a state or other entity, whether or not having separate legal personality, "Series" means Notes which have identical terms and conditions, other than in respect of the Issue Date (as defined in Condition 5(III)), the date on which interest commences to accrue and related matters, and "Tranche" means, in relation to a Series, those Notes of such Series which have the same Issue Date.

(d) Specified Currency

The Specified Currency of any Note and, if different, any Specified Principal Payment Currency and/or Specified Interest Payment Currency, are as specified on such Note. All payments of principal in respect of a Note shall be made in the Specified Currency or, if applicable, the Specified Principal Payment Currency and all payments of interest in respect of a Note shall be made in the Specified Currency or, if applicable, the Specified Interest Payment Currency.

(e) Pricing Supplement and Additional Terms

References in these Conditions to terms specified on a Note shall be deemed to include references to terms specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement issued in respect of a Tranche which includes such Note (each a "Pricing Supplement"). Capitalised terms used in these Conditions in respect of a Note, and not specifically defined in these Conditions, have the meaning given to them in the applicable Pricing Supplement issued in respect of a Tranche which includes such Note. Additional provisions relating to the Notes may be contained in the Pricing Supplement or specified on the Note and will take effect as if originally specified in these Conditions.

2. Transfers of Registered Notes and Issue of Certificates

(a) Transfer of Registered Notes

A Registered Note may be transferred in whole or in part in an Authorised Denomination upon the surrender of the Certificate issued in respect of the Registered Note to be transferred, together with the form of transfer endorsed on it duly completed and executed, at the specified office of the Registrar or any Transfer Agent. In the case of a transfer of part only of a Registered Note a new Certificate in respect of the balance not transferred will be issued to the transferor. Each new Certificate to be issued upon transfer of such Registered Note will, within three business days of receipt of such form of transfer, be mailed at the risk of the holder entitled to the new Certificate to such address as may be specified in such form of transfer. Registered Notes may not be exchanged for Bearer Notes and Bearer Notes may not be exchanged for Registered Notes.

(b) Transfer Free of Charge

Registration of transfers will be effected without charge by or on behalf of the Issuer, the Registrar or the Transfer Agents, but upon payment (or the giving of such indemnity as the Registrar or the relevant Transfer Agent may require) in respect of any tax or other governmental charges which may be imposed in relation to it.

(c) Closed Periods

No Noteholder may require the transfer of a Registered Note to be registered (i) during the period of 15 days ending on the due date for any payment of principal (being, for the purposes of these Conditions, unless the context otherwise requires, the amount payable on redemption of a Note) of that Note, (ii) during the period of 15 days prior to any date

on which Notes of the relevant Series may be redeemed by the Issuer at its option pursuant to Condition 6(d), (iii) after any such Note has been called for redemption in whole or in part in accordance with Condition 6 or (iv) during the period of seven days ending on (and including) any Record Date (as defined in Condition 7(b)).

(d) Regulations

All transfers of Registered Notes and entries on the Register will be made subject to the detailed regulations concerning transfers of Registered Notes scheduled to the Fiscal Agency Agreement. The regulations may be changed by the Issuer, with the prior written approval of the Registrar. A copy of the current regulations will be made available by the Registrar to any holder of a Registered Note upon request.

3. Status

The Notes and Coupons of all Series constitute (subject to Condition 4) direct, unconditional and unsecured obligations of the Issuer and the full faith and credit of the Republic of Cyprus is pledged for the due and punctual payment of all amounts payable in respect of the Notes and the Coupons and for the performance of all other obligations of the Issuer pursuant to the Notes and Coupons. The Notes and Coupons of each Series shall at all times rank *pari passu* without any preference among themselves and at least *pari passu* with all other unsecured indebtedness of the Issuer, from time to time outstanding. The Issuer shall have no obligation to effect equal or rateable payment(s) at any time with respect to any such other indebtedness and, in particular, the Issuer shall have no obligation to pay other indebtedness at the same time or as a condition of paying sums due on the Notes and/or Coupons and vice versa.

4. **Negative Pledge**

So long as any Note remains outstanding (as defined in the Fiscal Agency Agreement), the Issuer undertakes that it will not create any Encumbrance (other than a Permitted Encumbrance) upon the whole or any part of the present or future revenues or assets of the Issuer to secure (i) any present or future External Indebtedness of the Issuer or (ii) any guarantees or indemnities in respect of External Indebtedness of any other person, without at the same time or prior thereto securing the outstanding Notes equally and rateably with such External Indebtedness, and the instrument creating any such Encumbrance shall expressly provide therefor.

As used in these Conditions:

"Encumbrance" means any mortgage, charge, pledge, lien or other arrangement creating security other than:

- (i) any lien to create a charge to secure obligations of less than a year;
- (ii) any lien arising by operation of law; and
- (iii) any charge over any asset acquired by the Issuer and securing its purchase price (together with interest and other related charges);

"External Indebtedness" means any indebtedness in respect of moneys borrowed or raised which:

(A)

- is in the form of or represented by notes, bonds, debentures, loan stock or other securities, in each case which are listed or capable of being quoted, listed or ordinarily dealt with in or traded on any stock exchange; or
- (ii) is an obligation for the payment of money in respect of a derivative transaction (which for the avoidance of doubt shall include any swap transaction), such derivative transaction being entered into in connection with hedging the interest rate or foreign exchange exposure in respect of an obligation that qualifies under (i) above;

and

(B) is expressed to be governed by law other than the law of the Republic of Cyprus;

"Permitted Encumbrance" means any Encumbrance in respect of any Securitisation, provided that the aggregate outstanding principal amount of indebtedness in respect of all such Securitisations outstanding on the date of the creation of such Encumbrance does not exceed 15% of the total public debt of the Issuer at such time (as determined by reference to the most recently available annual report of the Public Debt Management Office acting on behalf of the Republic of Cyprus), and provided further that where all or part of any Securitisation is to be fully or partially repaid or refinanced with the proceeds of a Securitisation then the existing outstanding principal amount of indebtedness to be repaid will not be taken into account for the purpose of the foregoing determination; and

"Securitisation" means any securitisation of existing or future assets and/or revenues, provided that: (i) any Encumbrance created by the Issuer in connection therewith is limited solely to the assets and/or revenues which are the subject of the securitisation; (ii) each person participating in such securitisation expressly agrees to limit its recourse to the assets and/or revenues so securitised as the sole source of repayment for the money advanced or payment of any other liability; and (iii) there is no other recourse to the Issuer in respect of any default by any person under the securitisation.

Interest

One or more of the following provisions apply to each Note, as specified on such Note.

(I) Fixed Interest Rates

This Condition 5(I) applies to a Note the interest basis for which is specified on such Note as being Fixed Interest Rate.

(a) Interest Rate and Accrual

Each Note bears interest on its Calculation Amount (as defined in Condition 5(III)) from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date (as defined in Condition 5(III)) in respect thereof to (but excluding) the next succeeding Reference Date specified on such Note at the rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Interest Rate specified on such Note. Such interest is payable in arrear on each Reference Date in each year and on the Maturity Date specified on such Note if that date does not fall on a Reference Date.

The first payment of interest on a Note will be made on the Reference Date next following the relevant Interest Commencement Date. If the Interest Commencement Date is not a Reference Date, the first payment of interest on a Note will be the amount specified on the relevant Note as being the Initial Broken Amount. If the Maturity Date is not a Reference Date, interest from (and including) the preceding Reference Date (or from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date, as the case may be) to (but excluding) the Maturity Date will be the amount specified on the relevant Note as being the Final Broken Amount.

Interest will cease to accrue on each Note on the due date for redemption unless, upon due presentation or surrender, payment of principal is improperly withheld or refused. In such event interest will continue to accrue at the rate and in the manner provided in this Condition 5(I) (both before and after judgment) until the Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 8) (except to the extent that there is failure in the subsequent payment to the relevant holders under these Conditions).

(b) Calculations

Interest in respect of a period of less than the period between Reference Dates (or, in the case of the first interest period, the period between the Interest Commencement Date and the first Reference Date) will be calculated using the applicable Fixed Rate Day Count Fraction (as defined in Condition 5(III)).

(II) Variable Interest Rates

This Condition 5(II) applies to a Note the interest basis for which is specified on such Note as being Variable Interest Rate.

(a) Interest Payment Dates

Each Note bears interest on its Calculation Amount (as defined in Condition 5(III)) from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date (as defined in Condition 5(III)) in respect thereof and such interest will be payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date (as defined in Condition 5(III)).

(b) Rate of Interest

Each Note bears interest at a variable rate which may be based on one or more interest rate or exchange rate indices or as otherwise specified on such Note (each a "Benchmark"). The dates on which interest shall be payable on a Note, the Benchmark and the basis for calculation of each amount of interest payable in respect of such Note on each such date and on any other date on which interest becomes payable in respect of such Note, and the rate (or the basis of calculation of such rate) at which interest will accrue in respect of any amount due but unpaid in respect of such Note shall be as set out below, unless otherwise specified on such Note. Subject to Condition 5(II)(c), the rate of interest ("Rate of Interest") payable from time to time will, unless otherwise specified on such Note, be determined by the Calculation Agent on the basis of the following provisions:

- (i) At or about the Relevant Time (as defined in Condition 5(III)) on the relevant Interest Determination Date (as defined in Condition 5(III)) in respect of each Interest Period (as defined in Condition 5(III)), the Calculation Agent will:
 - in the case of a Note which specifies that the Primary Source for Interest (A) Rate Quotations shall be derived from a specified page, section or other part of a particular information service (each as specified on such Note), determine the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period which shall, subject as provided below, be (x) the Reference Rate (as defined in Condition 5(III)) so appearing in or on that page, section or other part of such information service (where such Reference Rate is a composite quotation or interest rate per annum or is customarily supplied by one person) or (y) the arithmetic mean (rounded up, if necessary, to the next one-hundred thousandth of a percentage point) of the Reference Rates of the persons at that time whose Reference Rates so appear in or on that page, section or other part of such information service, in any such case in respect of deposits in the relevant Specified Currency made with or by such person or persons for a period equal to the duration of such Interest Period; and
 - (B) in the case of a Note which specifies that the Primary Source for Interest Rate Quotations shall be the Reference Banks specified on such Note and in the case of a Note falling within Condition 5(II)(b)(i)(A) but in respect of which (x) no Reference Rate appears at or about such Relevant Time or (y) the Rate of Interest for which is to be determined by reference to quotations of persons appearing in or on the relevant page, section or other part of such information service as provided in Condition 5(II)(b)(i)(A) but in respect of which less than two Reference Rates appear at or about such Relevant Time, request the principal offices in the Relevant Banking Centre (as defined in Condition 5(III))) of each of the Reference Banks specified on such Note (or, as the case may be, any substitute Reference Bank appointed from time to time pursuant to Condition 5(II)(g)) to provide the Calculation Agent with its Reference Rate quoted to leading banks for deposits in the relevant Specified Currency for a period equivalent to the duration of such Interest Period. Where this Condition 5(II)(b)(i)(B) applies, the Rate of Interest for the

10218360267-v8 - 11 - 70-41025765

relevant Interest Period shall, subject as provided below, be the arithmetic mean (rounded up, if necessary, to the next one-hundred thousandth of a percentage point) of such Reference Rates as calculated by the Calculation Agent.

- (ii) If at or about the Relevant Time on any Interest Determination Date where the Rate of Interest is to be determined pursuant to Condition 5(II)(b)(i)(B) in respect of a Note, more than one but not all of such Reference Banks provide such relevant quotations, the Rate of Interest for the relevant Interest Period shall, subject as provided below, be determined as aforesaid on the basis of the Reference Rates quoted by those Reference Banks.
- (iii) If at or about the Relevant Time on any Interest Determination Date where the Rate of Interest is to be determined pursuant to Condition 5(II)(b)(i)(B) only one or none of such Reference Banks provide such Relevant Rates, the Rate of Interest for the relevant Interest Period shall, subject as provided below, be whichever is the higher of:
 - (A) the Rate of Interest in effect for the last preceding Interest Period to which Condition 5(II)(b)(i)(A) or (B) or Condition 5(II)(b)(ii) applied; and
 - the rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) which the Calculation Agent determines to be the arithmetic mean (rounded up, if necessary, to the next one-hundred thousandth of a percentage point) of the Reference Rates in respect of the relevant currency which banks in the Relevant Financial Centre for such Specified Currency or, if the Specified Currency is Euro, in the Euro- zone selected by the Calculation Agent (after consultation with the Issuer) are quoting at or about the Relevant Time on the relevant Interest Determination Date for a period equivalent to such Interest Period to leading banks carrying on business in that Relevant Financial Centre, provided that, if the banks so selected by the Calculation Agent are not quoting as aforesaid, the Rate of Interest shall, subject as provided below, be the rate of interest specified in Condition 5(II)(b)(iii)(A).

(c) Minimum/Maximum Rates

If a Minimum Interest Rate is specified on a Note, then the Rate of Interest applicable to that Note shall in no event be less than it and if a Maximum Interest Rate is specified on a Note, then the Rate of Interest applicable to that Note shall in no event exceed it.

(d) Determination of Rate of Interest and Calculation of Interest Amounts

The Calculation Agent will, as soon as practicable after the Relevant Time on each Interest Determination Date, determine the Rate of Interest in the manner provided for in this Condition 5 and calculate the amount of interest payable (the "Interest Amounts") in respect of each Authorised Denomination of the relevant Notes (in the case of Bearer Notes) and the minimum Authorised Denomination (in the case of Registered Notes) for the relevant Interest Period. The Interest Amounts shall be calculated by applying the Rate of Interest adjusted, if necessary, by any Spread (as defined in Condition 5(III)) and/or Spread Multiplier (as defined in Condition 5(III)) to each Authorised Denomination (in the case of Bearer Notes) and the minimum Authorised Denomination (in the case of Registered Notes), and multiplying such product by the applicable Variable Rate Day Count Fraction (as defined in Condition 5(III)) rounding, if necessary, the resultant figure to the nearest unit of the relevant currency (half of such unit being rounded upwards or, in the case of Yen downwards). The determination of the Rate of Interest and the Interest Amounts by the Calculation Agent shall (in the absence of manifest error) be final and binding upon all parties.

(e) Notification of Rate of Interest and Interest Amounts

The Calculation Agent will cause the Rate of Interest and the Interest Amounts for each Interest Period and the relevant Interest Payment Date to be notified to the Issuer, each of the Agents, the Noteholders (in accordance with Condition 15) and if the relevant Notes are for the time being listed on any stock exchange (each an "Exchange") and the rules of that Exchange so require, the Exchange as soon as possible after their determination but in no event later than two Relevant Business Days (as defined in Condition 5(III)) after their determination. The Interest Amounts and the Interest Payment Date so notified may subsequently be amended by the Calculation Agent (or appropriate alternative arrangements made by way of adjustment) without notice in the event of an extension or shortening of the Interest Period.

(f) Interest Accrual

Interest will cease to accrue on each Note on the due date for redemption unless, upon due presentation or surrender, payment of principal is improperly withheld or refused. In such event interest will continue to accrue at the rate and in the manner provided in this Condition 5(II) (both before and after judgment) until the Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 8) (except to the extent that there is failure in the subsequent payment to the relevant holders under these Conditions).

(g) Calculation Agent and Reference Banks

The Issuer will procure that, so long as any Note to which this Condition 5(II) applies remains outstanding, there shall at all times be a Calculation Agent for such Note and, so long as the Primary Source for Interest Rate Quotations for such Note is Reference Banks, there shall at all times be four Reference Banks with offices in the Relevant Banking Centre. The Issuer will also ensure that, in the case of any Note the determination of interest for which falls within Condition 5(II)(b)(i)(A) and in respect of which no Reference Rate appears at or about the Relevant Time, or in respect of which less than two Reference Rates appear at or about the Relevant Time, there shall be four Reference Banks appointed for such Note with offices in the Relevant Banking Centre. If any Reference Bank (acting through its relevant office) is unable or unwilling to continue to act as a Reference Bank then the Issuer will appoint another Reference Bank with an office in the Relevant Banking Centre to act as such in its place. If the Calculation Agent is unable or unwilling to act as such or if the Calculation Agent fails duly to establish the Rate of Interest for any Interest Period or to calculate the Interest Amounts, the Issuer will appoint the London office of a leading bank engaged in the London and international interbank markets to act as such in its place. The Calculation Agent may not resign its duties without a successor having been appointed as aforesaid.

(III) Definitions

As used in these Conditions:

"Accrual Period" means, in relation to Actual/Actual-ICMA below, the actual number of days in the relevant period from and including the Start Date to but excluding the Payment Date.

"Actual/Actual-ICMA" means:

- (a) if the Actual Calculation Period is equal to or shorter than the Determination Period during which it falls, the number of days in the Actual Calculation Period divided by the product of (x) the number of days in such Determination Period and (y) the number of Determination Periods normally ending any year; and
- (b) if the Actual Calculation Period is longer than one Determination Period, the sum of:
 - (x) the number of days in such Actual Calculation Period falling in the Determination Period in which it begins divided by the product of (1) the number of days in such Determination Period and (2) the number of Determination Periods normally ending in any year; and

(y) the number of days in such Actual Calculation Period falling in the next Determination Period divided by the product of (1) the number of days in such Determination Period and (2) the number of Determination Periods normally ending in any year

where:

"**Determination Period**" means the period from and including a Determination Date in any year to but excluding the next Determination Date; and

"**Determination Date(s)**" means the date(s) specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement or, if none is so specified, the Interest Payment Date(s).

"Actual Calculation Period" means, in relation to Actual/Actual-ICMA above, the actual number of days from and including one Interest Period Date to but excluding the next Interest Period Date.

"Business Day Convention" means either:

- (A) the "FRN Convention", in which case interest on a Note shall be payable on each Interest Payment Date which numerically corresponds to its Interest Commencement Date or, as the case may be, the preceding Interest Payment Date in the calendar month which is the Specified Interest Period specified on such Note after the calendar month in which such Interest Commencement Date or, as the case may be, the preceding Interest Payment Date occurred, provided that:
 - (1) if there is no such numerically corresponding day in the calendar month in which an Interest Payment Date should occur, then the relevant Interest Payment Date will be the last day which is a Relevant Business Day (as defined below) in that calendar month;
 - (2) if an Interest Payment Date would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Relevant Business Day, then the relevant Interest Payment Date will be the first following day which is a Relevant Business Day unless that day falls in the next calendar month, in which case it will be the first preceding day which is a Relevant Business Day; and
 - if such Interest Commencement Date or the preceding Interest Payment Date occurred on the last day in a calendar month which was a Relevant Business Day, then all subsequent Interest Payment Dates in respect of such Note will be the last day which is a Relevant Business Day in the calendar month which is the Specified Interest Period specified on such Note after the calendar month in which such Interest Commencement Date or, as the case may be, the preceding Interest Payment Date occurred; or
- (B) the "Modified Following Business Day Convention", in which case interest on a Note shall be payable on such Interest Payment Dates as may be specified on such Note, provided that, if any Interest Payment Date would otherwise fall on a date which is not a Relevant Business Day, the relevant Interest Payment Date will be the first following day which is a Relevant Business Day unless that day falls in the next calendar month, in which case the relevant Interest Payment Date will be the first preceding day which is a Relevant Business Day; or
- (C) the "Following Business Day Convention", in which case interest on a Note shall be payable on such Interest Payment Dates as may be specified on such Note, provided that, if any Interest Payment Date would otherwise fall on a date which is not a Relevant Business Day, the relevant Interest Payment Date will be the first following day which is a Relevant Business Day; or
- (D) such other Business Day Convention as may be specified on the relevant Note.

"Calculation Amount" means the amount specified as such on any Note, or if no such amount is so specified, the Principal Amount of such Note as specified on such Note or, if such Note is

amortising or redeemed in part, the principal amount outstanding on such Note at the time of determination of the Calculation Amount.

"Euro-zone" means the region comprised of member states of the European Union that adopt the single currency in accordance with the Treaty establishing the European Community, as amended by the Treaty on European Union.

"Fixed Rate Day Count Fraction" means, unless otherwise specified on the relevant Note, a fraction the numerator of which is the number of days in the relevant calculation period based on a year of 12 months of 30 days each and the denominator of which is 360 or, in the case of Euro, the Actual/Actual-ICMA basis.

"Interest Commencement Date" means, in the case of the first issue of a Note or Notes of a Series, the Issue Date or such other date as may be specified as the Interest Commencement Date on such Note and, in the case of a further issue of a Note or Notes of such Series, means the most recent Reference Date or, as the case may be, Interest Payment Date in relation to the first issue of Notes preceding the date on which such further Note or Notes are issued or if there is no such date, the Interest Commencement Date in respect of such first issue, or in any case such other date as may be specified as the Interest Commencement Date on such Note.

"Interest Determination Date" means, in respect of any Interest Period, the date which falls that number of days (if any) specified on the relevant Note on which banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business in the Relevant Banking Centre prior to the first day of such Interest Period or if the Specified Currency is Euro, the day falling two TARGET Business Days prior to the first day of such Interest Period.

"Interest Payment Date" means each date which falls in the Specified Interest Period specified on the relevant Note after the preceding Interest Payment Date or, in the case of the first Interest Payment Date, after the Interest Commencement Date or as is otherwise specified as such on the relevant Note, in each case as adjusted by the Business Day Convention specified on such Note.

"Interest Period" means the period beginning on (and including) the Interest Commencement Date to (but excluding) the first Interest Payment Date and each successive period beginning on (and including) an Interest Payment Date to (but excluding) the next succeeding Interest Payment Date.

"Issue Date" means, in respect of any Note or Notes, the date of issue of such Note or Notes.

"Number of Actual Calculation Periods" means, in relation to Actual/Actual-ICMA above, the number of Actual Calculation Periods normally ending in any year.

"Payment Date" means, in relation to Actual/Actual-ICMA above, the date on which interest for the relevant period falls due.

"Reference Rate" means, for any Note, the bid, offered or mean of bid and offered rate, as specified on such Note, for the variable rate specified on such Note.

"Relevant Banking Centre" means, for any Note, the Relevant Banking Centre specified on such Note or, if none is so specified, London.

"Relevant Business Day" means:

- (A) in the case of a currency other than Euro, a day (other than a Saturday or a Sunday) on which banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business in the Relevant Financial Centre; and/or
- (B) in the case of Euro, a day on which the TARGET system is operating (a "TARGET Business Day"); and/or
- (C) in the case of any currency, a day on which banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business in such other financial centre or centres specified on the relevant Note.

"Relevant Financial Centre" means:

- (A) in the case of a currency other than Euro, the principal financial centre for the relevant currency; and
- (B) in the case of Euro, such financial centre or centres as may be specified on the relevant Note.

"Relevant Time" means the local time in the Relevant Banking Centre at which it is customary to determine bid, mean and offered rates in respect of deposits in that currency in the interbank market in that Relevant Banking Centre (which, if the relevant Benchmark is EURIBOR, shall be the Eurozone) or, if no such customary local time exists, 11.00 hours in the Relevant Banking Centre.

"Spread" means the percentage rate per annum specified on the relevant Note.

"**Spread Multiplier**" means the percentage rate or number applied to the relevant Rate of Interest, as specified on the relevant Note.

"Start Date" means, in relation to Actual/Actual-ICMA above, the date from which interest for the relevant period begins to accrue.

"TARGET System" means the Trans-European Automated Real-Time Gross Settlement Express Transfer (known as TARGET 2) System which was launched on 19 November 2007 or any successor thereto.

"Variable Rate Day Count Fraction" means, unless otherwise specified on the relevant Note, a fraction the numerator of which is the actual number of days in the relevant Interest Period and the denominator of which is 360 or, in the case of Sterling, 365 or, in the case of Euro, the actual number of days in the relevant calculation period divided by 365 (or, if any portion of such calculation period falls in a leap year, the sum of (i) the actual number of days in that portion of such calculation period falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (ii) the actual number of days in that portion of such calculation period falling in a non-leap year divided by 365).

(IV) Zero Coupon

This Condition 5(IV) applies to a Note the interest basis for which is specified on such Note as being Zero Coupon.

References to the amount of interest payable (other than as provided below), Coupons and Talons in these Conditions are not applicable. Where a Note becomes repayable prior to its Maturity Date and is not paid when due, the amount due and payable in respect of such Note shall be the Amortised Face Amount of such Note as determined in accordance with Condition 6(c)(iii). Where a Note is to be redeemed on its Maturity Date, any overdue principal of such Note shall bear interest at a rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Amortisation Yield specified on such Note. Such interest shall continue to accrue (on the same basis as referred to in Condition 5(I)) (both before and after judgment) to the Relevant Date.

6. **Redemption, Purchase and Cancellation**

(a) Final Redemption

Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled, each Note will be redeemed at its redemption amount ("**Redemption Amount**") being its Principal Amount or such other amount as is specified on such Note or if the Note is specified to have a variable redemption amount, the amount calculated in accordance with the basis specified on such Note on the applicable Maturity Date or other date(s) specified on such Note or, if such Note has applicable to it on the Maturity Date or such date(s) an interest basis which is specified on such Note as Variable Interest Rate, on the applicable Interest Payment Date falling in the applicable Redemption Month specified on such Note.

(b) Purchases

Subject to applicable laws and regulations, the Issuer may at any time purchase Notes at any price (provided that in the case of Bearer Notes they are purchased together with all unmatured Coupons and unexchanged Talons relating to them) in the open market or otherwise, provided that in any such case such purchase or purchases are in compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives. The Notes so purchased, while held by or on behalf of the Issuer, shall not entitle the holder to vote at any meetings of Noteholders and shall not be deemed to be outstanding for the purposes of calculating quorums at meetings of the Noteholders or for the purposes of Condition 11A or Condition 11B (as applicable).

(c) Early Redemption of Notes the Interest Basis for which is Zero Coupon

This Condition 6(c) applies to a Note the interest basis for which is specified on such Note as Zero Coupon.

The amount payable in respect of any Note upon redemption of such Note pursuant to Condition 6(d) or (e), if applicable, or upon it becoming due and payable as provided in Condition 9, shall be the Amortised Face Amount (calculated as provided below) of such Note

Subject to Condition 6(c)(iii), the "Amortised Face Amount" of any Note shall be the sum of (A) the Reference Price specified on such Note and (B) the aggregate amortisation of the difference between the Reference Price and the Principal Amount of such Note from the Issue Date to the date on which the Note becomes due and payable calculated at a rate per annum (expressed as a percentage) equal to the Amortisation Yield specified on such Note applied to the Reference Price in the manner specified on such Note. Where the specified calculation is to be made for a period of less than one year, it shall be made using the applicable Fixed Rate Day Count Fraction.

If the amount payable in respect of any Note upon redemption of such Note pursuant to Condition 6(d) or (e), if applicable, or upon it becoming due and payable as provided in Condition 9, is not paid when due, the amount due and payable in respect of such Note shall be the Amortised Face Amount of such Note as defined in Condition 6(c)(ii), except that Condition 6 shall have effect as though the reference therein to the date on which the Note becomes due and payable were replaced by a reference to the Relevant Date. The calculation of the Amortised Face Amount in accordance with this Condition 6(c)(iii) will continue to be made (both before and after judgment) until the Relevant Date unless the Relevant Date falls on or after the Maturity Date, in which case the amount due and payable shall be the Principal Amount of such Note together with any interest which may accrue on such Note in accordance with Condition 5(IV).

(d) Redemption at the Option of the Issuer

If so provided on a Note, the Issuer may, subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives, on giving to the holder of such Note irrevocable notice in accordance with Condition 15 of not more nor less than the number of days specified on such Note (which shall be not less than 5 business days) redeem all or, if so specified on such Note, some of the Series of Notes of which such Note forms part, on the date or dates specified on such Notes (which shall, in the case of a Note which has applicable to it at the time of redemption an interest basis which is specified on such Note as Variable Interest Rate, be an Interest Payment Date) at the amount specified on such Note as the Call Redemption Amount together with interest accrued to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption. All Notes in respect of which any such notice is given shall be redeemed on the date specified in such notice in accordance with this Condition 6(d). If some only of the Notes of a Series are to be redeemed at any time, the Notes to be redeemed shall be determined by the drawing of lots. In the case of a partial redemption by way of lot, the notice to Noteholders shall also contain the serial numbers and Principal Amount of the Notes to be redeemed, which shall have been drawn in such place and in such manner as

10218360267-v8 - 17 - 70-41025765

may be fair and reasonable in the circumstances, taking account of prevailing market practices, subject to compliance with any applicable laws and Exchange requirements.

(e) Redemption at the Option of Noteholders

If so provided on a Note, the Issuer shall, subject to compliance with all relevant laws, regulations and directives, at the option of the holder of such Note, redeem such Note on the date or dates specified on such Note (which shall, in the case of a Note which has applicable to it at the time of redemption an interest basis which is specified on such Note as Variable Interest Rate, be an Interest Payment Date) at the amount specified on such Note as the Put Redemption Amount together with interest accrued to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption. To exercise such option the holder must deposit such Note with any Paying Agent (in the case of Bearer Notes) or the Registrar or any Transfer Agent (in the case of Registered Notes) at their respective specified offices, together with a duly completed notice of redemption ("Redemption Notice") in the form obtainable from any Agent not more nor less than the number of days specified on such Note prior to the relevant date for redemption. Unless otherwise specified on such Note, no Note (or Redemption Notice) so deposited may be withdrawn (except as provided in the Fiscal Agency Agreement) without the prior consent of the Issuer. Notice of not more nor less than the number of days specified on such Note (which shall be not less than 15 business days) of the commencement of any period for the deposit of Notes for redemption pursuant to this Condition 6(e) shall be given by the Issuer to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 15.

(f) Cancellation

All Notes redeemed or purchased in accordance with this Condition 6, and any unmatured Coupons or Talons attached to or purchased with them, will be cancelled forthwith and may not be resold or re-issued.

7. **Payments**

(a) Bearer Notes

- (i) Payments of Principal and Interest: Payments of principal and interest in respect of Bearer Notes will, subject as mentioned below, be made against presentation and surrender of the relevant Bearer Notes or Coupons, as the case may be, at the specified office of any Paying Agent outside the United States and its possessions:
 - (1) in respect of payments denominated in a Specified Currency other than U.S. dollars, Euro or Sterling, at the option of the holder either by a cheque in such Specified Currency drawn on, or by transfer to an account in such Specified Currency maintained by the payee with a bank in the Relevant Financial Centre of such Specified Currency, which in the case of Australian dollars shall be Melbourne and which in the case of New Zealand dollars shall be Wellington;
 - (2) in respect of payments denominated in U.S. dollars, subject to Condition 7(a)(ii), at the option of the holder either by a U.S. dollar cheque drawn on a bank in New York City or by transfer to a U.S. dollar account maintained by the payee with a bank outside the United States;
 - in respect of payments denominated in Euro by cheque or transfer to a Euro account with a bank in a city in which banks have access to the TARGET System;
 - (4) in respect of payments denominated in Sterling, by a Sterling cheque drawn on, or, at the option of the holder or by transfer to a Sterling account with, a bank in the City of London; or
 - (5) as may otherwise be specified on such Notes.

- (ii) Payments in the United States: Notwithstanding the foregoing, payments in respect of Bearer Notes denominated in U.S. dollars may be made at the specified office of any Paying Agent in New York City in the same manner as aforesaid if (1) the Maturity Date of such Bearer Notes is not more than one year from the Issue Date for such Bearer Notes or (2) (a) the Issuer shall have appointed Paying Agents with specified offices outside the United States with the reasonable expectation that such Paying Agents would be able to make payment of the amounts on the Bearer Notes in the manner provided above when due, (b) payment in full of such amounts at all such offices is illegal or effectively precluded by exchange controls or other similar restrictions on payment or receipt of such amounts and (c) such payment is then permitted by United States law. If, under such circumstances, a Bearer Note is presented for payment of principal at the specified office of any Paying Agent in the United States or its possessions in circumstances where interest (if any is payable against presentation of the Bearer Note) is not to be paid there, the relevant Paying Agent will annotate the Bearer Note with the record of the principal paid and return it to the holder for the obtaining of interest elsewhere.
- (iii) Payments on Business Days: Subject as provided on a Note, if any date for payment in respect of any Bearer Note or Coupon comprising all or part of a Tranche is not a business day, the holder shall not be entitled to payment until the next following business day nor to any interest or other sum in respect of such postponed payment. In this Condition 7(a), "business day" means a day on which banks are open for business in the relevant place of presentation and:
 - (1) (in the case of a payment in a Specified Currency other than Euro) where payment is to be made by transfer to an account maintained with a bank in the relevant Specified Currency, on which dealings may be carried on in the Relevant Financial Centre of such Specified Currency; or
 - (2) (in the case of payment in Euro) which is a TARGET Business Day.

If the due date for redemption or repayment of any Bearer Note is not a due date for payment of interest, interest accrued from the preceding due date for payment of interest or the Interest Commencement Date, as the case may be, shall only be payable against presentation (and surrender if appropriate) of the relevant Bearer Note. Interest accrued on a Bearer Note the interest basis for which is specified on such Note as Zero Coupon from its Maturity Date shall be payable on repayment of such Bearer Note against presentation thereof.

(b) Registered Notes

- (i) Payments of Principal: payments of principal in respect of Registered Notes shall be made against surrender of the relevant Certificates representing such Notes at the specified office of any of the Transfer Agents or of the Registrar and in the manner provided in paragraph (ii) below. If the amount of principal being paid is less than the Principal Amount of the relevant Registered Note, the Registrar will annotate the Register with the amount of principal so paid and will (if so requested by the Republic or a Noteholder) issue a new Certificate with a Principal Amount equal to the remaining unpaid Principal Amount.
- (ii) Payments of Interest: Interest on Registered Notes shall be paid to the person shown on the Register at the close of business on the fifteenth day before the due date for payment thereof (the "Record Date"). Payments of interest on each Registered Note shall be made in the relevant currency by cheque drawn on a Bank and mailed to the holder (or to the first-named of joint holders) of such Note at its address appearing in the Register. Upon application by the holder to the specified office of the Registrar or any Transfer Agent before the Record Date, such payment of interest may be made by transfer to an account in the relevant currency maintained by the payee with a Bank. For these purposes, a "Bank"

means a bank in the Relevant Financial Centre for such currency and, in the case of euro, in a city in which banks have access to the TARGET System.

- (iii) Payment Initiation: Where payment is to be made by transfer to an account in the relevant Specified Currency, payment instructions (for value the due date, or if that is not a Relevant Business Day, for value the first following day which is a Relevant Business Day) will be initiated, and, where payment is to be made by cheque, the cheque will be mailed on the last day on which the Registrar is open for business preceding the due date for payment or, in the case of payments of principal where the relevant Certificate has not been surrendered at the specified office of any Transfer Agent, on a day on which the Registrar is open for business and on which the relevant Certificate is surrendered.
- (iv) Delay in Payment: Noteholders will not be entitled to any interest or other payment for any delay after the due date in receiving the amount due on a Note if the due date is not a Relevant Business Day, if the Noteholder is late in surrendering or cannot surrender its Certificate (if required to do so) or if a cheque mailed in accordance with Condition 7(b)(ii) arrives after the due date for payment.
- (v) Payment Not Made in Full: If the amount of principal or interest which is due on any Registered Note is not paid in full, the Registrar will annotate the Register with a record of the amount of principal or interest, if any, in fact paid on such Registered Note.
- (c) Payments Subject to Law, etc.

All payments are subject in all cases to any fiscal or other laws, regulations and directives applicable in the place of payment, but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 8. No commission or expenses shall be charged to the Noteholders or Couponholders in respect of such payments.

(d) Appointment of Agents

The Fiscal Agent, the Paying Agents, the Registrar, the Transfer Agents and the Calculation Agent initially appointed by the Issuer and their respective specified offices are listed below. The Fiscal Agent, the Paying Agents, the Registrar, Transfer Agents and the Calculation Agent(s) act solely as agents of the Issuer and do not assume any obligation or relationship of agency or trust for or with any Noteholder or Couponholder. The Issuer reserves the right at any time to vary or terminate the appointment of the Fiscal Agent, any other Paying Agent, the Registrar, any Transfer Agent or the Calculation Agent(s) and to appoint additional or other Paying Agents or Transfer Agents, in each case in accordance with the provisions of the Fiscal Agency Agreement and provided that the Issuer shall at all times maintain (i) a Fiscal Agent, (ii) a Registrar in relation to Registered Notes, (iii) a Transfer Agent in relation to Registered Notes, (iv) one or more Calculation Agent(s) where the Conditions so require, (v) Paying Agents having specified offices in at least two major European cities, and (vi) such other agents as may be required by any other stock exchange on which the Notes may be listed.

In addition, the Issuer shall forthwith appoint a Paying Agent in New York City in respect of any Bearer Notes denominated in U.S. dollars in the circumstances described in Condition 7(a)(ii).

Notice of any such change or any change in the specified office of any Agent will promptly be given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 15.

(e) Unmatured Coupons and Unexchanged Talons

(i) Bearer Notes the interest basis for which is specified on such Notes as being Fixed Interest Rate, other than Notes which are specified to be Long Maturity Notes (being Notes whose Principal Amount is less than the aggregate interest payable thereon on the relevant dates for payment of interest under Condition 5(I)(a)),

should be surrendered for payment of principal together with all unmatured Coupons (if any) appertaining thereto, failing which an amount equal to the face value of each missing unmatured Coupon (or, in the case of payment not being made in full, that proportion of the amount of such missing unmatured Coupon which the sum of principal so paid bears to the total principal due) will be deducted from the Principal Amount due for payment on such Note. Any amount so deducted will be paid in the manner mentioned above against surrender of such missing Coupon within a period of 10 years from the Relevant Date for the payment of such principal (whether or not such Coupon has become void pursuant to Condition 10). If the date for payment of principal is any date other than a date for payment of interest, the accrued interest on such principal shall be paid only upon presentation of the relevant Note.

- (ii) If so specified on a Bearer Note, upon the due date for redemption of any Bearer Note either the interest basis for which is specified on such Note as being Variable Interest Rate at any time or which is a Long Maturity Note, unmatured Coupons relating to such Note (whether or not attached) shall become void and no payment shall be made in respect of such Coupons.
- (iii) Upon the due date for redemption of any Bearer Note, any unexchanged Talon relating to such Note (whether or not attached) shall become void and no Coupon shall be delivered in respect of such Talon.
- (iv) Where any Bearer Note either the interest basis for which is specified on such Note as being Variable Interest Rate at any time or which is a Long Maturity Note, is presented for redemption without all unmatured Coupons relating to it, and where any Bearer Note is presented for redemption without any unexchanged Talon relating to it, redemption of such Bearer Note shall be made only against the provisions of such indemnity as the Issuer may require.

(f) Talons

Except where such Talon has become void pursuant to Condition 7(e)(iii), on or after the Reference Date or, as the case may be, the Interest Payment Date for the final Coupon forming part of a Coupon sheet issued in respect of any Note, the Talon forming part of such Coupon sheet may be surrendered at the specified office of the Fiscal Agent in exchange for a further Coupon sheet (but excluding any Coupons which may have become void pursuant to Condition 10).

8. Taxation

All payments in respect of the Notes and the Coupons will be made free and clear of, and without withholding or deduction for, or on account of, any taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges (together, the "Taxes") of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by or within The Republic of Cyprus or any administrative subdivision of, or any authority in or of The Republic of Cyprus having power to tax, unless such withholding or deduction is required by law. In such event, the Issuer shall pay such additional amounts as will result in receipt by the Noteholders or, as the case may be, the Couponholders of such amounts as would have been received by them had no such withholding or deduction been required, except that no such additional amounts shall be payable with respect to any Note or Coupon:

- (a) in the case of Bearer Notes or Coupons:
 - (i) to a holder (or to a third party on behalf of a holder) where such holder is liable to such Taxes in respect of such Bearer Note or Coupon by reason of it having some connection with the relevant jurisdiction other than the mere holding of such Bearer Note or Coupon; or
 - (ii) presented for payment more than 30 days after the Relevant Date except to the extent that the holder thereof would have been entitled to additional amounts on presenting the same for payment on the last day of such period of 30 days.

- (b) in the case of Registered Notes:
 - (i) to a holder (or to a third party on behalf of a holder) where such holder is liable to such Taxes in respect of such Registered Note by reason of it having some connection with the relevant jurisdiction other than the mere holding of such Registered Note or the receipt of the relevant payment in respect thereof; or
 - (ii) if the Certificate in respect of such Registered Note is required to be surrendered and is surrendered more than 30 days after the Relevant Date except to the extent that the holder thereof would have been entitled to additional amounts on presenting the same for payment on the last day of such period of 30 days.

As used in these Conditions, "Relevant Date" in respect of any Note or Coupon means the date on which payment in respect thereof first becomes due or (if the full amount of the money payable has not been received by the Fiscal Agent on or prior to such due date) the date on which notice is duly given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 15 that such moneys have been so received and are available for payment. References in these Conditions to "principal" shall be deemed to include "Amortised Face Amount", "Redemption Amount", "Call Redemption Amount", "Put Redemption Amount" and "Early Redemption Amount" and any premium payable in respect of the Notes and any reference to "principal" and/or "interest" shall be deemed to include any additional amounts which may be payable under this Condition 8.

9. **Events of Default**

(a) Events of Default

If any of the following events (each an "Event of Default") occurs and is continuing, then all of the Notes of the relevant Series may by written notice addressed and delivered by the holders of at least 25 per cent. of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes of such Series to the Fiscal Agent, be declared immediately due and payable at the Early Redemption Amount specified on such Notes or, if none is so specified, at the Principal Amount specified on such Notes, together with interest accrued to the date of redemption or, in relation to Notes of a Series the interest basis for which is specified on such Notes as Zero Coupon, the Amortised Face Amount of such Notes whereupon, unless prior to the date of such notice the event of default has been waived or the Issuer shall have cured or otherwise rectified the relevant event of default, all of the Notes of such Series shall become immediately due and payable as aforesaid:

(i) Non-Payment

The Issuer fails to pay any principal of or interest on any of the Notes when due and such failure continues for a period of 20 days; or

(ii) Breach of Other Obligations

The Issuer does not perform or comply with any one or more of its other obligations in the Notes which default is incapable of remedy or, if capable of remedy, is not remedied within 60 days after notice of such default shall have been given to the Fiscal Agent by any Noteholder; or

(iii) Cross Default

Any present or future indebtedness becomes due and payable prior to the stated maturity thereof by reason of default, or any such indebtedness is not paid at the maturity thereof (as extended by any grace period originally applicable thereto), or any such indebtedness in the form of a guarantee or indemnity is not honoured when due and called upon (as extended by any grace period originally applicable thereto), provided that the aggregate amount of all indebtedness in respect of which one or more of the events mentioned above in this paragraph (iii) have occurred equals or exceeds EUR 100,000,000 or its equivalent in any other currency or currencies; or

(iv) Moratorium

A moratorium on the payment of principal of, or interest on, all or any part of the indebtedness of the Issuer or any State Agency shall be declared or any such moratorium occurs de facto or the Issuer or any State Agency is unable to pay its debts as they fall due or commences negotiations with any one or more of its creditors with a view to the general readjustment or rescheduling of all or any part of its indebtedness; or

(v) Unlawfulness or Invalidity

The validity of the Notes is contested by the Issuer or any person acting on behalf of the Issuer or the Issuer or any person acting on behalf of the Issuer shall deny any of the Issuer's obligations under the Notes or it is or will become unlawful for the Issuer to perform or comply with any of its obligations under or in respect of the Notes or the Fiscal Agency Agreement or any of such obligations shall be or become unenforceable or invalid; or

(vi) IMF

The Republic of Cyprus ceases to be a member of the IMF or to be eligible to use the general resources of the IMF pursuant to Article 26 of the IMF Articles of Agreement; or

(vii) Consents etc.

Any regulation, decree, consent, approval, licence or other authority necessary to enable the Issuer to enter into or perform its obligations under the Notes or the Fiscal Agency Agreement or for the validity or enforceability thereof shall expire, be withheld, revoked, terminated or otherwise cease to remain in full force and effect or shall be modified in a manner which adversely affects any rights or claims of any of the Noteholders or Couponholders.

The Issuer shall give notice of any such declaration promptly to Noteholders.

(b) Rescission of the Declaration of Acceleration

If the Fiscal Agent receives notice in writing from holders of at least 50 per cent. in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes of a Series to the effect that the Event(s) of Default giving rise to a declaration of acceleration made pursuant to Condition 9(a) in respect of the Notes of such Series is or are cured or is or are waived by them following any such declaration and that such holders request the Fiscal Agent to rescind the relevant declaration, the Fiscal Agent shall, by notice in writing to the Issuer and the Noteholders of such Series, rescind the relevant declaration, whereupon it shall be rescinded and shall have no further effect. No such rescission shall affect any other or any subsequent Event of Default or any right of any Noteholder in relation thereto.

(c) Terms

As used in these Conditions:

"IMF" means the International Monetary Fund; and

"State Agency" means any agency, authority, central bank, department, government, minister, ministry, official or public or statutory person (whether autonomous or not) of, or of the government of, the Republic of Cyprus.

10. **Prescription**

Claims against the Issuer for payment in respect of the Notes and Coupons (which, for this purpose shall not include Talons) shall be prescribed and become void unless made within 10 years (in the

case of principal) and 5 years (in the case of interest) from the appropriate Relevant Date in respect thereof.

11. Meetings of Noteholders and Modification

11A. 2012 Collective Action Clause

The provisions of this Condition 11A will apply if "2012 CAC" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement:

(a) General

The Fiscal Agency Agreement contains provisions for convening meetings of Noteholders of a Series to consider matters relating to the Notes of such Series, including the modification of any provision of these Conditions or the provisions of the Fiscal Agency Agreement. A meeting of Noteholders may be held electronically in accordance with the procedures set out in the Fiscal Agency Agreement. The following is a summary of selected provisions contained in the Fiscal Agency Agreement.

For the purposes of this Condition 11A:

"Cross-Series Modification" means a modification involving (i) the Notes of any Series or any agreement governing the issuance or administration of the Notes of any Series (including the Fiscal Agency Agreement and/or the Deed of Covenant), and (ii) the Debt Securities of one or more other series or any agreement governing the issuance or administration of such other Debt Securities;

"**Debt Securities**" means the Notes of any Series and any other bills, bonds, debentures, notes or other debt securities issued directly or indirectly, or guaranteed, by the Issuer in one or more series with an original stated maturity of more than one year, and includes any such obligation, irrespective of its original stated maturity, that formerly constituted a component part of a Debt Security;

"holder", in relation to a Note of any Series, means (i) in the case of Registered Notes, the person in whose name the Note of such Series is registered in the books and records of the Issuer and/or the Registrar or (ii) in the case of Bearer Notes, the bearer of the Note of such series, and, in relation to any other Debt Security, means the person the Issuer is entitled to treat as the legal holder of the Debt Security under the law governing that Debt Security;

"Modification", in relation to the Notes of any Series, means any modification, amendment, supplement or waiver of the Conditions of the Notes of such Series or any agreement governing the issuance or administration of the Notes of such Series (including the Fiscal Agency Agreement and/or the Deed of Covenant), and has the same meaning in relation to the Debt Securities of any other series, save that any of the foregoing references to the Notes of any Series or any agreement governing the issuance or administration of the Notes of such Series shall be read as references to such other Debt Securities or any agreement governing the issuance or administration of such other Debt Securities;

"outstanding", in relation to any Note of a Series, means a Note of such Series that is outstanding within the meaning of Condition 11A(j) below and, in relation to the Debt Securities of any other series, will be determined in accordance with Condition 11A(k) below and the applicable terms and conditions of that Debt Security;

"Reserved Matter", in relation to the Notes of any Series, means any modification of the terms and conditions of the Notes of such Series or of any agreement governing the issuance or administration of the Notes of such Series (including the Fiscal Agency Agreement and/or the Deed of Covenant) that would:

- (a) change the date on which any amount is payable on the Notes of such Series;
- (b) reduce any amount, including any overdue amount, payable on the Notes of such Series;

- (c) change the method used to calculate any amount payable on the Notes of such Series;
- (d) reduce the redemption price for the Notes of such Series or change any date on which the Notes of such Series may be redeemed;
- (e) change the currency or place of payment of any amount payable on the Notes of such Series;
- (f) impose any condition on or otherwise modify the Issuer's obligation to make payments on the Notes of such Series;
- (g) change any payment-related circumstance under which the Notes of such Series may be declared due and payable prior to their stated maturity;
- (h) change the seniority or ranking of the Notes of such Series;
- (i) change the law governing the Notes of such Series;
- (j) change any court to whose jurisdiction the Issuer has submitted or any immunity waived by the Issuer in relation to any proceedings arising out of or in connection with the Notes of such Series;
- (k) change the principal amount of outstanding Notes of such Series or, in the case of a Cross-Series Modification, the principal amount of Debt Securities of any other series required to approve a proposed modification in relation to the Notes of such Series, the principal amount of outstanding Notes of such Series required for a quorum to be present, or the rules for determining whether a Note of such Series is outstanding for these purposes; or
- (l) change the definition of a Reserved Matter,

and has the same meaning in relation to the Debt Securities of any other Series save that any of the foregoing references to the Notes or any agreement governing the issuance or administration of the Notes (including the Fiscal Agency Agreement and/or the Deed of Covenant) shall be read as references to such other Debt Securities or any agreement governing the issuance or administration of such other Debt Securities; and

"Series" means, for the purposes of this Condition 11(A), a tranche of Debt Securities, together with any further tranche or tranches of Debt Securities that, in relation to each other and to the original tranche of Debt Securities, are (i) identical in all respects except for their date of issuance or first payment date, and (ii) expressed to be consolidated and form a single series, and includes the Notes of any Series and any further issuance of Notes of such Series.

(b) Convening Meetings of Noteholders

A meeting of Noteholders of a Series:

- (i) may be convened by the Issuer at any time; and
- (ii) will be convened by the Issuer if an Event of Default in relation to the Notes has occurred and is continuing and a meeting is requested in writing by the holders of not less than 10 per cent. of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes of the relevant Series then outstanding.

(c) Quorum

- (i) The quorum at any meeting at which Noteholders of any Series will vote on a proposed Modification to, or a proposed Modification of:
 - (a) a Reserved Matter will be one or more persons present or represented at the meeting and holding not less than 66 2/3 per cent. of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes of such Series then outstanding; and
 - (b) a matter other than a Reserved Matter will be one or more persons present or represented at the meeting and holding not less than 50 per cent. of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes of such Series then outstanding.

- (ii) The quorum for any adjourned meeting will be one or more persons present or represented at the meeting and holding:
 - (a) not less than 66 2/3 per cent. of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes of such Series then outstanding in the case of a proposed Reserved Matter modification; and
 - (b) not less than 25 per cent. of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes of such Series then outstanding in the case of a non-Reserved Matter modification.

(d) Non-Reserved Matters

The terms and conditions of the Notes of a Series and any agreement governing the issuance or administration of the Notes of a Series (including the Agency Agreement and the Deed of Covenant) may be modified in relation to any matter other than a Reserved Matter with the consent of the Issuer and:

- (i) the affirmative vote of a holder or holders of more than 50 per cent. of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes of such Series represented at a duly called and quorate meeting of Noteholders of such Series; or
- (ii) a written resolution signed by or on behalf of, or the approval of a resolution by way of electronic consent of, a holder or holders of more than 50 per cent. of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes of such Series.

(e) Reserved Matters

Except as provided by Condition 11A(f) below, the terms and conditions of the Notes of a Series and any agreement governing the issuance or administration of the Notes of a Series (including the Fiscal Agency Agreement and/or the Deed of Covenant) may be modified in relation to a Reserved Matter with the consent of the Issuer and:

- (i) the affirmative vote of a holder or holders of not less than 75 per cent. of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes of such Series represented at a duly called and quorate meeting of Noteholders of such Series; or
- (ii) a written resolution signed by or on behalf of, or the approval of a resolution by way of electronic consent of, a holder or holders of not less than 66 2/3 per cent. of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes of such Series then outstanding.

(f) Cross-Series Modifications

In the case of a Cross-Series Modification, the terms and conditions of the Notes of a Series and Debt Securities of any other series, and any agreement governing the issuance or administration of the Notes of a Series (including the Fiscal Agency Agreement and/or the Deed of Covenant) or Debt Securities of such other series, may be modified in relation to a Reserved Matter with the consent of the Issuer and:

- (i) the affirmative vote of not less than 75 per cent. of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Debt Securities represented at separate duly called and quorate meetings of the holders of the Debt Securities of all the series (taken in the aggregate) that would be affected by the proposal and/or proposed modification; or
- (ii) a written resolution signed by or on behalf of, or the approval of a resolution by way of electronic consent of, the holders of not less than 66 2/3 per cent. of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Debt Securities of all the series (taken in the aggregate) that would be affected by the proposal and/or proposed modification; and
- (iii) the affirmative vote of more than 66 2/3 per cent. of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Debt Securities represented at separate duly called and quorate meetings of the holders of each series of Debt Securities (taken individually) that would be affected by the proposal and/or proposed modification; or
- (iv) a written resolution signed by or on behalf of, or the approval of a resolution by way of electronic consent of, the holders of more than 50 per cent. of the aggregate principal

amount of the then outstanding Debt Securities of each series (taken individually) that would be affected by the proposal and/or proposed modification.

A separate meeting will be called and held, or a separate written resolution signed, or a separate approval requested by way of an electronic consent, in relation to the proposed modification of the Notes of a Series and the proposed modification of each other affected series of Debt Securities.

(g) Proposed Cross-Series Modifications

A proposed Cross-Series Modification may include one or more proposed alternative modifications of the terms and conditions of each affected series of Debt Securities or of any agreement governing the issuance or administration of any affected series of Debt Securities, provided that all such proposed alternative modifications are addressed to, and may be accepted by, any holder of any Debt Security of any affected series.

(h) Partial Cross-Series Modification

If a proposed Cross-Series Modification is not approved in relation to a Reserved Matter in accordance with Condition 11A(f) above, but would have been so approved if the proposed modification had involved only the Notes of a Series and one or more, but less than all, of the other series of Debt Securities affected by the proposed modification, that Cross-Series Modification will be deemed to have been approved, notwithstanding Condition 11A(f) above, in relation to the Notes of such Series and Debt Securities of each other series whose modification would have been approved in accordance with Condition 11A(f) above if the proposed modification had involved only the Notes of such Series and Debt Securities of such other series, provided that:

- (i) prior to the Record Date for the proposed Cross-Series Modification, the Republic has publicly notified holders of the Notes of such Series and other affected Debt Securities of the conditions under which the proposed Cross-Series Modification will be deemed to have been approved if it is approved in the manner described above in relation to the Notes of such Series and some but not all of the other affected series of Debt Securities; and
- (ii) those conditions are satisfied in connection with the proposed Cross-Series Modification.

(i) Written Resolutions

A "written resolution" is a resolution in writing signed by or on behalf of holders of the requisite majority of the Notes of a Series and will be valid for all purposes as if it was a resolution passed at a quorate meeting of Noteholders of such Series duly convened and held in accordance with these provisions. A written resolution may be set out in one or more documents in like form each signed by or on behalf of one or more Noteholders of such Series.

(j) Binding Effect

A resolution duly passed at a quorate meeting of holders duly convened and held in accordance with these provisions, and a written resolution duly signed by the requisite majority of Noteholders of any Series, will be binding on all Noteholders of such Series, whether or not the holder was present at the meeting, voted for or against the resolution or signed the written resolution.

(k) Manifest Error, Technical Amendments, etc.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the terms and conditions of the Notes of a Series and any agreement governing the issuance or administration of the Notes of a Series (including the Fiscal Agency Agreement and/or the Deed of Covenant) may be modified by the Issuer without the consent of Noteholders of such Series:

- (i) to correct a manifest error or cure an ambiguity; or
- (ii) if the modification is of a formal or technical nature or for the benefit of Noteholders of such Series.

The Issuer will publish the details of any modification of the Notes of a Series made pursuant to this Condition 11A(i) within ten days of the modification becoming legally effective.

(1) Outstanding Notes

In determining how many Notes are outstanding for the purposes of Condition 9 or whether holders of the requisite principal amount of outstanding Notes of a Series have voted in favour of a proposed modification or whether a quorum is present at any meeting of Noteholders of a Series called to vote on a proposed modification, a Note of a Series will be deemed to be not outstanding, and may not be voted for or against a proposed modification or counted in determining whether a quorum is present, if, on the Record Date for the proposed modification:

- the Note has previously been cancelled or delivered for cancellation or held for reissuance but not reissued;
- (ii) the Note has previously been called for redemption in accordance with its terms or previously become due and payable at maturity or otherwise and the Republic has previously satisfied its obligation to make all payments due in respect of the Note in accordance with its terms;
- (iii) the Note has become void or claims in respect of the Note have become prescribed;
- (iv) the Note is a mutilated or defaced Bearer Note which has been surrendered in exchange for a replacement Note;
- (v) (for the purpose only of determining how many Bearer Notes are outstanding and without prejudice to their status for any other purpose) the Note is alleged to have been lost, stolen or destroyed and in respect of which a replacement Note has been issued;
- (vi) the Note is (i) a Temporary Global Note which has been exchanged for a Permanent Global Note pursuant to its provisions or (ii) a Permanent Global Note which has been exchanged for definitive Bearer Notes pursuant to its provisions;
- (vii) the Note is an Unrestricted Global Certificate which has been exchanged for an interest in a Restricted Global Certificate pursuant to its provisions, and vice versa;
- (viii) the Note is a Global Certificate which has been exchanged for a definitive Certificate pursuant to its provisions; or
- (ix) the Note is held by the Republic, by a department, ministry or agency of the Republic, or by a corporation, trust or other legal entity that is controlled by the Republic or a department, ministry or agency of the Republic and, in the case of a Note held by any such above-mentioned corporation, trust or other legal entity, the holder of the Note does not have autonomy of decision, where:
 - (a) the holder of a Note for these purposes is the entity legally entitled to vote the Note for or against a proposed modification or, if different, the entity whose consent or instruction is by contract required, directly or indirectly, for the legally entitled holder to vote the Note for or against a proposed modification;
 - (b) a corporation, trust or other legal entity is controlled by the Republic or by a department, ministry or agency of the Republic if the Republic or any department, ministry or agency of the Republic has the power, directly or indirectly, through the ownership of voting securities or other ownership interests, by contract or otherwise, to direct the management of, or elect or appoint a majority of, the board of directors or other persons performing similar functions in lieu of, or in addition to, the board of directors of that legal entity; and

10218360267-v8 - 28 - 70-41025765

- (c) the holder of a Note has autonomy of decision if, under applicable law, rules or regulations and independent of any direct or indirect obligation the holder may have in relation to the Republic:
 - (I) the holder may not, directly or indirectly, take instruction from the Republic on how to vote on a proposed modification; or
 - (II) the holder, in determining how to vote on a proposed modification, is required to act in accordance with an objective prudential standard, in the interest of all of its stakeholders or in the holder's own interest; or
 - (III) the holder owes a fiduciary or similar duty to vote on a proposed modification in the interest of one or more persons other than a person whose holdings of Notes (if that person then held any Notes) would be deemed to be not outstanding under this Condition 11A(1).

Save for the purposes of Condition 11A(l)(ix), in the case of any Notes represented by an NGN, the Fiscal Agent shall rely on the records of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg in relation to any determination of the nominal amount outstanding of each NGN.

(m) Outstanding Debt Securities

In determining whether holders of the requisite principal amount of outstanding Debt Securities of another series have voted in favour of a proposed Cross-Series Modification or whether a quorum is present at any meeting of the holders of such Debt Securities called to vote on a proposed Cross-Series Modification, an affected Debt Security will be deemed to be not outstanding, and may not be voted for or against a proposed Cross-Series Modification or counted in determining whether a quorum is present, in accordance with the applicable terms and conditions of that Debt Security.

11B. 2022 Collective Action Clause

The provisions of this Condition 11B will apply if "2022 CAC" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement:

(a) General

The Fiscal Agency Agreement contains provisions for convening meetings of Noteholders of a Series to consider matters relating to the Notes of such Series, including the modification of any provision of these Conditions or the provisions of the Fiscal Agency Agreement. A meeting of Noteholders may be held electronically in accordance with the procedures set out in the Fiscal Agency Agreement. The following is a summary of selected provisions contained in the Fiscal Agency Agreement.

For the purposes of this Condition 0B:

"Cross-Series Modification" means a modification involving (i) the Notes of any Series or any agreement governing the issuance or administration of the Notes of any Series (including the Fiscal Agency Agreement and/or the Deed of Covenant), and (ii) the Debt Securities of one or more other series or any agreement governing the issuance or administration of such other Debt Securities;

"**Debt Securities**" means the Notes of any Series and any other bills, bonds, debentures, notes or other debt securities issued directly or indirectly, or guaranteed, by the Issuer in one or more series with an original stated maturity of more than one year, and includes any such obligation, irrespective of its original stated maturity, that formerly constituted a component part of a Debt Security;

"holder", in relation to a Note of any Series, means (i) in the case of Registered Notes, the person in whose name the Note of such Series is registered in the books and records of the

Issuer and/or the Registrar or (ii) in the case of Bearer Notes, the bearer of the Note of such series, and, in relation to any other Debt Security, means the person the Issuer is entitled to treat as the legal holder of the Debt Security under the law governing that Debt Security;

"Modification", in relation to the Notes of any Series, means (i) any modification, amendment, supplement or waiver of the Conditions of the Notes of such Series, (ii) any conversion, exchange or substitution of the Notes of such Series or (iii) any modification, amendment, supplement, waiver or substitution of any agreement governing the issuance or administration of the Notes of such Series (including the Fiscal Agency Agreement and/or the Deed of Covenant), and has the same meaning in relation to the Debt Securities of any other series, save that any of the foregoing references to the Notes of any Series or any agreement governing the issuance or administration of the Notes of such Series shall be read as references to such other Debt Securities or any agreement governing the issuance or administration of such other Debt Securities;

"outstanding", in relation to any Note of a Series, means a Note of such Series that is outstanding within the meaning of the Condition 10(j) below and the Fiscal Agency Agreement and, in relation to the Debt Securities of any other series, will be determined in accordance with Condition 10(k) below and the applicable terms and conditions of that Debt Security;

"Relevant Series" means, in relation to a proposed Cross-Series Modification, all those Series of Debt Securities, either specified in the relevant notice for convening a meeting or specified in connection with the associated draft written resolution or specified in the relevant notice given in connection with any proposal to be passed as an electronic consent, which are to be aggregated for voting purposes in connection with that proposed Cross-Series Modification;

"Reserved Matter", in relation to the Notes of any Series, means any modification of the terms and conditions of the Notes of such Series or of any agreement governing the issuance or administration of the Notes of such Series (including the Fiscal Agency Agreement and/or the Deed of Covenant) that would:

- (a) change the date on which any amount is payable on the Notes of such Series;
- (b) reduce any amount, including any overdue amount, payable on the Notes of such Series;
- (c) change the method used to calculate any amount payable on the Notes of such Series;
- (d) reduce the redemption price for the Notes of such Series or change any date on which the Notes of such Series may be redeemed;
- (e) change the place of payment of any amount payable on the Notes of such Series;
- (f) change the currency of any amount payable on the Notes of such Series or impose any condition on or otherwise modify the Issuer's obligation to make payments on the Notes of such Series;
- (g) change any payment-related circumstance under which the Notes of such Series may be declared due and payable prior to their stated maturity;
- (h) change the seniority or ranking of the Notes of such Series;
- (i) change the law governing the Notes of such Series;
- change any court to whose jurisdiction the Issuer has submitted or any immunity waived by the Issuer in relation to any proceedings arising out of or in connection with the Notes of such Series;

- (k) change the principal amount of outstanding Notes of such Series or, in the case of a Cross-Series Modification, the principal amount of Debt Securities of any other series required to approve a proposed modification in relation to the Notes of such Series, the principal amount of outstanding Notes of such Series required for a quorum to be present, or the rules for determining whether a Note of such Series is outstanding for these purposes; or
- (1) change the definition of a "Reserved Matter", a "Cross-Series Modification", "Uniformly Applicable" or a "Relevant Series",

and has the same meaning in relation to the Debt Securities of any other Series save that any of the foregoing references to the Notes or any agreement governing the issuance or administration of the Notes (including the Fiscal Agency Agreement and/or the Deed of Covenant) shall be read as references to such other Debt Securities or any agreement governing the issuance or administration of such other Debt Securities;

"Series" means, for the purposes of this Condition 11B, a tranche of Debt Securities, together with any further tranche or tranches of Debt Securities that, in relation to each other and to the original tranche of Debt Securities, are (i) identical in all respects except for their date of issuance or first payment date, and (ii) expressed to be consolidated and form a single series, and includes the Notes of any Series and any further issuance of Notes of such Series; and

"Uniformly Applicable" means a modification by which holders of Debt Securities of all Relevant Series are invited to:

- exchange, convert or substitute their Debt Securities or amend the terms and conditions of their Debt Securities on a basis which would have the effect of reducing the principal amount outstanding by the same proportion under all Relevant Series;
- (b) exchange, convert or substitute their debt securities or amend the terms and conditions of their Debt Securities on a basis which would have the effect of extending the respective date on which principal amounts are payable under all Relevant Series by either the same period or by the same proportion;
- (c) exchange, convert or substitute their Debt Securities on the same terms for (x) the same new instrument or other consideration or (y) a new instrument, new instruments or other consideration from an identical menu of instruments or other consideration;
- (d) amend the terms and conditions of their Debt Securities such that each Relevant Series is amended on a basis which would, following implementation of such amendments, result in the amended Debt Securities having identical provisions (other than provisions which are necessarily different having regard to different currency of issuance);
- (e) in relation to the following Reserved Matters only, namely the Reserved Matters set out in any of the sub-paragraphs (e), (g), (h), (i), (j), (k) and (l) of the definition of "Reserved Matter", amend the same term or terms in the terms and conditions of their Debt Securities such that each Relevant Series is amended on a basis which would, following implementation of such amendments, result in the amended Debt Securities being the subject of an identical amendment; or
- (f) amend the terms and conditions of their Debt Securities such that each Relevant Series is amended on a basis which would, following implementation of such amendments, result in one or more interest payment dates being extended by the same period other than where such an extension results from any extension of maturity in which case sub-paragraph (b) of this definition of "Uniformly Applicable" shall apply.

10218360267-v8 - 31 - 70-41025765

(b) Convening Meetings of Noteholders

A meeting of Noteholders of a Series:

- (i) may be convened by the Issuer at any time; and
- (ii) will be convened by the Issuer if an Event of Default in relation to the Notes of such Series has occurred and is continuing and a meeting is requested in writing by the holders of not less than 10 per cent. of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes of such Series then outstanding.

Any such meeting may be conducted by electronic means or by other means customary at the time, and may not necessarily require two or more persons to be physically present in the same location.

(c) Quorum

- (i) The quorum at any meeting at which Noteholders of any Series will vote on a proposed Modification to, or a proposed Modification of:
 - (A) a Reserved Matter under Condition 10(e) below will be one or more persons present or represented at the meeting and holding not less than 66 2/3 per cent. of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes of such Series then outstanding; and
 - (B) a matter other than a Reserved Matter under Condition 10(d) below will be one or more persons present or represented at the meeting and holding not less than 50 per cent. of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes of such Series then outstanding.
- (ii) Where a meeting is subject to a quorum pursuant sub-paragraph (i) above, if such quorum is not present within thirty minutes of the time appointed for a meeting, the meeting may be adjourned for a period of not more than 42 days and not less than 14 days as determined by the appointed chair of the meeting. The quorum for any such adjourned meeting will be one or more persons present or represented at the meeting and holding:
 - (A) not less than 66 2/3 per cent. of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes of such Series then outstanding in the case of a proposed Reserved Matter modification voted under Condition 10(e) below; and
 - (B) not less than 25 per cent. of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes of such Series then outstanding in the case of a non-Reserved Matter modification voted under Condition 10(d) below.

The provisions of this Condition 10(c) shall not apply in relation to any Cross-Series Modification voted pursuant to Condition 10(f).

(d) Non-Reserved Matters

The terms and conditions of the Notes of a Series and any agreement governing the issuance or administration of the Notes of a Series (including the Agency Agreement or the Deed of Covenant) may be modified in relation to any matter other than a Reserved Matter with the consent of the Issuer and:

- (i) the affirmative vote of a holder or holders of more than 50 per cent. of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes of such Series represented at a duly called meeting of Noteholders of such Series; or
- (ii) a written resolution signed by or on behalf of, or the approval of a resolution by way of electronic consent of, a holder or holders of more than 50 per cent. of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes of such Series.

(e) Reserved Matters

Except as provided by Condition 10(f) below, the terms and conditions of the Notes of a Series and any agreement governing the issuance or administration of the Notes of a Series (including the Fiscal Agency Agreement and/or the Deed of Covenant) may be modified in relation to a Reserved Matter with the consent of the Issuer and:

- (i) the affirmative vote of a holder or holders of not less than 75 per cent. of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes of such Series represented at a duly called meeting of Noteholders of such Series; or
- (ii) a written resolution signed by or on behalf of, or the approval of a resolution by way of electronic consent of, a holder or holders of not less than 66 2/3 per cent. of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes of such Series then outstanding.

(f) Cross-Series Modifications

Reserved Matters: in the case of a Cross-Series Modification, the terms and conditions of the Notes of a Series and Debt Securities of any other Relevant Series, and any agreement governing the issuance or administration of the Notes of a Series (including the Fiscal Agency Agreement and/or the Deed of Covenant) or any other Relevant Series, may be modified in relation to a Reserved Matter with the consent of the Issuer and:

- (i) the affirmative vote of holders of not less than 66 2/3 per cent. of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Debt Securities of all Relevant Series (taken in the aggregate); or
- (ii) a written resolution signed by or on behalf of, or the approval of a resolution by way of electronic consent of, the holders of not less than 66 2/3 per cent. of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Debt Securities of all Relevant Series (taken in the aggregate).

A separate meeting will be called and held, or a separate written resolution signed, or a separate approval requested by way of electronic consent, in relation to the proposed modification of the Notes of a Series and the proposed modification of each other Relevant Securities.

Non-Reserved Matters: in the case of a Cross-Series Modification, the terms and conditions of the Notes of a Series and Debt Securities of any other Relevant Series, and any agreement governing the issuance or administration of the Notes of a Series (including the Fiscal Agency Agreement and/or the Deed of Covenant) or any other Relevant Series, may be modified in relation to any matter other than a Reserved Matter with the consent of the Issuer and:

- (i) the affirmative vote of holders of more than 50 per cent. of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Debt Securities of all Relevant Series (taken in the aggregate); or
- (ii) a written resolution signed by or on behalf of, or the approval of a resolution by way of electronic consent of, the holders of more than 50 per cent. of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Debt Securities of all the Relevant Series (taken in the aggregate).

A separate meeting will be called and held, or a separate written resolution signed, or a separate approval requested by way of electronic consent, in relation to the proposed modification of the Notes of a Series and the proposed modification of each other Relevant Securities.

Additional provisions relating to Reserved Matters: in the case of a Cross-Series Modification in relation to a Reserved Matter, the following additional provisions shall apply:

10218360267-v8 - 33 - 70-41025765

- (i) such Cross-Series Modification must be Uniformly Applicable;
- (ii) any reference to amending the terms and conditions of Debt Securities in the definition of Uniformly Applicable shall extend to any agreement governing the issuance or administration thereof (including the Fiscal Agency Agreement and/or the Deed of Covenant);
- (iii) in order for any Cross-Series Modification under sub-paragraph (b) of the definition of Uniformly Applicable to be regarded as extending principal amounts by the same proportion, the result of (y) divided by (x) (rounded to two decimal places) shall be the same for each Relevant Series, where: (x) is the original residual maturity under a Relevant Series in effect immediately prior to the proposed effective date of such exchange, conversion, substitution or amendment (ignoring any acceleration thereof), expressed as a number of days; and (y) is the residual maturity thereof in effect immediately following such proposed effective date, expressed as a number of days;
- where no menu of options is offered, any such Cross-Series Modification under sub-paragraph (c) or (d) of the definition of Uniformly Applicable will not be considered Uniformly Applicable if, in the case of sub-paragraph (c) of such definition, each exchanging, converting or substituting holder of Debt Securities of any Relevant Series, or in the case of sub-paragraph (d) of such definition, each amending holder of Debt Securities of any Relevant Series, is not offered the same amount of consideration per amount of principal, the same amount of consideration per amount of interest accrued but unpaid and the same amount of consideration per amount of past due interest, respectively, as that offered, in the case of sub-paragraph (c) of such definition, to each other exchanging, converting or substituting holder of Debt Securities of any Relevant Series, or in the case of sub-paragraph (d) of such definition, to each other amending holder of Debt Securities of any Relevant Series;
- (v) where a menu of options is offered, any such Cross-Series Modification under sub-paragraph (c) or (d) of the definition of Uniformly Applicable will not be considered Uniformly Applicable if, in the case of sub-paragraph (c) of such definition, each exchanging, converting or substituting holder of Debt Securities of any Relevant Series, or in the case of sub-paragraph (d) of such definition, each amending holder of Debt Securities of any Relevant Series, is not offered the same amount of consideration per amount of principal, the same amount of consideration per amount of interest accrued but unpaid and the same amount of consideration per amount of past due interest, respectively, as that offered, in the case of sub-paragraph (c) of such definition to each other exchanging, converting or substituting holder of Debt Securities of any Relevant Series, or in the case of sub-paragraph (d) of such definition, to each other amending holder of Debt Securities of any Relevant Series electing the same option under such menu of options; and
- (vi) where a Cross-Series Modification falling within sub-paragraph (a) or (b) of the definition of Uniformly Applicable is combined with a Cross-Series Modification falling within sub-paragraph (f) of that definition, those modifications will not be regarded as being Uniformly Applicable unless the requirement described in sub-paragraph (iv) above is satisfied in relation to those combined modifications.

(g) Written Resolutions

A "written resolution" is a resolution in writing signed by or on behalf of holders of the requisite majority of the Notes of a Series and will be valid for all purposes as if it was a resolution passed at a meeting of Noteholders of such Series duly convened and held in accordance with these provisions. A written resolution may be set out in one or more documents in like form each signed by or on behalf of one or more Noteholders of such Series.

10218360267-v8 - 34 - 70-41025765

(h) Binding Effect

A resolution duly passed at a meeting of holders duly convened and held in accordance with these provisions, and a written resolution duly signed by the requisite majority of Noteholders of any Series, will be binding on all Noteholders of such Series, whether or not the holder was present at the meeting, voted for or against the resolution or signed the written resolution.

(i) Manifest Error, Technical Amendments, etc.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the terms and conditions of the Notes of a Series and any agreement governing the issuance or administration of the Notes of a Series (including the Fiscal Agency Agreement and/or the Deed of Covenant) may be modified by the Issuer without the consent of Noteholders of such Series:

- (i) to correct a manifest error or cure an ambiguity; or
- (ii) if the modification is of a formal or technical nature or for the benefit of Noteholders of such Series.

The Issuer will publish the details of any modification of the Notes of a Series made pursuant to this Condition 10(i) within ten days of the modification becoming legally effective.

(j) Outstanding Notes

In determining how many Notes are outstanding for the purposes of Condition 9 or whether holders of the requisite principal amount of outstanding Notes of a Series have voted in favour of a proposed modification or whether a quorum is present at any meeting of Noteholders of a Series called to vote on a proposed modification, a Note of a Series will be deemed to be not outstanding, and may not be voted for or against a proposed modification or counted in determining whether a quorum is present, if, on the record date for the proposed modification:

- (i) the Note has previously been cancelled or delivered for cancellation or held for reissuance but not reissued;
- (ii) the Note has previously been called for redemption in accordance with its terms or previously become due and payable at maturity or otherwise and the Republic has previously satisfied its obligation to make all payments due in respect of the Note in accordance with its terms;
- (iii) the Note has become void or claims in respect of the Note have become prescribed;
- (iv) the Note is a mutilated or defaced Bearer Note which has been surrendered in exchange for a replacement Note;
- (v) (for the purpose only of determining how many Bearer Notes are outstanding and without prejudice to their status for any other purpose) the Note is alleged to have been lost, stolen or destroyed and in respect of which a replacement Note has been issued;
- (vi) the Note is (i) a Temporary Global Note which has been exchanged for a Permanent Global Note pursuant to its provisions or (ii) a Permanent Global Note which has been exchanged for definitive Bearer Notes pursuant to its provisions;
- (vii) the Note is an Unrestricted Global Certificate which has been exchanged for an interest in a Restricted Global Certificate pursuant to its provisions, and vice versa;
- (viii) the Note is a Global Certificate which has been exchanged for a definitive Certificate pursuant to its provisions; or

- (ix) the Note is held by the Republic, by a department, ministry or agency of the Republic, or by a corporation, trust or other legal entity that is controlled by the Republic or a department, ministry or agency of the Republic and, in the case of a Note held by any such above-mentioned corporation, trust or other legal entity, the holder of the Note does not have autonomy of decision, where:
 - (A) the holder of a Note for these purposes is the entity legally entitled to vote the Note for or against a proposed modification or, if different, the entity whose consent or instruction is by contract required, directly or indirectly, for the legally entitled holder to vote the Note for or against a proposed modification; and
 - (B) a corporation, trust or other legal entity is controlled by the Republic or by a department, ministry or agency of the Republic if the Republic or any department, ministry or agency of the Republic has the power, directly or indirectly, through the ownership of voting securities or other ownership interests, by contract or otherwise, to direct the management of, or elect or appoint a majority of, the board of directors or other persons performing similar functions in lieu of, or in addition to, the board of directors of that legal entity.

For the purposes of this sub-paragraph (ix), the holder of a Note has "autonomy of decision" if, under applicable law, rules or regulations and independent of any direct or indirect obligation the holder may have in relation to the Republic:

- (A) the holder may not, directly or indirectly, take instruction from the Republic on how to vote on a proposed modification; or
- (B) the holder, in determining how to vote on a proposed modification, is required to act in accordance with an objective prudential standard, in the interest of all of its stakeholders or in the holder's own interest; or
- (C) the holder owes a fiduciary or similar duty to vote on a proposed modification in the interest of one or more persons other than a person whose holdings of Notes (if that person then held any Notes) would be deemed to be not outstanding under this Condition 10(j).

Save for the purposes of Condition 10(j)(ix), in the case of any Notes represented by an NGN, the Fiscal Agent shall rely on the records of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg in relation to any determination of the nominal amount outstanding of each NGN.

(k) Outstanding Debt Securities

In determining whether holders of the requisite principal amount of outstanding Debt Securities of another series have voted in favour of a proposed Cross-Series Modification or whether a quorum is present at any meeting of the holders of such Debt Securities called to vote on a proposed Cross-Series Modification, an affected Debt Security will be deemed to be not outstanding, and may not be voted for or against a proposed Cross-Series Modification or counted in determining whether a quorum is present, in accordance with the applicable terms and conditions of that Debt Security.

12. Replacement of Bearer Notes, Coupons, Talons and Certificates

If any Bearer Note, Coupon, Talon or Certificate is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed it may be replaced at the specified office of the Fiscal Agent (in the case of Bearer Notes, Coupons and Talons) or the Transfer Agent in New York City (in the case of Certificates) subject to all applicable laws and stock exchange requirements, upon payment by the claimant of the taxes and expenses incurred in connection with such replacement and on such terms as to evidence, security, indemnity and otherwise as the Issuer may require (provided that the requirement is reasonable in the light of prevailing market practice). Mutilated or defaced Notes, Coupons, Talons or Certificates must be surrendered before replacements will be issued.

13. **Further Issues**

The Issuer may from time to time without the consent of the Noteholders or Couponholders create and issue further securities having the same terms and conditions as the Notes of any Series in all respects (or in all respects except for the first payment of interest on them) so that such further issue shall be consolidated and form a single series with the outstanding securities of any series (including the Notes of any Series).

References in these Conditions to the Notes of any Series include (unless the context requires otherwise) any other securities issued pursuant to this Condition 13 and forming a single series with the Notes of such Series.

14. Agents

In acting under the Fiscal Agency Agreement, the Agents act solely as agents of the Issuer and do not assume any obligation or relationship of agency or trust for or with any holder.

15. **Notices**

Notices to the holders of Registered Notes shall be mailed to them at their respective addresses in the Register and deemed to have been given on the fourth weekday (being a day other than a Saturday or a Sunday) after the date of mailing. Notices to the holders of Bearer Notes shall be valid if published in a daily newspaper of general circulation in London (which is expected to be the Financial Times). If such publication is not practicable, notice shall be validly given if published in another leading daily English language newspaper with general circulation in Europe. Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the date of such publication or, if published more than once or on different dates, on the date of the first publication as provided above.

Couponholders shall be deemed for all purposes to have notice of the contents of any notice given to the holders of Bearer Notes in accordance with this Condition.

16. **Currency Indemnity**

In relation to each Series, the Specified Currency is the sole currency of account and payment for all sums payable by the Issuer under or in connection with the Notes and the Coupons, including damages. Any amount received or recovered in a currency other than the relevant Specified Currency (whether as a result of, or of the enforcement of, a judgment or order of a court of any jurisdiction or otherwise) by any Noteholder or Couponholder in respect of any sum expressed to be due to it from the Issuer will only constitute a discharge to the Issuer to the extent of the Specified Currency amount which the recipient is able to purchase with the amount so received or recovered in that other currency on the date of that receipt or recovery (or, if it is not practicable to make that purchase on that date, on the first date on which it is practicable to do so). If that Specified Currency amount is less than the Specified Currency amount expressed to be due to the recipient under the Notes or the Coupons, the Issuer will indemnify such recipient against any loss sustained by such recipient as a result. In any event, the Issuer will indemnify the recipient against the cost of making any such purchases. These indemnities constitute separate and independent obligations from the Issuer's other obligations, will give rise to a separate and independent cause of action, will apply irrespective of any indulgence granted by any Noteholder or Couponholder and will continue in full force and effect despite any judgment, order, claim or proof for a liquidated amount in respect of any sum due under the Notes and/or the Coupons or any judgment or order. No proof or evidence of any actual loss may be required.

17. Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999

No person shall have any right to enforce any term or condition of the Notes under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 except and to the extent (if any) that the Notes expressly provide for such Act to apply to any of their terms.

18. Governing Law and Jurisdiction

(a) Governing Law

The Fiscal Agency Agreement, the Notes, the Coupons and the Talons and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with them are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, English law.

(b) Jurisdiction

The courts of England are to have jurisdiction to settle any disputes which may arise out of or in connection with the Notes, the Coupons or the Talons and accordingly any legal action or proceedings arising out of or in connection with the Notes, the Coupons or the Talons ("**Proceedings**") may be brought in such courts. The Issuer irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of such courts and waives any objection to Proceedings in such courts on the ground of venue or on the ground that the Proceedings have been brought in an inconvenient forum. This submission is made for the benefit of each of the holders of the Notes, Coupons and Talons and shall not affect the right of any of them to take Proceedings in any other court of competent jurisdiction nor shall the taking of Proceedings in one or more jurisdictions preclude the taking of Proceedings in any other jurisdiction (whether concurrently or not).

(c) Waiver of Immunity

The Issuer hereby irrevocably waives, to the extent permitted by applicable law and international conventions, (i) any immunity from jurisdiction it may have in any Proceedings in the courts of England, and (ii) except as provided below, any immunity from attachment or execution to which its assets or property might otherwise be entitled in any Proceedings in the courts of England, and agrees that it will not claim any such immunity in any such Proceedings.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the above waiver shall not constitute a waiver of immunity from attachment or execution in respect the following:

- (i) assets and property of the Republic of Cyprus located in the Republic of Cyprus or elsewhere necessary for the proper functioning of the Republic of Cyprus as a sovereign state;
- the premises and property of the Republic of Cyprus' diplomatic and consular missions;
- (iii) assets and property of the Republic of Cyprus outside the Republic of Cyprus not used or intended to be used for a commercial purpose;
- (iv) assets and property of the Republic of Cyprus' central bank or monetary authority;
- (v) assets and property of a military character or under the control of a military authority or defence agency of the Republic of Cyprus; or
- (vi) assets and property forming part of the cultural heritage of the Republic of Cyprus.

For the purposes of the foregoing, "property" includes, without limitation, accounts, bank deposits, cash, revenues, securities and rights, including rights against third parties.

The foregoing constitutes a limited and specific waiver by the Issuer solely for the purposes of the Notes, and under no circumstance shall it be construed as a general waiver by the Issuer or a waiver with respect to proceedings unrelated to the Notes.

(d) Consent to Enforcement etc.

Subject as provided in Condition 18(c) above, the Issuer irrevocably and generally consents in respect of any Proceedings anywhere to the giving of any relief or the issue of any process in connection with those Proceedings including, without limitation, the making, enforcement or execution against any assets whatsoever (irrespective of their use or intended use) of any order or judgment which may be made or given in those Proceedings.

(e) Agent for Service of Process

The Issuer irrevocably appoints the High Commissioner of Cyprus for the time being in London at the High Commission of Cyprus in London as its agent in England to receive, for it and on its behalf, service of process in any Proceedings in England. Such service shall be deemed completed on delivery to such process agent (whether or not, it is forwarded to and received by the Issuer). If for any reason such process agent ceases to be able to act as such or no longer has an address in London, the Issuer irrevocably agrees to appoint a substitute process agent and shall immediately notify Noteholders of such appointment in accordance with Condition 15. Nothing shall affect the right to serve process in any manner permitted by law.

10218360267-v8 - 39 - 70-41025765

FORM OF THE NOTES

Bearer Notes

Bearer Notes of each Tranche of a Bearer Series will initially be represented by a Temporary Global Note, or by a Global Note, each without Coupons. If the Temporary Global Note or the Global Note, as the case may be, is stated in the applicable Pricing Supplement to be issued in NGN form, the Temporary Global Note or the Global Note, as the case may be, will be delivered on or prior to the original issue date of the Tranche to a Common Safekeeper. Depositing the Temporary Global Note or the Global Note, as the case may be, with the Common Safekeeper does not necessarily mean that the Notes will be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day credit operations by the Eurosystem either upon issue, or at any or all times during their life. Such recognition will depend upon satisfaction of the Eurosystem eligibility criteria.

Temporary Global Notes or Global Notes which are issued in CGN form will be delivered on or prior to the original issue date of the Tranche to a Common Depositary.

If the Temporary Global Note or the Global Note, as the case may be, is a CGN, upon the initial deposit of such Notes with the Common Depositary, Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg will credit each subscriber with a nominal amount of Notes equal to the nominal amount thereof for which it has subscribed and paid. If the Temporary Global Note or the Global Note, as the case may be, is an NGN, the nominal amount of the Notes shall be the aggregate amount from time to time entered in the records of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg. The records of such clearing system shall be conclusive evidence of the nominal amount of Notes represented by such Notes and a statement issued by such clearing system at any time shall be conclusive evidence of the records of the relevant clearing system at that time.

Interests in the Temporary Global Note will be exchanged in whole or in part for interests in a Global Note representing Bearer Notes of the relevant Tranche, or for definitive Bearer Notes of the relevant Tranche (as specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement), not earlier than 40 days after the later of the commencement of the offering of the relevant Tranche and the relevant Issue Date and, unless specified to the contrary in the relevant Pricing Supplement, upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership.

Each Temporary Global Note, Global Note, definitive Bearer Note, Talon and Coupon will bear the following legend:

"Any United States person who holds this obligation will be subject to limitations under the United States income tax laws, including the limitations provided in sections 165(j) and 1287(a) of the Internal Revenue Code." The sections of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code referred to in the legend provide that a United States taxpayer, with certain exceptions, will not be permitted to deduct any loss, and will not be eligible for capital gains treatment with respect to any gain, realised on any sale, exchange or redemption of Bearer Notes or any related Coupons.

Summary of Provisions Relating to Bearer Notes while in Global Form

Each Global Note will contain provisions which apply to the Bearer Notes while they are in global form, some of which modify the effect of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes set out in this document. The following is a summary of certain of those provisions:

Exchange: Interests in a Global Note will be exchangeable in whole but not in part (free of charge to the holder) for definitive Bearer Notes if the Global Note is held on behalf of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or another clearing system and any such clearing system is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holidays, statutory or otherwise) or announces an intention permanently to cease business or does in fact do so, by such holder giving notice to the Fiscal Agent and by surrender of the Global Note by such holder to or to the order of the Fiscal Agent on or after the Exchange Date (as defined below). In exchange for the Global Note, the Republic shall deliver, or procure the delivery of, an equal aggregate principal amount of duly executed and authenticated definitive Bearer Notes having attached to them, in the case of interest bearing Notes, all Coupons in respect of interest which has not already been paid on the Global Note and, where appropriate, Talons for further coupons, security printed in accordance with any applicable legal and stock exchange requirements. On exchange in full of the Global Note, the Republic will, if the holder so requests, procure that it is cancelled and returned to the holder together with the relevant Bearer Notes. "Exchange Date" means a day falling not less than 40 days after

10218360267-v8 - 40 - 70-41025765

that on which the notice requiring exchange is given to the Fiscal Agent and on which banks are open for business in the city in which the specified office of the Fiscal Agent is located and in which Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or, if relevant, such other clearing system are located.

Payments: Principal, premium (if any) and interest in respect of the Global Note shall be paid to its holder against presentation and (if no further payment falls to be made on it) surrender of it to, or to the order of, the Fiscal Agent, in the case of interest only, at an office outside the United States and its possessions (or to or to the order of such other Paying Agent as shall have been notified to the Noteholders for the purpose). If the Global Note is a CGN, the Fiscal Agent shall endorse or cause to be endorsed such payment or cause such payment to be endorsed in the appropriate Exhibit to the Global Note (such endorsement being prima facie evidence that the payment in question has been made). If the Global Note is an NGN, the Republic shall procure that details of each such payment shall be entered pro rata in the records of the relevant clearing system and in the case of payments of principal, the nominal amount of the Notes recorded in the records of the relevant clearing system and represented by the Global Note will be reduced accordingly. Payments under the NGN will be made to its holder. Each payment so made will discharge the Republic's obligations in respect thereof. Any failure to make the entries in the records of the relevant clearing system shall not affect such discharge. For the purpose of any payments made in respect of a Global Note, the relevant place of presentation shall be disregarded in the definition of "business day" set out in Condition 7(a)

Notices: So long as a Global Note is held on behalf of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other clearing system, notices required to be given to Noteholders may be given by their being delivered to Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or, as the case may be, such other clearing system, rather than by publication as required by the Conditions.

Prescription: Claims in respect of principal and interest in respect of the Global Note will become void unless it is presented for payment within a period of 10 years (in the case of principal) and five years (in the case of interest) from the appropriate Relevant Date (as defined in "Terms and Conditions of the Notes-Taxation").

Purchase and Cancellation: Cancellation of any Note represented by a Global Note which is required by the Terms and Conditions of the Notes to be cancelled will be effected by reduction in the principal amount of the Global Note on its presentation to or to the order of the Fiscal Agent for notation in the appropriate Exhibit to the Global Note. Interest-bearing Notes may only be purchased by the Republic if they are purchased together with the right to receive all future payments of interest thereon.

Default: The holder of a Global Note may exercise the right to declare Notes represented by the Global Note due and payable under Condition 9 by stating in the notice to the Fiscal Agent the principal amount of Notes (which may be less than the outstanding principal amount of the Global Note) to which such notice relates. If principal in respect of any Notes is not paid when due, the holder of a Global Note may from time to time elect that direct rights ("Direct Rights") under the provisions of (and as defined in) a deed of covenant (the "Deed of Covenant") executed by the Republic as of 16 December 2021 (a copy of which is available for inspection at the specified office of the Fiscal Agent) shall come into effect in respect of a principal amount of Notes up to the aggregate principal amount in respect of which such failure to pay principal has occurred. Such election shall be made by notice to the Fiscal Agent and presentation of the Global Note to or to the order of the Fiscal Agent for reduction of the principal amount of Notes represented by the Global Note by such amount as may be stated in such notice by endorsement in the appropriate Exhibits to the Global Note. Upon each such notice being given, the Global Note shall become void to the extent of the principal amount stated in such notice, save to the extent that the appropriate Direct Rights shall fail to take effect, for whatever reason.

Call Option: The Republic's call option in Condition 6(d) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes may be exercised by the Republic giving notice to the Noteholders within the time limits set out in and containing the information required by Condition 6(d) except that the notice shall not be required to contain the serial numbers of Notes drawn for redemption in the case of a partial redemption of Notes and accordingly no drawing of Notes for redemption will be required. In the event that any option of the Republic is exercised in respect of some but not all of the Notes of any Series, the rights of accountholders with a clearing system in respect of the Notes will be governed by the standard procedures of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg (to be reflected in the records of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg as either a pool factor or a reduction in nominal amount, at their discretion) or any other alternative clearing system (as the case may be).

Put Option: The Noteholders' put option in Condition 6(e) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes may be exercised by the holder of a Global Note giving notice to the Fiscal Agent of the principal amount of Notes in respect of which the option is expressed and where the Global Note is a CGN, presenting the Global Note for endorsement within the time limits specified in Condition 6(e). Where the Global Note is an NGN, the Republic shall procure that details of such exercise shall be entered pro rata in the records of the relevant clearing system and the nominal amount of the Notes recorded in those records will be reduced accordingly.

NGN Nominal Amount: Where the Global Note is an NGN, the Republic shall procure that any exchange, payment, cancellation, exercise of any option or any right under the Notes, as the case may be, in addition to the circumstances set out above shall be entered in the records of the relevant clearing systems and upon any such entry being made, in respect of payments of principal, the nominal amount of the Notes represented by such Global Note shall be adjusted accordingly.

Registered Notes

Registered Notes of each Tranche of a Registered Series which are sold in an "offshore transaction" within the meaning of Regulation S ("**Unrestricted Notes**") will initially be represented by interests in an Unrestricted Global Certificate, without interest coupons, and Registered Notes of any Tranche resold pursuant to Rule 144A ("**Restricted Notes**") will initially be represented by a Restricted Global Certificate, without interest coupons.

If the relevant Global Certificate is held under the NSS, it will be delivered to a Common Safekeeper for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and, if the relevant Global Certificate is not held under the NSS, will either (a) be deposited with a common nominee for, and registered in the name of a common nominee of, Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear or (b) be deposited with a custodian for, and registered in the name of a nominee of, DTC or other relevant clearing system on its Issue Date.

Any Global Certificate registered in the name of a nominee of DTC, and any individual definitive Restricted Notes, will bear a legend applicable to purchasers who purchase the Notes pursuant to Rule 144A as described under "Transfer Restrictions".

Summary of Provisions Relating to Registered Notes while in Registered Global Form

Each Global Certificate will contain provisions which apply to the Registered Notes while they are in global form, some of which modify the effect of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes set out in this document. The following is a summary of certain of those provisions:

Payments: Each payment, other than Notes cleared through DTC, will be made to, or to the order of, the person whose name is entered on the Register at the close of business on the record date which shall be (i) except in the case of Notes cleared through DTC, on the Clearing System Business Day immediately prior to the date for payment, where "Clearing System Business Day" means Monday to Friday inclusive except 25 December and 1 January; and (ii) in the case of Notes to be cleared through DTC, on the fifteenth DTC business day before the due date for payment thereof (the "DTC Record Date")

Payments of principal and interest in respect of Registered Notes registered in the name of, or in the name of a nominee for, DTC and denominated in a Specified Currency other than U.S. dollars will be made or procured to be made by the Registrar in the relevant Specified Currency in accordance with the following provisions. The amounts in such Specified Currency payable by the Registrar or its agent to DTC with respect to Registered Notes held by DTC or its nominee will be received from the Issuer by the Registrar who will make payments in such Specified Currency by wire transfer of same day funds to the designated bank account in such Specified Currency of those DTC participants entitled to receive the relevant payment who have made an irrevocable election to DTC, in the case of interest payment, on or prior to the third DTC business day after the Record Date for the relevant payment of interest and, in the case of payments of principal, at least 12 DTC business days prior to the relevant payment date, to receive that payment in such Specified Currency. The Registrar, after the Exchange Agent has converted amounts in such Specified Currency into U.S. dollars, will deliver such U.S. dollar amount in same day funds to DTC for payment through its settlement system to those DTC participants entitled to receive the relevant payment who did not elect to receive such payment in such Specified Currency.

Notices: So long as a Global Note is held on behalf of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg, DTC or any other clearing system, notices required to be given to Noteholders may be given by their being delivered to Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg, DTC or, as the case may be, such other clearing system, rather than by mailing as required by the Conditions.

Prescription: Claims in respect of principal and interest in respect of a Global Certificate will become void unless it is presented for payment within a period of 10 years (in the case of principal) and five years (in the case of interest) from the appropriate Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 8).

Purchase and Cancellation: Cancellation of any Note represented by a Global Certificate which is required by the Conditions to be cancelled will be effected by reduction in the principal amount of the Global Certificate by notation in the Register of such reduction by the Registrar.

Default: The holder of a Global Certificate may exercise the right to declare Notes represented by the Global Certificate due and payable under Condition 9 by stating in the notice to the Fiscal Agent the principal amount of Notes (which may be less than the outstanding principal amount of the Global Certificate) to which such notice relates. If principal in respect of any Notes is not paid when due (but subject as provided below), the holder of a Global Certificate may from time to time elect that Direct Rights shall come into effect in respect of a principal amount of Notes up to the aggregate principal amount in respect of which such failure to pay principal has occurred. Such election shall be made by notice to the Registrar of reduction of the principal amount of Notes represented by the Global Certificate by such amount as may be stated in such notice by notation in the Register of such principal amount of Notes formerly represented hereby as the principal amount of Notes in respect of which Direct Rights have arisen under the Deed of Covenant. Upon each such notice being given, the Global Certificate shall become void to the extent of the principal amount stated in such notice, save to the extent that the appropriate Direct Rights shall fail to take effect, for whatever reason.

No such election may however be made unless the transfer of the whole or a part of the holding of Notes represented by the Global Certificate shall have been improperly withheld or refused.

Call Option: The Republic's call option in Condition 6(d) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes may be exercised by the Republic giving notice to the Noteholders within the time limits set out in and containing the information required by Condition 6(d) except that the notice shall not be required to contain the serial numbers of Notes drawn for redemption in the case of a partial redemption of Notes and accordingly no drawing of Notes for redemption shall be required. Where Notes of a Series are represented by an Unrestricted Global Certificate and a Restricted Global Certificate then in circumstances where less than the aggregate principal amount of Notes represented by such Global Notes are to be redeemed, the principal amount of Notes to be redeemed will be allocated between such Global Notes on a pro rata basis (or as near thereto as may be practicable).

Put Option: The Noteholders' put option in Condition 6(e) of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes may be exercised by the holder of a Global Certificate giving notice to the Fiscal Agent of the principal amount of Notes in respect of which the option is exercised and presenting the Global Certificates for endorsement within the time limits specified in Condition 6(e).

For provisions relating to registration of title to Registered Notes in a name other than a depositary or its nominee for Clearstream, Luxembourg, Euroclear or DTC and the issuance of definitive Registered Notes, see "Clearing and Settlement-Individual Definitive Registered Notes".

Euro Equivalent

For the purpose of calculating the Euro equivalent of the principal amount of Notes outstanding under the Programme from time to time, the Euro equivalent of Notes denominated in another currency shall be determined, at the discretion of the Republic, either as of the date of issue of such Notes (the "Agreement Date") or on the preceding day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business in London, in either case on the basis of the Exchange Rate on the relevant date of calculation. As used herein, the "Exchange Rate" means the spot rate for the sale of Euro against the purchase of such other relevant currency in the London foreign exchange market as quoted by any leading bank selected by the Republic at its discretion on the Agreement Date or on the preceding day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets are open for business in London.

The Euro equivalent of any Zero Coupon Note and any other Note issued at a discount shall be calculated, in relation to a currency other than Euro, in the manner specified above and with the Exchange Rate so determined to apply in respect of any other Euro equivalent determination for the same Notes and, in relation to the principal amount, by reference to the amortisation yield formula as specified in the Conditions applicable to such Notes as of the same dates as specified in the preceding paragraph or, if no formula is so specified, the principal amount of the Notes.

Partly Paid Notes

The provisions relating to partly paid Notes are not set out in this Offering Circular but will be contained in the relevant Pricing Supplement. While any instalments of the subscription moneys due from the holder of partly paid Notes are overdue, no interest in a Temporary Global Note or a Global Note representing such Notes may be exchanged for an interest in a Global Note or for definitive Notes (as the case may be). If any Noteholder fails to pay any instalment due on any partly paid Notes within the time specified, the Republic may forfeit such Notes and shall have no further obligation to their holder in respect of them or in respect of any amount then paid-up.

USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds of any issue of Notes will, unless otherwise specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement, be used by the Republic for its general financing and debt management purposes.

Green, Social and Sustainable Bonds

The Issuer may issue Notes which are specified to be "Green Bonds", "Social Bonds" or "Sustainable Bonds" in the relevant Pricing Supplement. The Issuer will apply an amount equal to the net proceeds from any such issue of Notes specifically for the purposes of financing and/or refinancing projects and activities that promote sustainability, climate and other environmental and/or social purposes, as applicable.

Any framework relating to such Notes will be published on the Issuer's website, and will not form part of this Offering Circular.

No assurance is given by the Issuer, the Arranger, or any Dealer that the use of any such proceeds will satisfy, whether in whole or in part, any present or future investor expectations or requirements as regards any investment criteria or guidelines with which such investor or its investments are required to comply, whether by any present or future applicable law or regulations or by its own by-laws or other governing rules or investment portfolio mandates, in particular with regard to any direct or indirect environmental, sustainability or social impact of any projects or uses, the subject of or related to, any such labelled Notes. Neither the Arranger nor any Dealer shall be responsible for the ongoing monitoring of the use of proceeds in respect of any such Notes.

Furthermore, it should be noted that the definition (legal, regulatory or otherwise) of, and market consensus as to what constitutes or may be classified as, a "green", "social", "sustainable" or similarly labelled project or loan that may finance such project, is currently under development. On 18 December 2019, the Council and the European Parliament reached a political agreement on a regulation to establish a framework to facilitate sustainable development (the "Taxonomy Regulation"). Within the framework of the Taxonomy Regulation, the Technical Expert Group on Sustainable Finance ("TEG") has been asked to develop recommendations for technical screening criteria for economic activities that can make a substantial contribution to climate change mitigation or adaptation. On 15 April 2020, the Council adopted by written procedure its position at first reading with respect to the Taxonomy Regulation. As next steps, the European Parliament will have to vote on the text pursuant to the "early second reading agreement" procedure. However, as yet no formal legislation has been adopted and no definition as to what constitutes, a "green", "social" or "sustainable" or an equivalently labelled project has been established. Accordingly, no assurance is or can be given by the Issuer, the Arranger or any Dealer to investors that any projects or uses the subject of, or related to, any relevant Notes will meet any or all investor expectations regarding such "green", "social" "sustainable" or other equivalently-labelled performance objectives or that any adverse environmental, social and/or other impacts will not occur during the implementation of any projects or uses the subject of, or related to, any relevant Notes. In addition, no assurance can be given by the Issuer, the Arranger or the Dealers to investors that any Notes will comply with any future standards or requirements regarding any "green", "social", "sustainable" or other equivalently labelled performance objectives and, accordingly, the status of any Notes as being "green", "social" or "sustainable" (or equivalent) could be withdrawn at any time.

10218360267-v8 - 45 - 70-41025765

ENFORCEMENT OF CIVIL LIABILITIES AND COURT JUDGMENTS

The Republic is a sovereign state, and substantially all of the assets and property of the Republic are located in the Republic of Cyprus. Consequently, it may not be possible for investors to obtain or enforce judgments of the courts of England, the United States or anywhere else against the Republic. The Republic has, in the terms and conditions of the Notes, agreed to a limited waiver of immunity for the purposes of legal proceedings in the Courts of England arising out of or in connection with the Notes. The Republic has not waived immunity from execution or attachment in respect of:

- (i) assets and property of the Republic of Cyprus located in the Republic of Cyprus or elsewhere necessary for the proper functioning of the Republic of Cyprus as a sovereign state;
- (ii) the premises and property of the Republic of Cyprus' diplomatic and consular missions;
- (iii) assets and property of the Republic of Cyprus outside the Republic of Cyprus not used or intended to be used for a commercial purpose;
- (iv) assets and property of the Republic of Cyprus' central bank or monetary authority;
- (v) assets and property of a military character or under the control of a military authority or defence agency of the Republic of Cyprus; or
- (vi) assets and property forming part of the cultural heritage of the Republic of Cyprus.

For these purposes of the foregoing, "property" has been defined to include, without limitation, accounts, bank deposits, cash, revenues, securities and rights, including rights against third parties.

There is a risk that, notwithstanding that there may be very limited assets or property of the Republic located outside the Republic of Cyprus at any time, a foreign court judgment would not be recognised or enforced against certain assets of the Republic in certain jurisdictions without the Republic first having specifically consented to such enforcement at the time when the enforcement is sought. There is no assurance that the Republic would agree to this at the relevant time.

Furthermore, as at the date of this Offering Circular, following its exit from the EU, the UK is no longer party to the Lugano Convention (pursuant to which judgments of the courts of EU Member States are recognised and enforced in other contracting states) and the Recast Brussels Regulation (Regulation (EU) No. 1215/2012 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 12 December 2012 (the "Recast **Regulation**")) no longer applies to the UK (and to English court judgments). Accordingly, the only treaty providing for reciprocal recognition and enforcement of judgments rendered in connection with civil and commercial disputes between the UK and the Republic of Cyprus is the Hague Convention of 30 June 2005 on Choice of Court Agreements (the "Hague Convention"). Pursuant to the provisions of the Hague Convention, a judgment entered against the Republic in the courts of a Contracting State (as defined in the Hague Convention) and which is enforceable in such Contracting State, will be directly enforceable in the Republic of Cyprus only upon the satisfaction of certain requirements, one of which is that the relevant judgment relates to an agreement which includes an exclusive choice of court provision (as described in the Hague Convention). As such, a judgement entered against the Republic based on an asymmetric jurisdiction clause (i.e. a jurisdiction clause which is non-exclusive), as is the case in relation to the terms and conditions of the Notes, is likely to fall outside of the application of the Hague Convention and would most likely not be recognised or enforceable in the Republic of Cyprus as a matter of right without a retrial of its merits. Where the Hague Convention does not apply, a final and conclusive civil or commercial judgment obtained in the courts of England against the Republic will be enforceable in the Republic of Cyprus subject to the rules on recognition and enforcement of judgments laid down in The Foreign Judgments (Reciprocal Enforcement) Law Cap.10 (as amended) ("Cap.10") of the Republic of Cyprus. Pursuant to the provisions of Cap.10, the courts of the Republic of Cyprus will authorise the enforcement of a judgment of the English court unless the relevant Cypriot court considers that any of the following apply (in which case, enforcement may be refused):

- (i) the relevant judgment has already been wholly satisfied;
- (ii) the relevant judgment cannot be enforced by execution in England;
- (iii) the enforcement of the relevant judgment would be contrary to public policy in the Republic of Cyprus;

- (iv) the judgment debtor had not received notice of the original proceedings in England in sufficient time to enable him or her to defend the proceedings and did not appear at the relevant judgment;
- (v) the English court had no jurisdiction in the circumstances of the case;
- (vi) the relevant judgment was obtained by fraud;
- (vii) the rights under the relevant judgment are not attributable to the person who is seeking its recognition and enforcement in the Republic of Cyprus; or
- (viii) the matter under dispute in the proceedings in England had, prior to the date of the relevant judgment, been the subject of a final and conclusive judgment by another court having jurisdiction in the matter.

Accordingly, the enforcement in the Republic of Cyprus of a judgment rendered against the Republic by an English court will require the satisfaction of certain criteria.

REPUBLIC OF CYPRUS

Location, area and population

Cyprus is situated in the eastern part of the Mediterranean Sea. It is the third largest island in the Mediterranean with an area of 9,251 square km. The capital and largest city of the Republic of Cyprus is Nicosia with approximately 246,900 inhabitants (2017 estimate). Since the Turkish invasion of Cyprus in 1974, an area of approximately 3,420 square km of the Republic of Cyprus, including part of Nicosia, has been illegally occupied by Turkey.

The population at the end of 2017 was approximately 956,800 of which 864,200 lived in the areas of the Republic of Cyprus in which the Government exercises effective control. The estimated composition of the population by community is: Greek Cypriot community: 713,500 or 74.6%; Turkish Cypriot community: 92,600 or 9.7%; foreign residents: 150,700 or 15.7%. It is noted that the exact population living in the Turkish occupied areas of the Republic of Cyprus is unknown, however, the majority are Turkish settlers who are in Cyprus illegally.

Approximately 68% of the population live in urban areas and approximately 16% are children under 15 years old, while the proportion of those aged 65 and over is also estimated at 16%.

Except for the years 2012-2015 net migration has been positive since 1983. Net migration in 2017 was 6,201 persons compared to 2,499 persons in 2016.

Politics and government

The Constitution of the Republic of Cyprus provides for a presidential system of government with executive power vested in the President of the Republic and the Council of Ministers.

The President of the Republic of Cyprus, who is the Head of State, is elected by universal suffrage for a five-year term of office. In February 2013, Mr. Nicos Anastasiades was elected as the seventh President of the Republic. In February 2018 Mr. Nicos Anastasiades was re-elected as President of the Republic. The next presidential elections are due in February 2023.

Legislative power is vested in the House of Representatives whose members are elected by universal suffrage. Seats in the House of Representatives are allocated on the basis of proportional representation. Twenty-four out of the total of eighty seats are reserved for the Turkish Cypriot community, however, these seats are currently not occupied. The Constitution provides that the term of office for members of the House of Representatives is five years.

Following the Parliamentary elections of 23 May 2021, the seats in the House were allocated as follows: Democratic Rally 17; AKEL 15; Democratic Party 9; Social Democrats Movement 4; ; the Ecological Environmental Movement 3; DEPA 4 and ELAM 4. The next House of Representatives elections are due in May 2026.

International Relations

Cyprus maintains very good relations with its neighbouring countries in the Middle East and North Africa (other than with Turkey, whose forces have occupied the northern part of the country since 1974 (see "*The Cyprus Issue*" below) and with other countries throughout the world.

The Republic is a member of many international organisations, including: the United Nations (1960) and its specialised agencies, the Commonwealth (1961), the Organisation for Security and Cooperation in Europe ("OSCE" 1975), the Council of Europe (1961), the World Trade Organisation ("WTO"), the World Bank and the International Monetary Fund (the "IMF"). Since 2004, Cyprus has been a member of the European Union (the "EU") and since 2008 it has also been a member of the Economic and Monetary Union (the "Eurozone").

The focal point of Cyprus' foreign policy is determined by its membership of the EU. Cyprus has endeavoured to participate actively in the formation and the implementation of the European Union's Common Foreign and Security Policy, an important element of which is the Common Security and Defence Policy.

Cyprus-EU Relations

On 1 May 2004, the Republic of Cyprus became a full member of the EU. Accession to the EU was a natural choice for Cyprus, derived from its civilisation, history, its European outlook and adherence to the ideals of democracy, freedom and justice. Following the accession of Cyprus to the EU, pursuant to Protocol 10 of the Act of Accession 2003, the application of the laws and regulations of the EU (taken together, the "acquis communautaire") has been suspended in the areas of the Republic of Cyprus in which the Government of the Republic of Cyprus does not exercise effective control due to the military occupation by Turkey, pending a comprehensive settlement of the Cyprus Issue. According to Protocol 10, in the event of a solution to the Cyprus Issue, the Council of the EU, acting unanimously on the basis of a proposal from the Commission, shall decide on the withdrawal of this suspension. Meanwhile, implementing Aid Regulation 389/2006 (EC), the EU Commission in cooperation with the Government has been promoting measures of an exceptional and transitional nature to facilitate the reunification of Cyprus by encouraging the economic development of the Turkish Cypriot community with particular emphasis on the economic integration of the island including improving contact between the two communities and with the EU.

Cyprus is committed to EU values and principles and to working together with fellow member-states for a more unified, stronger and democratic Europe for its citizens. Cyprus has had the opportunity to actively contribute to the promotion of the EU's objectives during its Presidency of the Council of the EU in 2012. Additionally, Cyprus, being at the core of the EU as a Eurozone member since 2008, is a strong advocate of a more integrated and cohesive EU. In this context, and regarding examples of recent developments in the evolution of EU policies, Cyprus has strongly supported the creation of and proudly participates in the Permanent Structured Cooperation mechanism ("PESCO") and has, furthermore, actively supported the adoption of the European Pillar of Social Rights.

The Cyprus Issue

In July 1974, the Turkish armed forces invaded Cyprus and have since then occupied 36.2% of the territory of the Republic of Cyprus. Due to the Turkish invasion, 162,000 Greek Cypriots have been displaced and are to this day prevented from returning to their homes by the Turkish army. It is estimated that Turkey maintains around 43,000 troops in the occupied area, and in an effort to alter the country's demographic structure, Ankara has brought into Cyprus more than 160,000 settlers from mainland Turkey. Since 1974, the number of Turkish Cypriots in the Turkish occupied area has declined from 120,000 to 92,600 at the end of 2017.

The United Nations have in several resolutions of the General Assembly and the Security Council demanded respect for the independence, sovereignty, unity and territorial integrity of the Republic of Cyprus, the return of refugees to their homes and the withdrawal of foreign troops from the island. All of these resolutions have been consistently ignored by Turkey and the Turkish Cypriot leadership.

In November 1983, the so called "Turkish Cypriot administration" illegally declared, in the area occupied by the Turkish troops, the so-called "Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus". The UN Security Council has condemned these secessionist acts, declared them illegal and invalid and called for their immediate withdrawal. Moreover, the UN Security Council called upon all states not to recognise the purported state of the "Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus" and not to facilitate or in any way assist the aforesaid secessionist entity. No country other than Turkey has recognised the said illegal regime.

Negotiations for the solution of the Cyprus Issue have been going on intermittently since 1975 under the auspices of the United Nations. The basis for the solution of the Cyprus Issue has been put in place by the relevant UN Security Council resolutions and the two high-level agreements concluded between the leaders of the two communities of Cyprus in 1977 and 1979. President Anastasiades has set the solution of the Cyprus Issue as a top priority, aiming to reach a comprehensive, viable and lasting solution based on the relevant UN resolutions, the UN Charter and international law and in accordance with European principles and values.

THE ECONOMY

Background and characteristics

The economy of Cyprus can generally be characterised as small, open and dynamic, with the service sector representing a significant portion of economic output. The private sector is dominated by small and medium-sized enterprises and plays a leading role in the economy. The Government's role in the economy is to support the private sector and regulate the markets in order to maintain conditions of macroeconomic stability and a favourable business climate via the creation of necessary legal and institutional frameworks and to secure conditions of fair competition.

The tertiary sector (services) is the biggest contributor to gross value added ("GVA"), accounting for approximately 83.7% of economic output in 2020. This development reflects the gradual restructuring of the Cypriot economy from an exporter of minerals and agricultural products in the period 1961-73 and an exporter of manufactured goods in the latter part of the 1970s and the early part of the 1980s, to a tourist destination during the 1980s and to an international business and services centre during the 1990s and the 2000s. The secondary sector (mainly construction and manufacturing) accounted for around 14.1% of GVA in 2020, down from 14.4% in 2011. The primary sector (agriculture and fishing) constituted 2.1% of GVA in 2020.

Following a severe economic and financial crisis, the Government of Cyprus successfully implemented an EU-IMF macroeconomic adjustment programme during the period 2013-16, undertaking major reforms in the areas of public finances, the financial sector, the labour market and other structural reforms in key sectors of the economy, which resulted in stabilising and successfully turning the economy into positive growth territory from 2015 onwards. The economy expanded at a rate of 3.1% in real terms in 2019, following a growth rate of 5.2% in 2018 and 2017 respectively. In 2020 due to the global pandemic this trend was stopped with GDP contracting by 5.1%

The Republic's long-term foreign currency debt has been rated BBB (low) (positive) by DBRS Ratings GmbH, BBB- (stable) by Fitch Ratings Ireland Limited, Ba1 (stable) by Moody's Deutschland GmbH and BBB- (positive) by S&P Global Ratings Europe Limited.

Recent developments

The economy continued to exhibit strong growth in 2019 marking the 5th consecutive year of growth after the financial crisis of 2013 and the subsequent assistance program by the IMF/EU. GDP growth in 2019 was 3.1% and it was expected that growth would continue in 2020 as was evidenced by the data of the first quarter of 2020 as published in May 2020 where year on year GDP growth was 0.8%.

This trajectory was completely reversed due to the coronavirus (COVID-19) global pandemic with the economy of Cyprus taking a significant downturn as the significant drop in tourist arrivals and lockdowns contributed to a significant slowdown of the economy. Overall, the economy contracted by 5.1% in 2020.

The negative GDP growth in 2020 was mainly driven by lower private consumption and exports. Private consumption decreased by 3.9% in real terms while government consumption recorded an increase of 13.1%. Gross fixed capital formation was influenced by decreases in construction and recorded a decrease of 2.0%. Imports in real terms declined by 4.2% mirroring the decline in private consumption, while exports also declined significantly by 12.4% reflecting the large decline in tourist arrivals.

10218360267-v8 - 50 - 70-41025765

The following table shows GDP indicators (based on constant 2010 prices) in million Euros and other relevant macroeconomic indicators:

	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020
			(€ million)		
Gross Domestic Product (GDP)	18,964.1	19,941.7	20,986.8	21,632.3	20,528.3
Primary sector	389.1	354.9	342.2	351.0	349,6
Secondary sector	2,116.8	2,330.0	2,636.3	2,852.5	2,661.1
- Manufacturing	847.0	948.6	1,105.9	1,155.7	1,082.8
- Construction	904.3	1,098,4	1,253.3	1,423.9	1,333.0
Tertiary sector	14,138.9	14,906.8	15,637.5	16,039.9	15,326.0
Domestic Demand	18,949.1	20,315.2	20,848.4	21,895.6	22,083.2
Private consumption	12,403.3	13,007.3	13,613.6	13,858.5	1,3322.9
Fixed investment	3,549.9	4,304.7	4,081.0	4,162.9	4,077.9
Exports of goods and services	13,171.0	14,469.1	15,626.7	15,562.8	13,634.5
Imports of goods and services	13,207.8	14,908.4	15,575.2	15,879.1	15,212.7
Memorandum items					
Per capita GDP at current prices (€)	22.229	23.408	24.633	25.270	23.397
Per capita GDP at PPS(1) (EU28=100)	88	89	91	89	87
Real GDP change (%)	6.4	5.2	5.2	3.1	-5.1

^{(1) &}quot;PPS" stands for "Purchasing Power Parities".

Labour market

In 2019 the labour market had not yet fully recovered from the 2013 financial crisis with unemployment levels being relatively high related to historical trends. Unemployment (as measured by the Labour Forurse Survey) however had been on a decreasing trend since 2015 and decreased to 7.1% at the end of 2019 from 8.4% in 2018.

The effects of the global pandemic on the economy during 2020 have led to a reversal of this trend and unemployment increased in 2020 to 7.6%.

Youth unemployment peaked in the second quarter of 2013 at a rate of approximately 40% following thereafter a downward path declining to approximately 16.6% in 2019 and then increasing to 18.2% in 2020. Similarly, long-term unemployment declined from approximately 7.7% of the labour force in 2014 to about 2.1% in 2019 and remained fairly unchanged in 2020.

Wage developments in 2019 followed the steady recovery of the economy denoting an improving labour market and labour demand rising faster than supply. Wage growth, as reflected in compensation per employee exhibited an increase of 1.9% in 2019. In 2020 there was a significant drop of 3.2% which can be attributed directly to the effects of the pandemic.

Nominal unit labour costs increased in 2020 by 1.5%, following an increase of 1.9% in 2019 while real unit labour cost in 2020 decreased by 2.6% following an increase of 1.6% in 2019.

Productivity in persons in 2020 fell by 4.6% due to the fact that employment in persons declined by 0.6% compared with the 5.1% decrease in GDP.

^{*}Seasonally adjusted data

Inflation

Inflation, as measured by the Harmonised Indices of Consumer Prices (the ("**HICP**"), turned negative during 2020 falling to -1.1% after three continues years of positive growth of 0.7%, on average, driven mainly by the developments in international oil prices and the global effects of the pandemic. From 2021 onwards inflation is currently forecast to turn positive, reaching a yearly average of 2%, and hover around 1.5-2% in the medium term (however, there can be no assurance that this will occur).

The following table shows labour market and price developments for the periods indicated:

	2017	2018	2019	2020
Population (000s, average)	859.5	870.1	882.0	890.8
Employment (000's)	407.1	428.8	442.1	439.6
Unemployment rate, Labour Force Survey (%)	11.1	8.4	7.1	7.6
Productivity growth (%)	-0.2	-0.1	0.0	-4.6
Employment growth (%)	5.4	5.3	3.1	-0.6
Compensation per employee (%)	1.7	1.3	1.9	-3.2
Real Compensation per employee (%)	1.2	-0.1	1.6	-2.6
Unit labour cost changes (%)	1.9	1.4	1.9	1.5
Rate of inflation, HICP (%)	0.7	0.8	0.5	-1.1

10218360267-v8 - 52 - 70-41025765

EXTERNAL POSITION

Balance of Payments

As Cyprus is a small, open economy, balance of payments transactions take on great importance in measuring transactions with the rest of the world and external performance. The import and export of goods and services, as a percentage of GDP, have averaged around 146% in the period 2017-2020.

Cyprus records surpluses in the services account and deficits in the goods account. Primary export categories of services are transport, travel and financial services, as well as telecommunication, computers and information services. Domestic exports of goods comprise agricultural products, manufactured products of agricultural origin and pharmaceuticals. Imports of transportation vehicles, intermediate inputs, capital goods, durable consumer goods and oil comprise the majority share in total imports. The main trading partners of Cyprus are European Union members, particularly Greece, Germany and the UK, as well as Russia and China.

Cyprus hosts a number of companies, which statistically fall under the definition of Special Purpose Entities ("SPEs"). The assets and liabilities of these enterprises strongly influence the external statistics of the country and their interaction with the domestic economy is negligible. The main types of SPEs identified thus far in Cyprus are financial companies, mainly financing, holding and factoring/invoicing companies, as well as non-financial, mainly ship-owning, companies.

Historically, Cyprus has recorded current account deficits in the balance of payments. In the years 2017-2020, the current account deficit averaged 6.9% of GDP (5.7% of GDP excluding SPEs). The underlying performance in the trade balance, adjusted for the impact of SPEs, has been positive in 2016-2018 and 2020. The income account, accounting for the impact of SPEs, has been negative throughout this period.

The current account balance recorded a deficit of epsilon 1,470.6 million in 2019 (6.3 % of GDP) compared to a deficit of epsilon 931 million in 2018 (4.4% of GDP). The increase in the current account deficit resulted mainly from, a worsening in the trade balance, especially the services balance together with primary income.

Excluding the impact of SPEs the current account deficit has increased, with the deficit in 2019 at 6.8% of GDP compared to 3.0% the year before. The current account deficit in 2019 was mainly financed via inward foreign direct investment and to a lesser extent through borrowing by the Government.

The current account balance recorded a deficit of €2,476.4 million in 2020 (-11.9% of GDP) compared to a deficit of €1,406 million in 2019 (-6.3% of GDP). The significant increase in the current account deficit resulted mainly from lower surplus in services (from €4,396.6 million to €2,881.2 million) and, to a much lesser extent, larger deficit in secondary income (from -€269.6 million to -€303.0 million). These adverse developments were partly offset by lower deficits in goods (from -€4,634.4 million to -€4,177.1 million) and in primary income (from -€898.7 million to -€877.5 million). This development is attributed almost completely to the effects of the global pandemic and its effects on the economy. Excluding the impact of SPEs the current account in 2020 recorded a deficit of €2,384.5 million (-11.4% of GDP).

Based on the principle of double-entry accounting, the balance of the financial account is, by definition, equal to the balance of the current and capital accounts. In practice, however, this correlation is weak since, firstly, transactions cannot always be correctly attributed to the respective periods and, secondly, there are gaps in the statistical coverage of almost all sub-accounts. All these discrepancies are reflected in the "net errors and omissions" account.

10218360267-v8 - 53 - 70-41025765

The following table presents a summary of Cyprus' balance of payments:

Balance of Payments

	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020
			(€ million)		
Current Account Balance	-795.6	-1,069.1	-842.1	-1,406.0	-2,476.4
Goods	-4,165.5	-4,955.8	-4,536.7	-4,634.4	-4,177.1
Services	4,486.5	4,878.8	4,868.2	4,396.6	2,881.2
Primary Income	-754.6	-656.9	-822.0	-898.7	-877.5
Secondary Income	-362.0	-335.2	-351.6	-269.6	-303.0
Capital Account	15.8	82.9	130.3	24.4	17.5
Financial Account	-367.6	-487.6	-799.0	-1,334.4	-2,173.0
Direct investment	-2,022.4	-658.8	-4,734.4	-5,311.8	-2,020.1
Portfolio investment	-3,606.0	-876.2	-2,964.4	2,106.6	-2,917.2
Financial derivatives	347.3	323.6	779.2	193.7	-232.8
Other investment	4,936.9	729.3	6,069.1	1,678.7	2,963.7
Reserve assets	-23.4	-5.5	51.5	-1.6	33.4
Net errors and omissions	412.3	498.6	-87.2	47.2	285.9
Balance on goods and services	321.0	-77.0	331.5	-237.8	-1,295.9
Current account balance (% of GDP)	-4.2%	-5.3%	-3.9%	-6.3%	-11.9%
Current account balance excl. SPEs (% of GDP).	-0.6%	-1.7%	-3.0%	-6.8%	-11.4%

Real Effective Exchange Rate

The Nominal Effective Exchange Rate ("NEER") index strengthened in the period from March to September 2020, in contrast to the Real Effective Exchange Rate ("REER") index that recorded a very small weakening. Overall, the trend of the REER index, as well as the widening of the gap between the NEER and REER indices was influenced by developments in the nominal value of the euro, but most importantly by domestic developments, in particular the lower inflation recorded in Cyprus compared with its trading partners.

The REER index along with the inflation rate and unit labour costs are important measures of the competitiveness of an economy. Lower unit labour costs and a lower REER in Cyprus compared with competing countries, suggest that domestic exports tend to be more price competitive.

International investment position

The international investment position ("IIP") reflects, at a specific point in time, the amount of claims and liabilities of residents vis-à-vis non-residents, including gold reserves and foreign currency reserves of the country. The difference between claims and liabilities constitutes the net international investment position ("NIIP"), which based on the sign (positive or negative), characterises the country as a net creditor or debtor vis-à-vis the rest of the world, respectively. The values of external assets and liabilities are influenced not only by transactions but also by changes in market prices, exchange rates, reclassifications and other volume changes.

Cyprus' liabilities towards the rest of the world remain higher than foreign assets owned by its residents. Due to the inclusion of SPEs any entities owning ships registered in Cyprus are treated as Cypriot economic residents independent of the location of their activities (i.e. the residency concept). Ship-owning is associated with significant financial liabilities, mostly in terms of loans, due to the capital-intensive nature of the industry while the ships are real assets and are not captured by the IIP statistics. The impact of the treatment of ship owning operations has affected most significantly the "other" and direct investment categories. Therefore, the IIP figures net of the impact of SPEs are also presented in this section. A further contributor to the negative investment position is constituted by government financing. Both the loans obtained by private and public residents are included in the "other" investment category, itself being the largest contributor to the negative IIP.

There has been a deterioration in IIP in recent years, going from a negative balance of $\[\in \] 26,953.8$ million as at 31 December 2018 to a negative balance of $\[\in \] 27,252.4$ million as at 31 December 2019. Excluding the impact of SPEs the IIP improved from a negative balance of $\[\in \] 9,226.8$ million as at 31 December 2018 to a negative balance of $\[\in \] 8,980.0$ million as at 31 December 2019. This translates to an improvement of the liability position in the NIIP of 43.1% of GDP as at 31 December 2018 to 40.3% of GDP as at 31 December 2019.

IIP remained lower during 2020 recording a net liability position of $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{$\epsilon$}}\]$ 29,446 million compared to $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{$\epsilon$}}\]$ 27,2524 million the year before. This deterioration was mainly due to the decreases recorded in portfolio investment and, to a small extent, financial derivatives, while these changes were partly compensated by the improvements in direct investment, other investment and reserves. Excluding the impact of SPEs the IIP deteriorated from $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{$\epsilon$}}\]$ 980.0 million as at 31 December 2019 to $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{$\epsilon$}}\]$ 109 to $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{$\epsilon$}}\]$ 109 to a liability position of $\[mathebox{\ensuremath{$\epsilon$}}\]$ 2019 to a liability position of 52.0% of GDP as at 31 December 2020.

In parallel, the deterioration in the net international investment position in 2020 was driven by negative net transactions, net exchange rate revaluations and net price changes, which were partially offset, by positive net other volume changes.

External Debt

The external debt includes all liabilities of residents of Cyprus vis-à-vis other countries, broken down by institutional sector (Monetary Authorities, Government, Monetary Financial Institutions, and Other Sectors), by type of financial instrument and by duration of liabilities (i.e. long-term and short-term). The external debt does not include liabilities related to equity, financial derivatives and direct investment. This constitutes the main statistical difference between the External Debt position and the liabilities of the International Investment Position.

The gross external debt increased slightly to \in 189,307.3 million as at 31 December 2020 compared to \in 189,212.0 million as at 31 December 2019. This increase resulted from the increase in debt of the Government while the remaining categories recorded decreases which almost offset all of the abovementioned increase.

In terms of institutional sector, in 2020 intercompany lending constituted the largest category and amounted to \in 79,312.8 million corresponding to 42% of the total external debt, followed by "Other sectors" with 41% of total external debt.

Financial SPEs exert considerable influence on the gross external debt of the country and, since their assets and liabilities are not in the same instrument category, the associated SPE data highly impact the net external debt figures of Cyprus. In the case of non-financial SPEs, mainly ship-owning SPEs, their influence is even more pronounced as these entities are owners of movable equipment. These assets are matched on their balance sheets by financial liabilities incurred for their financing. Since real assets are not included in external statistics the gross external debt position is negatively influenced.

The gross external debt excluding the impact of SPEs has followed in recent years a declining trend, reducing to 264% of GDP as at 31 December 2018 from 345% as at 31 December of 2015. It has however increased in the period 2019-2020 to 287% of GDP as at 31 December 2020 partly due to the effects of the pandemic.

Gross External Debt

	As at 31 December					
	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	
Gross External Debt (€ million)	216,629	207,312	192,933	189,212	189,307	
Gross External Debt (per cent. of GDP)	1144	1030	900	849	908	
Gross External Debt excl. SPEs (€ million)	58,973	59,908	56,657	60,573	59,769	
Gross External Debt excl. SPEs (per cent. of GDP)	312	298	264	272	287	

Composition of Gross External Debt

	As at 31 December					
	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	
General Government	15,361	15,567	16,113	17,239	20,787	
Central Bank	444	454	543	563	230	
Deposit-taking Corporations, except the Central Bank	21,109	19,727	15,539	12,693	11,209	
Other Sectors	80,657	77,082	79,113	78,337	77,768	
Direct investment: intercompany lending	99,057	94,483	81,625	80,380	79,313	

PUBLIC FINANCES

Medium Term Budgetary Objective

Taking into account the fiscal developments of the period 2014-2019 whereby the budget balance exhibited a comfortable surplus position, the Government intended to maintain a growth-friendly albeit prudent fiscal stance, building on the favourable economic environment, in order to further support investment. The global pandemic has forced the government to temporarily revise this strategy for the 2020-2021 budgets but it is expected that by the 2022 budget this strategy will be fully restored

The main Government policy objective is to safeguard stability and growth. In order to achieve this, the medium-term budgetary objective is set at a balanced budget in structural terms, allowing automatic stabilisers to operate freely and raising the growth potential of the economy through high value-added investments. The Government's fiscal policy stance is formulated based on a prudent macro-economic scenario, which locks in the fiscal achievements and respects the national medium-term objective of a balanced budget.

Particular focus is placed on a gradual and sustained reduction of public-debt to GDP ratio which increased significantly in 2020. To this end, the Government's fiscal policy aims at continuing to achieve high primary surpluses, which will support the resumption of a downward trend of the debt-to-GDP at a satisfactory pace, following the 2020 increase as a result of the effects of the pandemic on the global and local economy.

The medium-term fiscal strategy of the Government is consistent with the fiscal rules embedded in the public financial management framework through, inter alia, the enactment of the Fiscal Responsibility and Budget Systems Law. According to this, the overall budgetary position rule establishes that the general government structural fiscal balance is balanced or in surplus in the medium term. During 2020, the structural balance was in deficit of approximately -4.5% of GDP and is forecast to remain in deficit of -5% in 2021.

Developments in 2019

The budget balance of the General Government was in surplus during 2019 of about €326 million (1.5% of GDP), including the negative one-off fiscal impact of -€285 million that was the result of the amendment of the Income Tax Law as of March 2019, which allows the conversion of specific Deferred Tax Assets (DTA) into Deferred Tax Credit (DTC), compared to a deficit¹of €926 million (-4.4% of GDP) during 2018. Primary balance was also in surplus of about €1,142 million (5.2% of GDP).

Excluding the one-off fiscal impacts, nominal balance was in surplus of the order of 2.8% of GDP compared to 3.7% of GDP the year before. Respectively, primary balance reached a surplus of 5.1% compared to 6.1% of GDP the year before.

Revenue

In 2019, total revenue as a percentage of GDP amounted to 41.2% compared to 39.5% the year before, recording an increase of 1.7 percentage points of GDP. In value terms, total revenue increased by 8.3% compared to 2018. Almost all revenue categories recorded an increase in 2019 compared to the year before.

Tax revenue increased by 3.7% due to the increase both in taxes on production and imports as well as in current taxes on income and wealth. In more detail, receipts from taxes on production and imports increased by 3%, despite the loss from the reduction of excise duties on fuels by ϵ 0.0595 per litre (such reduction being introduced at the end of 2018) estimated at about ϵ 42 million. Revenues from VAT compensated the abovementioned loss, which increased by about 4.2% during the year under review, reflecting the improvement in economic conditions and the increase in private consumption.

¹ The budget balance of 2018 includes one-off impact of about €1.5 billion, which is the methodological treatment of the sale of part of assets and liabilities of the Cyprus Cooperative Bank (CCB) to Hellenic Bank.

Revenue from taxes on income and wealth increased by 4.9%, fuelled by the strong performance of income tax receipts from employees, as well as from corporate tax receipts. A year-to-year decrease was recorded to the receipts from withholding tax on interest, following the interest rate trends.

Revenue from social security contributions increased by 28.8%, mainly attributed to contributions in the context of the National Health Service ("NHS") as from March 2019 (contribution to the growth of this revenue category of 15 percentage points). In addition, the pre-legislated increases in social security contributions as of January 2019 also had a positive contribution to this revenue category, as well as the further improvement conditions in the labour market, namely employment and wage developments.

Property income recorded an increase of 31.1% mainly due to a higher dividend received by the Cyprus Telecommunications Authority ("**CYTA**"). Finally, revenue from other sources, which consists of non-tax revenue, exhibited a decrease of about 46.3%,

Expenditure

Total expenditure in 2019, as a percent of GDP, exhibited a decrease of 3.4 percentage points, from 43.1% of GDP in 2018 to 39.47% of GDP in 2019. The liabilities of the Cyprus Cooperative Bank ("CCB") undertaken by the Cyprus Asset Management Company (KEDIPES) during 2018, in the context of its sale to the Hellenic Bank, contributed negatively to the growth of general government expenditure by about 17 percentage points. On the other hand, a positive contribution on total expenditure growth of 3.1 percentage points was the result of the methodological treatment related to the amendment of Income Tax Law, March 2019. Excluding these two abovementioned impacts, total expenditure increased by about 11.5% during 2019.

Compensation of employees exhibited an increase of about 10.1%, mainly attributed to the gradual phasing out of wage cuts (contribution of 2.6 percentage points) as well as to the government's contribution to the NHS as an employer (contribution of 1.4 percentage points). Increases in employment in the health sector also contributed to expenditure, as well as increments, the granting of the cost of living allowance and expenses related to KEDIPES. As a percentage to GDP, compensation of employees increased by 0.7 percentage points, from 11.6% in 2018 to 12.3% of GDP in 2019.

Intermediate consumption recorded a growth of 22.2% compared to the year before, mostly due to expenses related to KEDIPES.

Social payments increased at a rate of 11%, where as a percent of GDP it increased by 0.9 percentage points from 12.6% of GDP in 2018 to 13.5% of GDP in 2019.

Interest expenditure recorded an increase of 0.6% in 2019 compared to the year before and gross fixed capital formation recorded a sharp decrease of 45.3%, declining as a percentage of GDP from 4.9% in 2018 to 2.6% in 2019, such decline being associated with the sale of CCB in 2018.

Finally, the category of other expenditure recorded a decrease of about 39.7% during 2019, declining to 4.4% of GDP compared to 7.5% of GDP the year before. Excluding the methodological treatment of the one-off fiscal impact related to the sale of CCB as well as the one-off impact regarding the amendment of Income Tax Law as of March 2019, category other expenditure increased by 10% in value terms during 2019, mainly due to higher contributions to the EU budget.

Developments 2020

The budget balance during 2020 recorded a substantial deterioration and turned into a deficit of 5.7% of GDP compared to a surplus of 1.5% of GDP the year before. This negative outcome, after four consecutive years of strong fiscal position, was due to the impact of the COVID-19 outbreak on the economy, which recorded a negative growth of 5.1% in real terms during 2020, as well as due to the support measures of a one-off nature, targeting the consequences of the pandemic crisis on health, businesses and employment positions.

In nominal terms, the deficit in the accounts of the general government reached about $\in 1,193$ million in 2020 compared to a surplus of $\in 326$ million the year before. Primary balance was also in deficit of about $\in 742$ million (-3.6% of GDP) compared to a primary surplus of $\in 836$ million (3.8% of GDP) in 2019.

Revenue

In 2020, total revenue as a percentage of GDP fell from 41.2% the year before to 40.9%, recording a decline of 0.3 percentage points of GDP. In value terms, total revenue decreased by 7.1% compared to the year before. Almost all revenue categories recorded a decrease during the year under review. Tax revenue dropped by 9.4% during 2020, falling to 23.9% of GDP from 24.6% of GDP during 2019.

Receipts from taxes on production and imports contributed the most to the negative growth of tax revenue (by -8.3 percentage points) and decreased by 13.7% in value terms, mostly due to reduced VAT receipts in line with the restrictive COVID-19 measures, as well as from a reduction of the special VAT rates as of 1st July 2020 until the end of 2020.

Revenue from taxes on income and wealth decreased by 0.6%, which was related to the crisis developments in the labour market. As a percentage of GDP, current taxes on income and wealth increased by 0.4 percentage points, from 9.7% of GDP in 2019 to 10.1% of GDP in 2020. Despite the pandemic crisis, the generous package of the government, which provided wage subsidisations as well as direct support to businesses, restrained losses from this revenue category.

Revenue from social security contributions increased by 0.3% during 2020, despite the negative labour market developments during the year under review. The positive growth in social security contributions was the outcome of increased contributions in the context of the NHS, which contributed by 7.5 percentage points to this year-on-year increase. As a percentage of GDP, revenue from social security contributions increased from 10.7% in 2019 to 11.5% in 2020.

Property income declined by 29.7% mainly due to the non-payment of a dividend by the Central Bank of Cyprus during 2020, as well as due to the methodological treatment of the signature bonus related to the production sharing contracts for the exploration and exploitation of hydrocarbon reserves, which was reflected in the accounts of the general government in the three-year period 2017-2019.

Expenditure

Total expenditure in 2020 as a percentage of GDP, exhibited an increase of 6.9 percentage points, from 39.7% of GDP in 2019 to 46.6% of GDP in 2020. In value terms, public expenditure increased by 9.8%, of which 7.2 percentage points are attributed to measures undertaken by the government to tackle the impact of the pandemic.

Compensation of employees exhibited an increase of about 5.8%, mainly attributed to increased pensions and gratuity payments (contribution of 1.5 percentage points), the gradual phasing out of wage cuts (contribution of 1.3 percentage points) as well as to the government's contribution to the NHS as an employer (contribution of 0.3 percentage points). Increments, as well as the granting of the cost-of-living allowance also contributed positively to this expenditure category during 2020 by about 1.3 percentage points in total. As a percentage of GDP, compensation of employees increased by 1.6 percentage points, from 12.3% in 2019 to 13.9% of GDP in 2020.

Intermediate consumption recorded a negative rate of growth of 7.7% compared to the year before. As a percentage of GDP, intermediate consumption stayed at 4.4% as in the year before.

Social payments increased at a rate of 18.1% and had the highest contribution to the growth of public expenditure during 2020 by 6.2 percentage points. This substantial increase is mainly due to increased compensations of the Health Insurance Organisation ("HIO") to private health providers for their services in the context of the NHS (contribution to the increase of social payments, 13.6 percentage points), as well as due to COVID-19 related measures of wage subsidisation for employees that needed to be absent from work and for special unemployment allowances (contribution to the increase of social payments, 2.1 percentage points). As a percentage of GDP, social payments increased from 13.5% in 2019 to 17% during 2020.

The expenditure category of subsidies also contributed substantially to the growth of public expenditure during 2020, by 5.7 percentage points. This was the outcome of COVID-19 related measures mainly for the subsidisation of wages of employees of companies that experienced full or partial suspension of their operations, as well as due to the one-off payments to companies to cover part of their operating costs (contribution to total expenditure growth by 5.7 percentage points). As a percent of GDP, subsidies increased by 2.5 percentage points, from 0.3% of GDP the year before to 2.8% of GDP in 2020.

Public Debt and Government Guaranteed Debt

In 2019, the general government gross debt decreased by 5.2 percentage points of GDP compared to the year before falling to 94%. In 2020, public debt increased to 119.1% of GDP due to the effects of the pandemic and a strategic decision by the Republic to significantly increase liquid assets to deal with the uncertainty created by the pandemic. In absolute terms the public debt was €24,852 million as at 31 December 2020 exhibiting, an increase from £20,958 million at 31 December 2019.

Short term debt in the form of Treasury Bills accounted for €1,475 million as at 31 December 2020 or 5% of Cyprus' total debt. Long term debt amounted to €23,377 million as at 31 December 2020 of which approximately 61% in the form of securities and 33% in the form of loans. Additionally, debt in the form of currency and deposits reached €151 million as at 31 December 2020.

The total outstanding foreign public debt is estimated to be $\[\in \] 20,324$ million as at 31 December 2020 of which $\[\in \] 12,450$ million is in the form of euro medium-term notes and $\[\in \] 7,874$ million is in the form of long-term loans, principally granted by the European Stability Mechanism ($\[\in \] 6,300$ million) and the European Investment Bank ($\[\in \] 892$ million). As at 31 December 2020 there is no debt in foreign currency.

The following table shows a breakdown of general government debt as at the dates indicated.

	As at 31 December						
	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020		
•			$(\epsilon million)$				
Short-Term Debt	300	200	252	300	1,475		
Long-Term Debt	19,091	18,485	20,866	20,512	23,377		
Currency and Deposits	119	129	138	146	151		
Total Debt	19,509	18,814	21,256	20,958	24,852		
	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020		
			(€ million)				
Securities	6,309	6,590	10,818	12,139	16,514		
Loans	13,081	12,095	10,300	8,673	8,187		
Currency and Deposits	119	129	138	146	151		
Total Debt	19,509	18,814	21,256	20,958	24,852		

Figures may not add up due to rounding

The outstanding amount of government guarantees as at 31 December 2020 was \in 1,759 million. Excluding the guarantees provided to general government entities of \in 249 million, for loans which are already included in the public debt, the total guarantee stock was \in 1,510 million

The largest category of guarantee beneficiaries are public interest entities with \in 783 million or 45% of the total outstanding. The second largest category of principal debtors are credit institutions with government guarantees of \in 511 million or approximately 29% of the total outstanding guarantees. Additionally, there are guarantees provided to local authorities and individuals for \in 249 million (14%) and \in 198 million (6%) respectively.

Debt record

The Government has always effected the prompt payment of principal and interest on its domestic and external debt when due.

BANKING AND FINANCIAL SYSTEM

General

The banking system in Cyprus comprises seven locally incorporated credit institutions, four subsidiaries of foreign credit institutions, 18 branches of foreign credit institutions. The Central Bank of Cyprus ("CBC") is the national Supervisory Authority for all credit institutions, the Macroprudential Authority for the entire financial sector and the National Resolution Authority for banks and investment firms.

Central Bank of Cyprus

The CBC was established in 1963, shortly after Cyprus gained its independence, as an autonomous institution in accordance with the Central Bank of Cyprus Law 1963 and the relevant articles of the Constitution. Today the CBC is governed by the Central Bank of Cyprus Laws 2002 (as amended), which ensure the CBC's independence as well as compatibility with the relevant provisions of the Treaty establishing the European Community and the Statute of the European System of Central Banks and of the European Central Bank ("ECB"). The law as amended in March 2007 paved the way for the legal integration of the CBC into the Euro system in January 2008.

The main functions of the CBC include: implementing the ECB's monetary policy decisions; holding and managing the official international reserves; supervising banks; safeguarding the stability of the financial system; promoting, regulating and overseeing the smooth operation of payment and settlement systems and acting as a banker for the Government.

The total balance sheet of the CBC as at 31 July 2021 was $\[mathebox{}\]$ 28,590 million. The main assets were: intraeuro system claims of $\[mathebox{}\]$ 11,876 million, securities of euro area residents denominated in euro of $\[mathebox{}\]$ 8,665 million and lending to euro area credit institutions related to monetary policy operations denominated in euro of $\[mathebox{}\]$ 6,518 million. The main liabilities were: liabilities to euro area credit institutions related to monetary policy operations denominated in euro of $\[mathebox{}\]$ 9,648 million, liabilities to other euro area residents denominated in euro (general government) of $\[mathebox{}\]$ 3,340 million and banknotes in circulation of $\[mathebox{}\]$ 2,966 million.

Regulatory and supervisory arrangements

Cyprus, being a member of the Eurozone, is also a member of the banking union within the European Union. The single supervisory mechanism ("SSM") is the first pillar of the banking union. The ECB directly supervises three systemic domestic institutions while the Central Bank of Cyprus supervises the less significant institutions. The second pillar of the banking union consists of the Single Resolution Mechanism ("SRM") which applies to the banks falling under the supervision of the SSM. The single resolution board, is a fully independent EU agency acting as the central resolution authority within the banking union. Together with the national resolution authorities, including the Central Bank of Cyprus, it forms the SRM.

The banking sector

Deposits and Liquidity

The outstanding amount of deposits reached €50,122 million as at 31 August 2021 compared to €48,213 million as at 31 December 2020 and €48,734 million as at 31 December 2019. There was a modest overall decrease due to the pandemic effect in the first half of 2020, with the deposits exhibiting a small increase afterwards.

Since the beginning of 2021 domestic residents' deposits noted a small overall increase of \in 1,293 million (3.3%), whereas other euro area residents increased by \in 348 million or 14.0%, and the non-resident deposits increased by \in 267 million or 4%. The share of non-resident deposits continues to decline as a share of total deposits, albeit at a slower pace than in previous years.

Capital position

The Common Equity Tier 1 ("**CET1**") capital ratio of the Cypriot banking sector reached 17.2% in June 2021 compared to 17.6% as at 31 December 2020, and 17.0% as at 31 December 2019. Risk weighted assets dropped to ϵ 25.2 billion in June 2021 from ϵ 25.8 billion in December 2020, noting a decline of ϵ 553 million over 2021, and a total decline of ϵ 1.6 billion since December 2019 primarily due to the sale of non-performing loans and changes in the regulatory treatment. The aggregate solvency ratio of the sector

remained unchanged between June 2021 and December 2020 at 20.3% compared to 19.9% as at 31 December 2019.

Loans and New Lending

Total outstanding loans by the locally active banks stood at €29.6 billion as at 31 August 2021, decreasing by €2.1 billion since 31 December 2020 mainly due loan sales, repayments and debt-to-asset swaps. New lending declined from €3,201 million in 2019 to €2,403 million in 2020 attributed to the subdued economic activity due to the pandemic. New lending in the first seven months of 2021 reached €1,636 million.

Banks' portfolio composition, Non-Performing Exposures and Provisions coverage

Non-performing exposures ("**NPEs**") represent the major challenge currently faced by the banking system. Despite significant decreases being achieved in recent years, they still represent 17.5% of total loans as at 30 June 2021 compared to 17.7% as at 31 December 2020, 28.0% as at 31 December 2019, and 42.5% as at 31 December 2017. NPEs in absolute terms decreased to ϵ 5.0 billion, down from ϵ 9.1 billion as at 31 December 2019 and ϵ 20.9 billion as at 31 December 2017. The overall decrease since 31 December 2014, when NPEs peaked at ϵ 28.4 billion (47.5% of total loans), equals ϵ 23.2 billion which is approximately 100% of the GDP of the respective period. Accumulated provisions stood at 47% of NPEs as at 30 June 2021.

NPEs are classified based on the harmonised definition of the European Banking Authority which includes loans that have been restructured and, even though they meet the revised repayment programme, they retain their NPE status for at least 12 months after restructuring before being reclassified as performing. The significant decrease of NPEs in 2018 by \in 10.5 billion, was attributed to the transfer of \in 5.7 billion NPEs of the CCB to KEDIPES, and the sale of NPE portfolios by credit institutions (including the sale of \in 2.7 billion NPEs by the Bank of Cyprus). In 2019 the decrease was limited to \in 1.3 billion, whereas in the first 11 months of 2020 it reached \in 3.4 billion, due to further NPEs sales from various banks, as well as increased repayments, restructurings successfully completed and reclassifications, write-offs and settlements through debt to asset swaps. Specifically, during 2020, NPE sales were mainly by the National Bank of Greece (Cyprus), Bank of Cyprus, and Alpha Bank. In January 2021, the Bank of Cyprus agreed a further sale of NPEs of \in 545 million ('Helix 2B').

Banks have taken steps to improve their internal management of loans in arrears, to further increase the pace of NPE restructuring. They have established internal loan restructuring operations devoting substantial resources to deal with NPEs and are refining their policies and practices on the basis of experience to date. The outstanding balance of total restructured exposures reached €3.8 billion as at 31 May 2021. Moreover, domestic banks have partnered with foreign debt specialists and established independent debt servicing companies.

Banking sector indicators

Key aggregate financial indicators for the Cypriot banking sector are compiled on the basis of the consolidated banking data, which is used for macroprudential analysis conducted at the European Central Bank/European System of Central Banks. They contain information on the profitability, balance sheets, asset quality and capital adequacy of EU banks.

10218360267-v8 - **61** - 70-41025765

The following table sets out the key aggregate financial indicators for the Cypriot banking sector (aggregate cross-border and cross sector consolidated data, excluding insurance activities) at the dates indicated:

activities) at the dates	s indicated:		As at and for the 31 Decen	-		As at and for the three months ended 31 March
		2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
Efficiency (%)	Cost-to-income ratio	-53.6	-62.5	-72.3	-63.1	-71.2
Profitability (%)	Total profit (loss) after tax and discontinued operations per total equity (Return on equity ratio) Net interest margin	-11.2 2.3	6.1 1.8	3.4 1.9	-3.7 1.8	2.4 1.8
Assets (% of total assets)	Cash and cash balances with central banks Financial assets held for trading Available-for-sale financial assets Loans and receivables (including finance leases) Tangible and intangible assets Investments in associates, subsidiaries and joint ventures Total loans and advances Debt instruments Total equity instruments	22.4 0.3 5.2 64.7 1.8 0.3 64.1 6.9 0.1	23.2 0.1 4.3 63.4 1.0 0.3 54.6 13.8 0.1	24.7 0.0 4.6 63.8 1.4 0.2 53.8 15.3 0.1	25.0 0.0 3.7 63.7 1.4 0.2 48.7 16.9 0.1	27.2 0.1 3.6 65.0 1.4 0.2 51.4 18.2 0.1
Liabilities (% of total assets)	Deposits from central banks Financial liabilities held for trading Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost Derivatives-hedge accounting. Provisions Total deposits from credit institutions Total deposits (other than from credit institutions) Total debt certificates (including bonds)	1.4 0.1 88.8 0.1 0.4 12.0 75.6 0.4	1,4 0.0 90.0 0.1 0.4 9.7 79.2 0.4	0.1 0.0 90.4 0.1 0.4 6.8 82.8 0,3	0.1 91.3 0.1 0.4 5.9 80.6 0.8	0.0 0.0 91.6 0.1 0.4 5.9 78.0 0.7
Value of equity (%)	Issued capital per total equity	54.2 15.3	32.3 8.1	33.1 7.4	34.4 26.9	34.5 23.3
Liquidity (% of total assets)	Cash and trading assets Cash. trading and available-for-sale assets ratio Amounts owed to credit institutions	22.7 27.9 12.0	23.3 27.6 9.7	24.7 29.3 6.8	25.0 28.8 5.9	27.4 31.0 5.9
Capital adequacy (%)	Overall solvency ratio	16.3 15.4 14.9	17.5 16.5 15.1	19.9 19.0 17.4	20.4 19.3 17.7	20.1 19.0 17.4
Capital requirements (% total requirements)	Total capital requirements for credit counterparty credit and dilution and delivery risks	88.7	87.8	88.5	89.2	89.3

FINANCIAL SECTOR DEVELOPMENTS, MONETARY POLICY AND INTEREST RATE REGIME

Credit and deposits developments

Total loans to Non-Monetary Financial Institutions ("**MFIs**") as at 31 August 2021 amounted to €29,629 million reflecting a decrease of €2.1 billion since 31 December 2020, and a further decrease of €4 billion in 2019 due to the sale of loans as well as debt repayments and debt-to-asset swaps.

The outstanding deposits were €50,122 million as at 31 August 2021 compared to €48,213 million as at 31 December 2020 and €48,735 million as at 31 December 2019. Deposits have remained relatively stable over the last few years.

The loans to, and deposits by, non-MFIs, in amounts and growth rate, were:

	As at 31 December				
Total Amounts (€ million)	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
Total MFI loans to non-MFIs	51,351	39,197	33,642	31,776	29,629
Total MFI deposits by non-MFIs	49,417	47,864	48,735	48,213	48,351
		For the	year		For the first 8 months
Average Growth rate (%)	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
Total MFI loans to non-MFIs	(2.9)	(1.7)	(1.7)	(3.8)	1.8
Total MFI deposits by non-MFIs	4.7	3.2	2.6	0.2	2.7

Interest rates on loans and deposits

As at 31 July 2021, the average rate on households' new deposits with a maturity of up to one year, dropped to 0.07%, compared to 0.08% as at 31 December 2020 and 0.16% as at 31 December 2019, whilst for non-financial corporations it was 0.06% compared to 0.09% and 0.12% at the respective dates.

Average lending rates to households for housing purposes decreased to 2.21% as at 31 July 2021 compared to 2.86% as at 31 December 2020 and 2.90% as at 31 December 2019, whilst lending rates to non-financial corporations for loans up to $\[\in \]$ 1 million increased to 3.30% compared to 3.13% and 3.09% on the respective dates.

As a Euro area member, monetary policy is formulated at Euro area level, by the Governing Council of the ECB. Effective from 18 September 2019 the Eurosystem's rate on the deposit facility was lowered to -0.50%, the main refinancing operations interest rate was kept at 0.00% and of marginal facility rate at 0.25%.

The ECB's Asset Purchase Programme ("APP") is part of a package of non-standard monetary policy measures to support the monetary policy transmission mechanism and ensure price stability. Between October 2014 and December 2018 the Eurosystem conducted net purchases of securities. Between January 2019 and October 2019, the Eurosystem fully reinvested the principal payments from maturing securities held in the APP portfolios. On 12 September 2019 the ECB Governing Council decided that net purchases will be restarted at a monthly pace of €20 billion as from 1 November 2019, with the aim of effectively addressing the prolonged period of low inflation in the Euro area, to reinforce the accommodative impact of its policy rates, and to end shortly before it starts raising the key ECB interest rates.

The ECB's pandemic emergency purchase programme ("**PEPP**") is a non-standard monetary policy measure initiated in March 2020 to counter the serious risks to the monetary policy transmission mechanism and the outlook for the euro area posed by the COVID-19 outbreak. The Governing Council decided to increase the initial ϵ 750 billion envelope for the PEPP by ϵ 600 billion on 4 June 2020 and by ϵ 500 billion on 10 December, for a new total of ϵ 1,850 billion. All asset categories eligible under the existing APP are also eligible under the PEPP, including Cyprus government securities.

According to most recently published data the total holdings by the eurosystem amounted to $\in 3,068$ billion under the APP (September 2021) and $\in 1,441$ billion under the PEPP (October 2021).

10218360267-v8 - 63 - 70-41025765

TAXATION

Cyprus Taxation

The following is a general description of certain tax aspects under Cyprus law concerning Notes issued by the Republic as of the date of this Offering Circular and does not purport to be a comprehensive description of all tax aspects relating to any such Notes. Prospective investors should consult their tax and other professional advisers as to the specific consequences of acquiring, holding and disposing of any Notes.

Income Tax and Special Contribution for the Defence of the Republic

Under the provisions of the Income Tax Law 118(I)/2002, as amended (the "**Income Tax Law**") a person is resident for tax purposes in Cyprus where in the case of a physical person that person is present in Cyprus for a period or periods exceeding in aggregate 183 days in the tax year or can be considered a Cyprus tax resident if he spends more than 60 days in Cyprus in a tax year subject to certain conditions (see below) and in the case of a company its management and control is exercised in Cyprus. The tax year for the purpose of the Income Tax Law coincides with the calendar year.

The amendment of 119(I)/2017 of Income Tax Law introduced the 60-day-rule for tax residency in Cyprus, which co-exists with the rules introduced for persons not domiciled in Cyprus (see below). So, besides the 183-day rule, an individual is resident for tax purposes in Cyprus if that individual meets all the following conditions:

- Is not a tax resident of another state;
- Does not stay for more than 183 days in another state;
- Stays in Cyprus for at least 60 days;
- Exercises any business in Cyprus or renders salaried services in Cyprus;
- Has a permanent residence in Cyprus which the individual owns or rents.

Under the provisions of the Income Tax Law, both individuals and companies tax resident in Cyprus that receive or are credited with interest, are exempt from income tax, but are subject to a 30% withholding pursuant to the provisions of the Special Contribution for the Defence of the Republic Law N117(I)/2002, as amended (the "Special Contribution Law").

A Cypriot tax resident – whether an individual or a company that receives or is credited with interest in the ordinary course of its business, including interest closely connected with the ordinary course of its business, is subject only to income tax for such interest considered as trading income. Under the provisions of the Income Tax Law, Cyprus tax resident entities can claim a Notional Interest Deduction ("NID") on new equity contributed to the resident entity. NID is a powerful tool that removes the tax bias between equity financing and debt financing and incentivizes deleveraging of businesses and realizes a tax efficient return on new equity. The rate of tax payable is 12.5%. Interest earned by open-ended or close-ended Collective Investment Schemes is also considered as trading income and subject only to income tax.

The Special Contribution Law incorporates the term of "domicile". For the purposes of the Special Contribution Law, an individual has a "domicile in the Republic" if he/she has a domicile of origin in Cyprus based on the provisions of the Wills and Succession Law (i.e. domicile of the father at the time of birth). It is provided that regardless of the domicile of origin, any individual who is resident in Cyprus, as defined in accordance with the provisions of the Income Tax Law for at least 17 out of the last 20 years prior to the relevant tax year, will be deemed domiciled in Cyprus for the purposes of this Law. Under the "non-domicile" rules, Cyprus tax resident individuals who are not domiciled in Cyprus are exempt from special contribution for defence taxation on dividend, interest and rental income. Hence, the non-domicile definition makes the holding of investments in dividend/interest earning assets e.g. shares, bonds etc. by non-Cyprus domiciled individuals more attractive. Moreover an anti-abuse provision has been introduced in the Special Contribution Law in relation to the taxation of dividends when these are paid to a company beneficially owned indirectly by Cyprus resident and domiciled individual(s). The anti-avoidance measure has been introduced to guard against possible abuse of the deemed distribution provisions by Cyprus resident and domiciled individuals. It does not affect companies owned directly or indirectly by non-resident or non-domiciled shareholders. It is noted that individuals who have "domicile in the Republic"

10218360267-v8 - **64** - 70-41025765

may be considered as non-domiciled for the purposes of the Special Contribution Law under certain conditions.

Physical and legal persons who, pursuant to the provisions of the Income Tax Law, are not residents of Cyprus for tax purposes are neither liable for any income tax charge nor subject to any withholding of special contribution for the defence of the Republic, for interest earned in the Republic.

The Notes issued by the Republic fall under the definition of the term "title" (or securities), as defined by the Income Tax Law and any profit earned by a person from the disposal of these Notes is exempt from income tax.

Cyprus' national tax framework is fully compliant with the relevant EU directives (including Anti-Tax Avoidance Directive (EU 2016/1164)), regulations and with the EU Code of Conduct Group on Business Taxation. Cyprus authorities are in the process of transposing into domestic legislation the Anti-Tax Avoidance Directive II from 1 January 2020.

In order to enhance Cyprus's attractiveness to the international funds' community, the Cypriot House of Representatives enacted a series of tax bills relating to the taxation of Cypriot investment funds.

The terms "carried interest" and "performance fee", introduced in the Income Tax Law, refer to the variable remuneration (usually a share of a fund's net profits) allocated to the employees and/or the executives of an alternative investment fund management company or of an internally managed investment fund. Such variable remuneration (provided certain conditions are met) earned by Cyprus tax resident individuals shall be taxed at the flat rate of 8% without any further allowances or deductions and shall not be added to any other forms of income.

In addition, the Cypriot tax law has been amended in order to clarify that each investment compartment of an Alternative Investment Fund or Undertakings for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities should be treated as a separate taxpayer.

Stamp Duty

The Stamp Duty Law, 19/1963, as amended provides that:

"(1) every instrument specified in the First Schedule shall be chargeable with duty of the amount specified in the said Schedule as the proper duty applicable thereon if it relates to any asset situated in the Republic or to subjects or matters which shall be carried on or take place in the Republic irrespective of the place where the document is drafted."

However, in respect of Notes issued by the Republic, no stamp duty is chargeable on the issue and transfer of the Notes.

Payments to Non-Cooperative Jurisdictions or Low-Tax Jurisdictions

It has been proposed that a withholding tax of 30% will be introduced by Cyprus on interest paid to recipients resident or incorporated in countries which are included in Annex I of the EU list of non-cooperative jurisdictions on tax matters or to recipients who are resident or incorporated in a low-tax jurisdiction. The Cyprus Parliament is yet to confirm or approve this proposal.

As at the date of this Offering Circular, the countries on the EU list of non-cooperative jurisdictions are American Samoa, Fiji, Guam, Palau, Panama, Samoa, Trinidad and Tobago, US Virgin Islands and Vanuatu.

It is expected that the above withholding in relation to the non-cooperative jurisdictions will not apply in cases where the interest paid to a non-Cyprus tax resident legal person relates to interest from securities listed on any recognised stock exchange. It is understood that the intention is not to apply such withholding tax in respect of payments of interest on listed securities. However, this has not been confirmed. As no drafts of the legislation have yet been published (and as this is likely to be a transposition of an EU directive), it is not possible to predict accurately when and how this proposal may be implemented.

Multilateral and Bilateral Instruments

Bilateral Double Tax Treaties

Cyprus has signed 65 double-tax treaties, mainly with European and Mediterranean countries. Most of the Treaties are in force. Most of Cyprus's treaties follow the OECD Model Convention and the latest signed Treaties incorporate all the minimum standards of the BEPS project, as issued by the OECD. The BEPS project refers to a set of 15 Actions developed by the OECD in October 2015, with four minimum standards, agreed to by all participating countries who have committed to consistent implementation, aiming at combating tax avoidance by multinational entities who are exploiting gaps and mismatches between different countries' tax systems, leading to the erosion of their tax base. The four minimum standards refer to (a) combating harmful tax practices; (b) combating treaty shopping/abuse; (c) guidelines for documentation of transfer pricing; (d) mechanism for making dispute resolution mechanisms more effective and arbitration. The potential benefit of these Treaties is that Cyprus-registered entities will have double tax relief on taxes paid between Treaty countries, and effectively avoid double taxation.

Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act

On 2 December 2014, the Intergovernmental Agreement based on the Model I Agreement of Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act, was signed between the Government of the Republic of Cyprus and the Government of the United States of America in order to improve international tax compliance. The Agreement provides for reporting and the exchange of financial information for US Persons and is based on reciprocity. The first exchange of financial information concerning the year 2014 occurred on 30 September 2015. The Tax Department of the Republic of Cyprus is the competent authority for the implementation of the Agreement and the exchange of information.

Multilateral Competent Authority Agreement on Automatic Exchange of Financial Account Information (Early Adopters)

On 29 October 2014, the Government of the Republic of Cyprus signed the Multilateral Competent Authority Agreement on Automatic Exchange of Financial Account Information (Common Reporting Standard), in order to comply with its provisions intending to improve international tax compliance by further building on their relationship with respect to mutual assistance in tax matters.

More specifically, Cyprus joined the states/jurisdictions which committed to early adoption of the new global standard on automatic exchange of financial information (early adopters) of the Global Forum on Transparency and Exchange of Information for Tax Purposes (OECD) (the "Global Forum"). The Common Reporting Standard obliges countries and jurisdictions to obtain all financial information from their financial institutions and exchange it automatically with other jurisdictions on an annual basis. With respect to Cyprus, the first information was exchanged in September 2017. The Global Forum invites its members to establish in their national legal framework the provisions prescribed in the global standard in order to create rapidly a truly global system of automatic information exchange, which leaves no hiding places for tax evasion. To that end, the Republic of Cyprus has issued a Ministerial Decree by virtue of Assessment and Collection of Taxes Law (Article 6(16)) signaling its commitment to the standard.

Multilateral Convention to Implement Tax Treaty Related Measures to Prevent Base Erosion and Profit Shifting (Multilateral Instrument)

Cyprus authorities have, *inter alia*, implemented Action 15 of the BEPS Action Plan 'Develop a Multilateral Instrument' which proposes multilateral instruments in order to allow countries to swiftly amend their tax treaties to implement the tax treaty-related BEPS recommendations. The Multilateral Convention to Implement Tax Treaty Related Measures to Prevent Base Erosion and Profit Shifting (Multilateral Instrument) was signed on 7 June 2017 and upon ratification will pave the way for updating all existing double tax treaties by incorporating the two minimum standards of Action 6 (Treaty Abuse) and of Action 14 (Making Dispute Resolution Mechanisms More Effective) of BEPS project in the context of safeguarding and orderly application of the existing double tax treaties. Cyprus envisions ratification of the Multilateral Instrument in 2020. The Multilateral Instrument is considered a major landmark for tax treaties worldwide.

Multilateral Competent Authority Agreement for the Automatic Exchange of Country-by- Country Reporting

Action 13 under BEPS Action Plan provides for multinational groups (with consolidated revenue of €750 million and above) to file to tax authorities information on their global allocation of income, economic activity and taxes paid. This will enable the tax authorities to identify and prevent tax avoidance schemes, safeguarding that profits are taxed where income is generated. In that respect 68 countries including Cyprus have signed the Multilateral Competent Authority Agreement (the "Agreement") for the Automatic Exchange of Country-by-Country Reporting. Cyprus signed the Agreement on 1 November 2016 and has embedded in its national legal orders the provisions of the Agreement via the issuance of a Ministerial Decree effective 1 January 2017. With respect to Cyprus, the first information was exchanged in June 2018.

Access to anti-money-laundering information by tax authorities

In 2018 Cyprus authorities transposed through the Administrative Cooperation on the Field of Taxation Law (as amended) (N.119(I)/2018), the provisions of the Council Directive (EU) 2016/2258 of 6 December 2016 amending Directive 2011/16/EU, as regards access to anti-money laundering information by tax authorities. The important element in the application of this Law relies on anti-money laundering ("AML") information obtained pursuant to the Council Directive (EU) 2015/849 on preventing the use of the financial system for money laundering or terrorist financing ("4th AML Directive") with regard to the identification of the beneficial owners. The law gives access to AML information held by entities pursuant to the 4th AML Directive within the framework of administrative cooperation in the field of taxation where it ensures that tax authorities are better equipped to fulfil their obligations for exchanging financial account information (common reporting standard) to combat tax evasion and fraud more effectively. In particular, tax authorities are able to access the AML information, procedures, documents and mechanisms for the performance of their duties in monitoring the proper application of the automatic exchange of information for tax purposes and for the functioning of all forms of administrative cooperation.

Global Forum Exchange of Information upon Request Reviews

Cyprus' supplementary phase 2 review assessing compliance with the Global Forum's standard on exchange of information and transparency for tax purposes has been initiated in 2014, which yielded an overall rating of "Largely Compliant".

The Supplementary Report on Cyprus was approved by the OECD Global Forum's Peer Review Group in September 2015, where Cyprus was significantly upgraded in accordance with the Global Forum Standard. The Supplementary Report was officially adopted by the Global Forum members during the Global Forum Plenary meeting that took place on 29-30 October 2015. As part of the second round of peer reviews (2016-2020), Cyprus will be assessed in the final quarter of 2019.

CLEARING AND SETTLEMENT

Book-Entry Ownership

Bearer Notes

The Republic will make applications to Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear for acceptance in their respective book-entry systems in respect of any Bearer Series of Notes. In respect of Bearer Notes, a Temporary Global Note or a Global Note in bearer form without coupons will be deposited with a common depositary for Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear. Transfers of interests in Bearer Notes will be made in accordance with the normal Euromarket debt securities operating procedures of Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear.

If the Temporary Global Note or the Global Note, as the case may be, is stated in the applicable Pricing Supplement to be issued in NGN form, the Temporary Global Note or the Global Note, as the case may be, will be delivered on or prior to the original issue date of the Tranche to a Common Safekeeper. Depositing the Temporary Global Note or the Global Note, as the case may be, with the Common Safekeeper does not necessarily mean that the Notes will be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day credit operations by the Eurosystem either upon issue, or at any or all times during their life. Such recognition will depend upon satisfaction of the Eurosystem eligibility criteria.

Temporary Global Notes or Global Notes which are issued in CGN form will be delivered on or prior to the original issue date of the Tranche to a Common Depositary.

If the Temporary Global Note or the Global Note, as the case may be, is a CGN, upon the initial deposit of such Notes with the Common Depositary, Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg will credit each subscriber with a nominal amount of Notes equal to the nominal amount thereof for which it has subscribed and paid. If the Temporary Global Note or the Global Note, as the case may be, is an NGN, the nominal amount of the Notes shall be the aggregate amount from time to time entered in the records of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg. The records of such clearing system shall be conclusive evidence of the nominal amount of Notes represented by such Notes and a statement issued by such clearing system at any time shall be conclusive evidence of the records of the relevant clearing system at that time.

Registered Notes

The Republic will make applications to Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear for acceptance in their respective book-entry systems in respect of the Notes to be represented by a Unrestricted Global Certificate or a Restricted Global Certificate. Each Global Certificate will have an ISIN and a Common Code.

The Republic and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas will make application to DTC or other relevant clearing system for acceptance in its book-entry settlement system of the Restricted Notes represented by each Restricted Global Certificate. Each Restricted Global Certificate will have a CUSIP number. Each Restricted Global Certificate will be subject to restrictions on transfer contained in a legend appearing on the front of such Note, as set out under "Transfer Restrictions". In certain circumstances, as described below in "Transfers of Registered Notes", transfers of interests in a Restricted Global Certificate may be made as a result of which such legend is no longer applicable.

The custodian with whom the Restricted Global Certificates are deposited (the "Custodian") and DTC will electronically record the principal amount of the Restricted Notes held within the DTC system. Investors in Notes of such Series may hold their interests in an Unrestricted Global Certificate only through Clearstream, Luxembourg or Euroclear. Investors may hold their interests in a Restricted Global Certificate directly through DTC if they are participants in the DTC system, or indirectly through organisations which are participants in such system.

Payments of the principal of, and interest on, each Restricted Global Certificate registered in the name of DTC's nominee will be to or to the order of its nominee as the registered owner of such Restricted Global Certificate. The Republic expects that the nominee, upon receipt of any such payment, will immediately credit DTC participants' accounts with any such payments denominated in U.S. dollars in amounts proportionate to their respective beneficial interests in the principal amount of the relevant Restricted Global Certificate as shown on the records of DTC or the nominee. In the case of any such payments which are denominated other than in U.S. dollars, payment of such amounts will be made to the Registrar on behalf of the nominee who will make payment of all or part of the amount to the beneficial holders of

interests in such Global Certificate directly in the currency in which such payment was made and/or cause all or part of such payment to be converted into U.S. dollars and credited to the relevant participant's DTC account as aforesaid, in accordance with instructions received from DTC. The Republic also expects that payments by DTC participants to owners of beneficial interests in such Restricted Global Certificate held through such DTC participants will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is now the case with securities held for the accounts of customers registered in the names of nominees for such customers. Such payments will be the responsibility of such DTC participants. Neither the Republic nor any Agent will have any responsibility or liability for any aspect of the records relating to or payments made on account of ownership interests in the Restricted Global Certificates or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to such ownership interests.

All Registered Notes will initially be in the form of an Unrestricted Global Certificate and/or a Restricted Global Certificate.

Individual Definitive Registered Notes

Registration of title to Registered Notes in a name other than a depositary or its nominee for Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear or for DTC will not be permitted unless (i) in the case of Registered Notes represented by a Restricted Global Certificate, DTC notifies the Republic that it is no longer willing or able to discharge properly its responsibilities as depositary with respect to the Restricted Global Certificates or ceases to be a "clearing agency" registered under the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or is at any time no longer eligible to act as such and the Republic is unable to locate a qualified successor within 90 days of receiving notice of such ineligibility on the part of DTC, (ii) in the case of Registered Notes represented by an Unrestricted Global Certificate, Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other clearing system the holder of such Unrestricted Global Certificate is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of holidays, statutory or otherwise) or announces an intention permanently to cease business or does in fact do so, or (iii) if principal in respect of the relevant Global Certificate is not paid when due. In such circumstances, the Republic will cause sufficient individual definitive Registered Notes to be executed and delivered to the Registrar for completion, authentication and despatch to the relevant Noteholder(s). A person having an interest in a Global Certificate must provide the Registrar with:

- (a) a written order containing instructions and such other information as the Republic and the Registrar may require to complete, execute and deliver such individual definitive Registered Notes; and
- (b) in the case of a Restricted Global Certificate only, a fully completed, signed certification substantially to the effect that the exchanging holder is not transferring its interest at the time of such exchange, or in the case of a simultaneous resale pursuant to Rule 144A, a certification that the transfer is being made in compliance with the provisions of Rule 144A. Individual definitive Registered Notes issued pursuant to this paragraph (b) shall bear the legends applicable to transfers pursuant to Rule 144A.

Transfers of Registered Notes

Transfers of interests in Global Certificates within DTC, Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear will be in accordance with the usual rules and operating procedures of the relevant clearing system. The laws of some states in the United States require that certain persons take physical delivery in definitive form of securities. Consequently, the ability to transfer interests in a Restricted Global Certificate to such persons may be limited. Because DTC can only act on behalf of participants, who in turn act on behalf of indirect participants, the ability of a person having an interest in a Restricted Global Certificate to pledge such interest to persons or entities that do not participate in DTC, or otherwise take actions in respect of such interest, may be affected by the lack of a physical certificate in respect of such interest.

Beneficial interests in an Unrestricted Global Certificate may be held only through Clearstream, Luxembourg or Euroclear. Transfers may be made at any time by a holder of an interest in an Unrestricted Global Certificate to a transferee who wishes to take delivery of such interest through the Restricted Global Certificate for the same Series of Notes provided that any such transfer made on or prior to the expiration of the Restricted Period (as defined in "Subscription and Sale") relating to the Notes represented by such Unrestricted Global Certificate will only be made upon receipt by the Registrar or any Transfer Agent of a written certificate from Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be, (based on a written certificate from the transferor of such interest) to the effect that such transfer is being made to a person

whom the transferor reasonably believes is a qualified institutional buyer within the meaning of Rule 144A in a transaction meeting the requirements of Rule 144A and in accordance with any applicable securities law of any state of the United States or any other jurisdiction. Any such transfer made thereafter of the Notes represented by such Unrestricted Global Certificate will only be made upon request through Clearstream, Luxembourg or Euroclear by the holder of an interest in the Unrestricted Global Certificate to the Principal Paying Agent and receipt by the Principal Paying Agent of details of that account at DTC to be credited with the relevant interest in the Restricted Global Certificate. Transfers at any time by a holder of any interest in the Restricted Global Certificate to a transferee who takes delivery of such interest through an Unrestricted Global Certificate will only be made upon delivery to the Registrar or any Transfer Agent of a certificate setting forth compliance with the provisions of Regulation S and giving details of the account at Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg, as the case may be, and DTC to be credited and debited, respectively, with an interest in the relevant Global Certificates.

Subject to compliance with the transfer restrictions applicable to the Registered Notes described above and under "Transfer Restrictions", cross-market transfers between DTC, on the one hand, and directly or indirectly through Clearstream, Luxembourg or Euroclear accountholders, on the other, will be effected by the relevant clearing system in accordance with its rules and through action taken by the Custodian, the Registrar and the Principal Paying Agent.

On or after the Issue Date for any Series, transfers of Notes of such Series between accountholders in Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear and transfers of Notes of such Series between participants in DTC will generally have a settlement date three business days after the trade date (T+3). The customary arrangements for delivery versus payment will apply to such transfers.

Cross-market transfers between accountholders in Clearstream, Luxembourg or Euroclear and DTC participants will need to have an agreed settlement date between the parties to such transfer. Because there is no direct link between DTC, on the one hand, and Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear, on the other, transfers of interests in the relevant Global Certificates will be effected through the Principal Paying Agent, the Custodian and the Registrar receiving instructions (and where appropriate certification) from the transferor and arranging for delivery of the interests being transferred to the credit of the designated account for the transferee. Transfers will be effected on the later of (i) three business days after the trade date for the disposal of the interest in the relevant Global Certificate resulting in such transfer and (ii) two business days after receipt by the Principal Paying Agent or the Registrar, as the case may be, of the necessary certification or information to effect such transfer. In the case of cross-market transfers, settlement between Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg accountholders and DTC participants cannot be made on a delivery versus payment basis. The securities will be delivered on a free delivery basis and arrangements for payment must be made separately.

For a further description of restrictions on transfer of Registered Notes, see "Transfer Restrictions".

DTC will take any action permitted to be taken by a holder of Registered Notes (including, without limitation, the presentation of Restricted Global Certificates for exchange as described above) only at the direction of one or more participants in whose account with DTC interests in Restricted Global Certificates are credited and only in respect of such portion of the aggregate principal amount of the relevant Restricted Global Certificates as to which such participant or participants has or have given such direction. However, in the circumstances described above, DTC will surrender the relevant Restricted Global Certificates for exchange for individual definitive Registered Notes (which will, in the case of Restricted Notes, bear the legend applicable to transfers pursuant to Rule 144A).

DTC is a limited purpose trust company organised under the laws of the State of New York, a member of the U.S. Federal Reserve System, a "clearing corporation" within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code and a "Clearing Agency" registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Exchange Act. DTC was created to hold securities for its participants and facilitate the clearance and settlement of securities transactions between participants through electronic book-entry changes in accounts of its participants, thereby eliminating the need for physical movement of certificates. Participants include securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies and clearing corporations and may include certain other organisations. Indirect access to DTC is available to others, such as banks, brokers, dealers and trust companies, that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a DTC participant, either directly or indirectly.

Although DTC, Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear have agreed to the foregoing procedures in order to facilitate transfers of beneficial interests in the Global Certificates among participants and accountholders of DTC, Clearstream, Luxembourg and Euroclear, they are under no obligation to perform or continue to perform such procedures, and such procedures may be discontinued at any time. Neither the Republic nor any Agent will have any responsibility for the performance by DTC, Clearstream, Luxembourg or Euroclear or their respective direct or indirect participants or accountholders of their respective obligations under the rules and procedures governing their operations.

While a Restricted Global Certificate is lodged with DTC or the Custodian, Restricted Notes represented by individual definitive Registered Notes will not be eligible for clearing or settlement through DTC, Clearstream, Luxembourg or Euroclear.

10218360267-v8 - 71 - 70-41025765

TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS

Each purchaser of Restricted Notes pursuant to Rule 144A, by accepting delivery of this Offering Circular, will be deemed to have represented, agreed and acknowledged that:

- (i) It is (a) a qualified institutional buyer within the meaning of Rule 144A ("QIB"), (b) acquiring such Restricted Notes for its own account or for the account of one or more QIBs and (c) aware, and each beneficial owner of such Restricted Notes has been advised, that the sale of such Restricted Notes to it is being made in reliance on Rule 144A.
- (ii) (x) It understands that the Restricted Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and may not be offered, sold, pledged or otherwise transferred except (a) in accordance with Rule 144A to a person that it, and any person acting on its behalf, reasonably believes is a QIB purchasing for its own account or for the account of one or more QIBs, (b) in an offshore transaction in accordance with Rule 903 or Rule 904 of Regulation S or (c) pursuant to an exemption from registration under the Securities Act provided by Rule 144 thereunder (if available), in each case in accordance with any applicable securities laws of any State of the United States and (y) it will, and each subsequent holder of the Restricted Notes is required to, notify any purchaser of the Restricted Notes from it of the resale restrictions on the Restricted Notes.
- (iii) It understands that such Restricted Notes, unless the Republic determines otherwise in compliance with applicable law, will bear a legend to the following effect:

THIS NOTE HAS NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE REGISTERED UNDER THE U.S. SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED, (THE "SECURITIES ACT") OR WITH ANY SECURITIES REGULATORY AUTHORITY OF ANY STATE OR OTHER JURISDICTION OF THE UNITED STATES AND MAY NOT BE OFFERED, RESOLD, PLEDGED OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED EXCEPT (1) IN ACCORDANCE WITH RULE 144A UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT ("RULE 144A") TO A PERSON THAT THE HOLDER AND ANY PERSON ACTING ON ITS BEHALF REASONABLY BELIEVE IS A QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYER WITHIN THE MEANING OF RULE 144A (A "QIB") THAT IS ACQUIRING THIS NOTE FOR ITS OWN ACCOUNT OR FOR THE ACCOUNT OF ONE OR MORE QIBS, (2) IN AN OFFSHORE TRANSACTION IN ACCORDANCE WITH RULE 903 OR RULE 904 OF REGULATION S UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT, (3) PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT PROVIDED BY RULE 144 THEREUNDER (IF AVAILABLE), OR (4) PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT, IN EACH CASE IN ACCORDANCE WITH ANY APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE OF THE UNITED STATES. NO REPRESENTATION CAN BE MADE AS TO THE AVAILABILITY OF THE EXEMPTION PROVIDED BY RULE 144 UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT FOR RESALES OF THIS NOTE.

- (iv) It understands that the Republic, the Registrar, the Dealers and their affiliates, and others will rely upon the truth and accuracy of the foregoing acknowledgements, representations and agreements. If it is acquiring any Restricted Notes for the account of one or more QIBs it represents that it has sole investment discretion with respect to each such account and that it has full power to make the foregoing acknowledgements, representations and agreements on behalf of each such account.
- (v) It understands that the Restricted Notes will be represented by the Restricted Global Certificate. Before any interest in the Restricted Global Certificate may be offered, sold, pledged or otherwise transferred to a person who takes delivery in the form of an interest in the Unrestricted Global Certificate, it will be required to provide a Transfer Agent with a written certification (in the form provided in the Agency Agreement) as to compliance with applicable securities laws.

Prospective purchasers are hereby notified that sellers of the Notes may be relying on the exemption from the provisions of Section 5 of the Securities Act provided by Rule 144A.

10218360267-v8 - 72 - 70-41025765

SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE

Notes may be sold from time to time by the Republic to or through any one or more of the Dealers. The arrangements under which the Notes may from time to time be agreed to be sold by the Republic to or through the Dealers are set out in the Amended and Restated Dealer Agreement dated 16 December 2021 (as amended and/or restated from time to time, the "**Dealer Agreement**") and made between the Republic and the Dealers. Any agreement for the sale of Notes will, inter alia, make provision for the form and terms and conditions of the relevant Notes, whether the placement of the Notes is underwritten or sold on an agency basis only, the price at which such Notes will be purchased by the Dealers and the commissions or other agreed deductibles (if any) which are payable or allowable by the Republic in respect of such purchase.

United States

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act or with any securities regulatory authority of any state or other jurisdiction of the United States and may not be offered or sold within the United States except in certain transactions exempt from, or not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by Regulation S.

Each Dealer has agreed and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to agree that, except as permitted by the Dealer Agreement, it will not offer, sell or, in the case of Bearer Notes, deliver any Notes constituting part of its allotment within the United States except in accordance with Rule 903 of Regulation S or Rule 144A. Terms used in the preceding sentence have the meanings given to them by Regulation S.

The Notes are being offered and sold outside the United States in reliance on Regulation S. The Dealer Agreement provides that the Dealers may directly or through their respective U.S. broker-dealer affiliates arrange for the offer and resale of Notes within the United States only to qualified institutional buyers in reliance on Rule 144A.

Bearer Notes are subject to U.S. tax law requirements and may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or its possessions or to a United States person, except in certain transactions permitted by U.S. tax regulations. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by the U.S. Internal Revenue Code and regulations thereunder.

This Offering Circular has been prepared by the Republic for use in connection with the offer and sale of the Notes outside the United States pursuant to Regulation S and for the resale of the Notes in the United States pursuant to Rule 144A. The Republic and the Dealers reserve the right to reject any offer to purchase the Notes, in whole or in part, for any reason. This Offering Circular does not constitute an offer to any person in the United States, other than any QIB within the meaning of Rule 144A to whom an offer has been made directly by one of the Dealers or its U.S. broker-dealer affiliate. Distribution of this Offering Circular by any non-U.S. person outside the United States or by any QIB in the United States to any person within the United States, other than any QIB and those persons, if any, retained to advise such non-U.S. person or QIB with respect thereto, is unauthorised and any disclosure without the prior written consent of the Republic of any of its contents to any person within the United States, other than any QIB and those persons, if any, retained to advise such non-U.S. person or QIB, is prohibited.

United Kingdom

Each Dealer has represented, warranted and agreed that it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 with respect to anything done by it in relation to any Notes in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

Japan

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan (Act No. 25 of 1948, as amended, the "Financial Instruments and Exchange Act"). Accordingly, each Dealer has represented and agreed that it has not, directly or indirectly, offered or sold and will not, directly or indirectly, offer or sell any Notes in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any resident of Japan (which term as used herein means any person resident in Japan, including any corporation or other entity organised under the laws of Japan) or to others for re-offering or re-sale, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any resident of Japan except pursuant to an exemption from the registration

10218360267-v8 - 73 - 70-41025765

requirements of, and otherwise in compliance with, the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act and other relevant laws and regulations of Japan.

Germany

This Offering Circular does not constitute prospectus which is in compliance with Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 14 June 2017 on the prospectus to be published when securities are offered to the public or admitted to trading on a regulated market, and repealing Directive 2003/71/EC, as amended from time to time (the "Prospectus Regulation") and does therefore not allow any public offering in Germany or any other Member State pursuant to the Prospectus Regulation.

Each Dealer has represented and agreed that it has not offered or sold and that it will not offer or sell the Notes in the Federal Republic of Germany other than in accordance with the German Securities Prospectus Act (*Wertpapierprospektgesetz*) and any other applicable laws in the Federal Republic of Germany governing the issue, sale and offering of securities.

Cyprus

Each Dealer has represented, warranted and agreed that:

- (i) it will not provide "investment services", "ancillary services" and/or perform "investment activities" (as such terms are defined in the Investment Services and Activities and Regulated Markets Law of 2017, Law 87(I)/2017 (the "**ISARM Law**")) in the Republic of Cyprus;
- (ii) it will not provide such services, ancillary services and/or perform investment activities from a place outside the Republic of Cyprus to persons within, or resident or domiciled in the Republic of Cyprus;
- (iii) it will not perform any action relating to investment services, ancillary services, investment activities in contravention of the ISARM Law and/or the regulations made pursuant to or in relation thereto;
- (iv) it has complied and will continue to comply and act in Cyprus, with respect to the Notes, in conformity with the provisions of the Market Abuse Regulation (Regulation (EU) 596/2014) (as amended); and
- (v) it has complied and will continue to comply with the Cyprus Market Abuse Law (Law 102(I)/2016) (as amended or replaced from time to time).

General

No action has been or will be taken in any jurisdiction by the Dealers or the Republic that would permit a public offering of any of the Notes, or possession or distribution of this Offering Circular, or any part thereof including any Pricing Supplement, or any other offering or publicity material relating to the Notes, in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required. Each Dealer has agreed and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to agree that it will (to the best of its knowledge and belief) comply with all applicable laws and regulations in each jurisdiction in which it acquires, offers, sells, or delivers Notes or has in its possession or distributes this Offering Circular, or any part thereof including any Pricing Supplement, or any such other material, in all cases at its own expense.

Selling restrictions may be modified by the agreement of the Republic and the relevant Dealers. Any such modification will be set out in the Pricing Supplement issued in respect of each Tranche to which it relates or in a supplement to this Offering Circular.

None of the Republic and the Dealers represents that Notes may at any time lawfully be sold in compliance with any applicable registration or other requirements in any jurisdiction, or pursuant to any exemption available thereunder, or assumes any responsibility for facilitating such sale.

With regard to each Tranche, the relevant Dealer will be required to comply with such other restrictions as the Republic and the relevant Dealer shall agree and as shall be set out in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Certain of the Dealers and their affiliates have engaged, are currently engaged and may in the future engage, in investment banking and/or commercial banking transactions with, and may perform services for, the Issuer in the ordinary course of business. Such persons may have received, or may continue to receive, customary compensation. In addition, in the ordinary course of their business activities, the Dealers and their affiliates may make or hold a broad array of investments and actively trade debt and equity securities (or related derivative securities) and financial instruments (including bank loans) for their own account and for the accounts of their customers. Such investments and securities activities may involve securities and/or instruments of the Issuer or its agencies. Certain of the Dealers or their affiliates that have a lending relationship with the Issuer routinely hedge their credit exposure to the Issuer consistent with their customary risk management policies. Typically, such Dealers and their affiliates would hedge such exposure by entering into transactions which consist of either the purchase of credit default swaps or the creation of short positions in securities, including potentially the Notes issued under the Programme. Any such short positions could adversely affect future trading prices of Notes issued under the Programme. The Dealers and their affiliates may also make investment recommendations and/or publish or express independent research views in respect of such securities or financial instruments and may hold, or recommend to clients that they acquire, long and/or short positions in such securities and instruments. The Dealer Agreement provides that the obligation of any Dealer to subscribe for Notes under any such agreement is subject to certain conditions and that, in certain circumstances, a Dealer shall be entitled to be released and discharged from its obligations under any such agreement prior to the issue of the relevant Notes.

GENERAL INFORMATION

- 1. The establishment of the Programme and subsequent updates to it have been approved by the House of Representatives of Cyprus and the execution of all documents in connection with the Programme and the issue of Notes under the Programme has been authorised by the Ministry of Finance of Cyprus. The Ministry of Finance of Cyprus has confirmed that all payments in respect of the Notes will be free of Cypriot taxes and that no withholding on account of Cypriot taxes will be required in respect of any such payment and that no Cypriot stamp duties will be payable in respect of the Notes.
- 2. The Public Debt Management Law, Law 195(I)/2012 (as amended) (the "PDM Law") provides that the Minister of Finance has the exclusive statutory power to borrow funds on behalf of the Republic of Cyprus by, inter alia, issuing securities (including but not limited to any Notes that may be issued under the Programme). The Public Debt Management Office (the "PDMO"), which is established within the Ministry of Finance by the PDM Law, has been delegated by the PDM Law the power and authority to carry out the issuance of Notes under the Programme and the head of the PDMO has been delegated the power and authority, on behalf of the Republic of Cyprus, to agree the terms of the issue of any Notes and to execute any documents and take any other actions in respect thereof.
- 3. The listing of the Notes on the Official List will be expressed as a percentage of their nominal amount (exclusive of accrued interest). It is expected that each Tranche of the Notes which is to be admitted to a relevant Official List and to trading on a relevant market will be admitted separately as and when issued, subject only to the issue of a temporary or permanent Global Note (or one or more Certificates) in respect of each Tranche. Prior to official listing and admission to trading, however, dealings may be permitted by the by the relevant stock exchange in accordance with its rules. However, Notes may be listed on any other stock exchange or market and unlisted Notes may be issued pursuant to the Programme.
- 4. The Republic is not involved in any litigation or arbitration proceedings which are material in the context of the Programme or the issue of Notes under the Programme nor, so far as the Republic is aware, are any such litigation or arbitration proceedings pending or threatened.
- 5. Copies of the following documents will be available for inspection, at the specified offices of each of the Paying Agents in London during normal business hours, for so long as Notes may be issued pursuant to this Offering Circular:
 - (a) Fiscal Agency Agreement (which includes the forms of the Registered Note and Bearer Note, Coupons and Talons);
 - (b) the Deed of Covenant;
 - (c) each Pricing Supplement for Notes that are listed on the London Stock Exchange or any other stock exchange; and
 - (d) this Offering Circular, together with any supplement to this Offering Circular or further Offering Circular.
- 6. The Bearer Notes have been, and the Registered Notes will be accepted for clearance through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg which are the entities in charge of keeping the records. The appropriate Common Code and ISIN for each Tranche of Notes allocated by Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg will be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement. In addition, the Republic may make an application for any Notes in registered form to be accepted for trading in book-entry form by DTC. The CUSIP numbers for each Tranche of such Registered Notes, together with the relevant ISIN and (if applicable) Common Code, will be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement. If the Notes are to clear through an additional or alternative clearing system the appropriate information will be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

The address of Euroclear is Euroclear Bank SA/NV, 1 Boulevard du Roi Albert II, B-1210 Brussels. The address of Clearstream, Luxembourg is Clearstream Banking, 42 Avenue JF Kennedy, L-1855 Luxembourg. The address of DTC is 55 Water Street, New York, New York 10041, United States of America.

10218360267-v8 - 76 - 70-41025765

The Legal Entity Identifier of the Issuer is 213800IOEYYAHPDLUL60.

7. Each of the Dealers and their affiliates have or may have engaged, and may continue to engage, in investment banking and/or commercial banking transactions with, and may perform services for the Republic and its agencies in the ordinary course of business. See "Subscription and Sale – General" for further information.

10218360267-v8 - 77 - 70-41025765

INDEX OF DEFINED TERMS

4 th AML Directive	Fiscal Agency Agreement	7
Accrual Period13	Fiscal Agent	7
Actual Calculation Period14	Fixed Rate Day Count Fraction	15
Actual/Actual-ICMA13	Following Business Day Convention	
Agreement 67	FRN Convention	
Agreement Date43	FSMA	ii
AML67	Global Certificates	4
Amortised Face Amount	Global Forum	
APP63	GVA	
Authorised Denomination	HICP	
Bank 19	HIO	58
Bearer Notes	holder	
Bearer Series	IIP	,
Benchmark	ĪMF	
BMRiv	Income Tax Law	,
business day	interest	
Business Day Convention	Interest Amounts	
Calculation Agent7	Interest Commencement Date	
Calculation Amount	Interest Determination Date	
Call Redemption Amount	Interest Payment Date	
CBC	Interest Period	
Certificate	ISARM Law	
CET1 60	Issue Date	
Clearstream, Luxembourg	Issuer	
Couponholders7	London Stock Exchange	
Cross-Series Modification	MFIs	
Cyprusii	MiFID II	
CYTA	Modification	
Dealer ii	Modified Following Business Day Co	
Dealer Agreement	Modified Pollowing Business Day Co	
Dealersii	NID	
Debt Securities	NIIP	
Deed of Covenant	Noteholder	
Determination Date(s)	Notes	
Determination Date(s)	NPEs	,
Direct Rights	Number of Actual Calculation Periods	
distributor v	OSCE	
DTC4	outstanding	
Early Redemption Amount	Paying Agents	
ECB	Payment Date	15
EMMIiv	PDM Law	
Encumbrance 9	PDMO	
ESMAiv	PEPP	
EU	Permitted Encumbrance	
Euroclear	person	
Eurozone	PESCO	
Euro-zone	Pricing Supplement	
EUWAii	principal	
Event of Default	Proceedings	
Exchange	Programme	
Exchange Agent	Put Redemption Amount	
Exchange Date	QIB	
Exchange Rate	Rate of Interest	
External Indebtedness9	Record Date	
FCAii	Redemption Amount	16, 22
Financial Instruments and Exchange Act 73	Redemption Notice	10

Reference Rate	Spread Multiplier16
Register7	SRM60
Registered Notes	SSM60
Registered Series	Stabilisation Manager(s)iv
Registrar7	Start Date16
Relevant Banking Centre	State Agency23
Relevant Business Day	Talons
Relevant Date	TARGET Business Day15
Relevant Financial Centre	TARGET System16
Relevant Series	Taxonomy Regulation45
Relevant Time	Trancheii, 8
Republicii	UK MiFIRii
Reserved Matter 30	UK MiFIR Product Governance Rulesv
Restricted Global Certificate4	UK Prospectus Regulationii
Securitisation	Uniformly Applicable31
Seriesii, 31	Unrestricted Global Certificate3
Special Contribution Law64	Variable Rate Day Count Fraction16
SPEs53	written resolution34
Spread	WTO48

THE REPUBLIC

acting through the Ministry of Finance

Michael Karaoli & Gregori Afxentiou 1439 Nicosia Cyprus

FISCAL AGENT, TRANSFER AGENT AND CALCULATION AGENT

Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch

Winchester House 1 Great Winchester Street London EC2N 2DB

REGISTRAR, TRANSFER AGENT AND EXCHANGE AGENT

Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas

60 Wall Street New York, NY10005

LEGAL ADVISERS

To the Issuer as to English law

Clifford Chance LLP

10 Upper Bank Street London E14 5JJ

To the Dealers as to English law

To the Dealers as to Cyprus law

Linklaters LLP

One Silk Street London EC2Y 8HQ

Keane Vgenopoulou & Associates LLC

2 Makarios Avenue Atlantis Building, Office 201 Limassol, Cyprus

ARRANGER

Société Générale

29, boulevard Haussmann 75009 Paris France

DEALERS

Deutsche Bank Aktiengesellschaft

Mainzer Landstr. 11-17 60329 Frankfurt am Main Germany Société Générale 29, boulevard Haussmann 75009 Paris France

10218360267-v8 70-41025765